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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Direct premiums WIItten .......cccoooiiiiiiii e
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Minority interest in net earnings of subsidiary .......cccccceeoe.

Net earnings ...

Comprehensive IMCOIME .....oovveecviviiccriise et ree e s e

Net earnings per common share:
BaSIC oo
DIIIEEA vt s

Cash dividends paid per share ..........cccceeveeviivnvnniesienieannn.
Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding:
BasiC coir e et

Total investments at market value and equity value ............
TOLAL ASSELS .oeiiciieeiiiiecirrr et et e et s
Total Habilities ..cccvcvivriiiiiree et et sae et
MINOTIY INEETEST .uveevieciriieiercctrre e eree e sar s ens
Total stockholders’ €qUILY ..c.ccovvveeviveeeiecieneeeecceee e
Total stockholders’ equity per share
Consolidated GAAP ratios (unaudited)®:
Loss and LAE 1atio ..ccoccovoiivviinienic i secreee e
Underwriting expense ratio
Combined Yatio ....ccccovreviiiieeinn e

Net premiums written to statutory surplus ......c.ccccveeeenee.

2005

2004

2003

$ 1,874,231

$ 1,838,241

$ 1,658,969

$ 1,736,191

$ 1,712,543

$ 1,565,499

$ 1,709,924

$ 1,638,833

$ 1,445,628

123211 115,711 92,183
28,298 28,281 26,908
22,907 23,628 76,103

41 118 —

$ 1,884,381 § 1,806,571 $ 1,640,822
$ 352605 $ 304,186 $ 219,305
107,768 89,003 58,068
244,837 215,183 161,237
(925) (752) (294)

$ 243912 $ 214431 $ 160,943
$ 220,699 $ 201,751 $ 164,762
$ 726 % 654 $ 5.03
$ 721§ 651 $ 4.99
$ 147 % 131 $ 1.27
33,585,858 32,802,023 32,000,220
33,847,665 32,952,714 32,254,663
$ 2765329 $ 2,527,733 $ 2,211,099
3,927,010 3,612,243  3,213.244
2615984 2,490,961 2,296,643
5,957 5,126 4,390
1,305,069 1,116,156 912,211
38.78 33.50 28.45
61.4% 63.8% 74.0%
27.3% 26.2% 23.5%
88.7% 90.0% 97.5%
117.5% 132.8% 144.7%

(1) Consolidated GAAP ratios combine all insurance company results with corporate expenses and
use earned premiums to calculate the loss ratios and net premiums written to calculate the
underwriting ratios. For the underwriting expense ratio, underwriting expenses are grossed-up for
the increase in deferred acquisition costs of $10,770, $10,040 and $15,364 for the years ended

2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.




cei The Commerce €roup. Inc.
A

March 15, 2006
To Our Stockholders:

In 2005, your company experienced satisfactory financial results for the 30t consecutive year.
From the very first day the funding of The Commerce Insurance Company was accomplished (April 3, 1972)
through December 31, 2005, we have achieved underwriting profit of $748.6 million on total premiums
written of $16.8 billion. This underwriting profit represents 4. 5% of total prermums wntten

Your company has continued to grow and prosper. The Commerce Insurance Company contmues
to be the largest writer of Massachusetts private passenger automobile insurance and has become the
largest voluntary writer of Massachusetts homeowners insurance, as well as the second largest writer of
Massachusetts commercial automobile insurance. The combined insurance cormpanies are also ranked as
the 19th largest personal automobile insurance group in the country by A.M. Best Co., based on the most
recently available direct premiums written information. Additionally, I am very pleased to report that your
company again received a group rating of A+ (Superior) from A.M. Best Co.

In 2005, your company and its employees generously shared their prosperity with the victims of
Hurricane Katrina and, by doing so, exemplified the philosophical foundation of our success, “Caring in
Everything We Do.” Your company and its employees donated $368,702 to the victims through three chari-
table relief organizations: The American Red Cross, Catholic Charities, and The Salvation Army.

Written premiums, earned premiums, net earnings, total assets and stockholders’ equity per share,
as illustrated in the bar graph on the facing page, are all at new highs. For those of you who are interested
in the details, I draw your attention to the pages in this report labeled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Property-liability insurance remains a good business to be in and The Commerce Group, Inc. will
continue its efforts to be one of the most profitable long-term players. Your company’s management
continues to believe that owners’ interests are its primary constituency.

On a final and more personal note, I want to thank you, our shareholders, for the faith and
support you have shown by supporting our company. As many of you know, this will be my last letter to
you due to my planned retirement in July. To express my feelings, I want to share an excerpt of my retire-
ment letter to the Board of Directors with you. “7Z kas been a long and wonderfil journey with the
company. As [ recently celebrated my 757 birthdey, [ realize that it is time for me to make plans to
enjoy a retirement with my jamily and many close friends. I am astonished at the breadih of my experi-
ences with our company, beginning with Clark-Prout Insurance Agency, our funding of The Commerce
Insurance Company in 71, some difficult times in 75, the stales fuiled atlempt at competitive rating in
77, the company s growth through the 80%, going public in S7 on the Pink Sheets, listing with the New
York Stock Exchange in ‘95, our partnership with AAA, our growth outside of Massachusetls, and our
current S0% market share here in our home state. Our small-town, start-up business now has more than
1.8 mitlion policies in _force, employs over 2,100 hardworking people, writes business through more than
2,600 agents across the country, and is owned by more than 0,300 stockholders. [ am both immensely
proud of and humbled by these facts.” Lastly, I am extremely confident your company is in excellent hands
under the leadership of Gerald Fels and our management executive committee. They have my full trust
and backing and I look forward to working with them in my role as Director.

Your comments or guestions regarding this report, or The Commerce Group, Inc. affairs in

general, are solicited as always, at any time.
78 e 5%’ é!
Arthur : Remﬂlmd Jr.

President, Chicf Ervecutive Qfficer
and Chairman of the Board

Caring in everything we do.
com——



STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY PER SHARE [ ]
TOTAL CUMULATIVE CASH DIVIDENDS PAID PER SHARE [

$52.00 - $52.00
$50.00 - $50.00
$48.00 - $48.00
$46.00 - $46.00
$44.00 - $44.00
$42.00 - $42.00
$40.00 v |} $40.00
$38.00 - - $38.00
$36.00 - $36.00
$34.00 - $34.00
$32.00 - $32.00
$30.00 - $30.00
$28.00 - $28.00
$26.00 - $26.00
$24.00 - $24.00
$22.00 l | |- $22.00
$20.00 - - $20.00
$18.00 - $18.00
$16.00 - $16.00
$14.00 - - $14.00
$12.00 -$12.00
$10.00 -$10.00

$8.00 1 - $8.00

$6.00 - $6.00

$4.001 - $4.00

$2.00 - $2.00

$0.00 — $0.00

'91 92 '93 's4 '95 '96 '97 '98 '99 '00 ‘01 '02 03 ‘04 '05
Stockholders'
Equity Per Share $4.80 $742 $10.09 $10.88 $1496 $16.28 $18.11 $1972 $19.44 $23.16 $24.43 $2460 $2845 $3350 $38.78
Cumulative Cash Dividends
Paid Per Share — — — $015 $038 $119 $222 $329 $440 $555 $674 $7.97 $924 $1055 $12.02

Stockholders' Equity Per
Share Including Cumulative : - - - - - -
Cash Dividends Paid Per Share $4.80 $7.42 $10.08 $11.03 $1534 $17.47 $20.33 $23.01 $23.84 328.71 $31.17 $32.57 $37.68 $44.05 $50.80

Caring in everything we do.
G—————
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GLOSSARY OF SELECTED INSURANCE TERMS

Affinity group marketing program .........

Commissioner .....

Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers

(CAR) oo,

Direct written premiums ............occeeverenee

Domestic insurer

In Massachusetts, an “affinity group marketing program” is
any system, design or plan whereby motor vehicle or
homeowner insurance is afforded to employees of an
employer or to members of a trade union, association or
organization in accordance with those provisions of
M.G.L. c. 175, s. 193R, distinguishing such plans from a
“mass-merchandising plan.” Specifically, an affinity group
marketing program contemplates the issuance of such
insurance through standard policies that generally
preclude individual underwriting, contain an option to
continue coverage at a standard rate upon termination of
employment or membership, restrict canceliation, require
the continuance of certain participation in ways not appli-
cable to standard policies, and provide for the downward
modification of rates based upon the experience of the
insured group.

A M. Best Company, Inc. is a rating agency reporting on
the financial condition of insurance companies. A M. Best’s
statistics cited in this Form 10-K are based upon informa-
tion voluntarily submitted to it by insurers.

A combination of the underwriting expense ratio and the
loss and loss adjustment expense ratio. The underwriting
expense ratio measures the ratio of underwriting expenses
(including corporate expenses) to net premiums written.
The loss and LAE ratio measures the ratio of incurred
losses and LAE to earned premiums (including corporate
expenses).

The Commissioner of the Division of Insurance of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

CAR is a Massachusetts mandated reinsurance mechanism,
under which all premiums, expenses and losses on ceded
business are shared by all insurers. It is similar to a joint
underwriting association because a number of insurers act
as Servicing Carriers for the private passenger and/or
commercial automobile risks insured.

The shortfall between (1) the current estimated cost of all
claim payments and related expenses that an insurer ulti-
mately will be required to pay and (2) the reserves previ-
ously established by the insurer for those future payments.

Refers to premiums, losses, LAE and underwriting
expenses on policies which a company writes before
accounting for business ceded and assumed through
reinsurance.

Total premiums for insurance sold to insureds, as opposed
to, and not including, assumed reinsurance premiums.

An insurance company that operates in the state in which
it is incorporated.




Earned premiums .........coccvnvecieninnneeenn The portion of net premiums written that is equal to the
expired portion of policies recognized for accounting
purposes as income during a period. Also known as
premiurs earned.

Exclusive representative producer
(ERP) oot A Massachusetts automobile insurance agency which does
not have a voluntary agency automobile insurance rela-
tionship with an insurer and which is assigned by CAR to
an insurer who is a Servicing Carrier.

Exposure ..., An insurable unit defined as one automobile for a one-year
term.
Frequency e e The relative incidence of number of claims in relation to

an exposure or group of exposures.

Hard market ......ccooccvvveveciieniecinceciireeenn, An insurance market in which the demand for insurance
exceeds the readily available supply and premiums are
relatively high or increasing.

Incurred 1OSSES ....oovcveeriiiiiir e The total losses sustained by an insurance company under
a policy or policies, whether paid or unpaid. Incurred
losses include a provision for losses not yet reported and
salvage and subrogation.

Limited servicing carrier .............c...... An insurer designated by CAR to write and service
commercial automobile policies which are reinsured
through CAR. Limited servicing carriers provide a market
for commercial automobile policies that no carrier will
write voluntarily.

Loss adjustment expenses (LAE) .......... The expenses relating to settling claims, including legal
and other fees and the portion of general company
expenses allocated to claim settlement costs.

Loss and LAE ratio ..., The ratio of incurred losses plus LAE (including corporate
expenses), net of reinsurance recoveries, to earned
premiums.

LOSS TESEIVES ..oivivieivevieviieiee s Liabilities established by insurers to reflect the estimated

cost of claim payments and the related expenses that the
insurer will ultimately be required to pay in respect of
insurance it has written. Reserves are established for
losses and for LAE.

Net premiums Written ...........ccccvvveieenene Direct premiums written for a given period less premiums
ceded to reinsurers during such period plus premiums
assumed during such period.

Participation ratio ......c...cccoceoiivinienenens A Massachusetts insurer's share of the CAR deficit. For
private passenger automobile, the participation ratio is
based upon the insurer’s market share of automobile risks
not reinsured through CAR, adjusted for utilization of CAR
and credits for voluntarily writing less desirable under-
priced business and ceded exclusions.

Premium-to-surplus ratio ...........coevereeen. The ratio of net premiums written to policyholders’
surplus.
Quota share reinsurance ..............c.c...... Reinsurance in which the reinsurer shares a proportion of

the original premiums and losses under the reinsured
policy. Also known as pro-rata insurance.




Redundancy ....ccoevvevcnveivnee e The excess between (1) the reserves previously estab-
lished by an insurer and (2) the current estimated cost of
all claim payments and related expenses that the insurer
ultimately will be required tc pay.

Reinsurance .......c.ccccocveeviveevieeeiccinceeennennns The acceptance by one or more insurers, called reinsurers,
of all or a portion of the risk underwritten by another
insurer who has directly written the coverage. However,
the legal rights of the insured generally are not affected by
the reinsurance transaction and the insurance company
issuing the insurance policy remains liable to the insured
for payment of policy benefits.

Salvage ..o The sale of damaged goods for which the insured has
been indemnified by the insurance company.

Servicing Carrier ........veereeeecceerereneenenn An automobile insurer writing business in Massachusetts
which can reinsure risks through CAR while remaining
responsible for servicing the related private passenger
automobile policies and which must provide a market for
ERPs assigned to it by CAR.

SEVENILY oovvicvecevrieenie e e e The relative magnitude of the dollar amount of a claim or
group of claims.

Soft Market ...ocovevvecieiccnre e, An insurance market in which the supply of insurance
exceeds the current demand and premiums are relatively
low or decreasing.

Statutory surplus ....ocovcveeeenrieercreeeciseceeenne. The excess of admitted assets over total liabilities
(including loss reserves), determined in accordance with
statutory accounting practices.

SUbrogation ... The substitution of the insurer’s right to recover in place
of the insured’s right to recover from a third party respon-
sible for a loss paid by the insurer.

Take-all-comers .........ccoeervveevvnicrecccnnen A phrase used to characterize the Massachusetts personal
-automobile insurance system under which all servicing
carriers are required to underwrite and accept virtually all
risks submitted to them.

Underwriting .....ccoooevveveveccenen e The insurer’s process of reviewing applications submitted
for insurance coverage, deciding whether to accept all or
part of the coverage requested, and determining the appli-
cable premiums.

Underwriting exXpenses .....c...cceeeceieveneee The aggregate of policy acquisition costs, including
commissions, and the portion of administrative, general
and other expenses attributable to underwriting
operations.

Underwriting expense ratio .......c.cceeene The ratio of underwriting expenses (including corporate
expenses), adjusted for the change in deferred acquisition
costs, to net premiums written.

Unearned premiums ........coceeeeevmrceneenne. The portion of written premium representing the unex-
pired amount of the contract term as of a certain date.



Unless otherwise stated, “we,” “our,” “us” or “the Company” means The Commerce Group, Inc. and
tis subsidiaries. “Commerce” refers to The Commerce Insurance Company, “Commerce West” refers
to Commerce West Insurance Company, “American Commerce” or “ACIC” rgfers lo American
Commerce Insurance Company, “Citation” refers to Citation Insurance Company, and “AHC”
vefers to ACIC Holding Co., Inc. In addition, unless otherwise stated, all references to “year ended”
are for our fiscal year which ends December 31. Dollar amounts are in thousands, except per share
dala and as otherwise noled.

PART I
{Dollars in thousands, except for ratios and per share data, unless noted otherwise)

ITEM 1i. BUSINESS

Our principal line of business is writing personal automobile insurance. We were incorpo-
rated in 1976. We write insurance through our principal subsidiary, Commerce, which was incorpo-
rated in 1971 and began writing business in Massachusetts in 1972. We also write insurance through
three cother subsidiaries — Citation, Commerce West and American Commerce. Citation was incorpo-
rated in Massachusetts on September 24, 1981. We acquired Commerce West on August 31, 1995 and
we acquired American Commerce on January 29, 1999. Citation writes insurance in Massachusetts.
Commerce West writes insurance in California, Oregon and Arizona. American Commerce, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of AHC, is located in Columbus, Ohio and actively writes insurance in 11 states.
We own 95% of AHC’s common stock; 5% is owned by AAA Southern New England.

We provide personal and commercial property and casualty insurance in Massachusetts and,
to a lesser extent, in other states. We market our products primarily through our network of inde-
pendent agents. OQur core product line is personal automobile insurance. We also write commercial
automobile and homeowners insurance. We have been the largest writer of personal property and
casualty insurance in Massachusetts in terms of direct premiums written since 1990. At the end of
2005, our estimated share of the Massachusetts personal automobile market was 29.9%, up from
29.1% at the end of 2004. Beginning with year end 2003, we became the largest writer of homeowners
insurance in Massachusetts. In 2005, we were the second largest writer of commercial automobile
insurance in Massachusetts. On a consolidated basis, we were ranked the 19th largest personal auto-
mobile insurance group in the country by A.M. Best, based on 2004 direct written premium
information.

We manage our business in four reporting segments. Our primary business strategy is to
focus on the personal automobile market in Massachusetts and the other states where we write busi-
ness, which comprise our first two reporting segments. An overview of our business is summarized in
the table which follows for our two primary segments. Our other segments are “Real Estate and
Commercial Lending” and “Corporate and Other.” We originate and service residential and commer-
cial mortgages in Massachusetts and Connecticut through Bay Finance Company, Inc., our wholly-
owned real estate and commercial lending subsidiary. Our Corporate and Other segment captures
activities which are not related to our other segments, including activities of the parent company. For
the information about our reportable segments required by this Item and not provided here, please
refer to Note P of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




Insurance Business Overview

Property and Casualty Insurance — Property and Casunalty Insurance -
Massachusetts Other Than Massachusetts
Subsidiaries ¢ Commerce (A+ Superior) » American Commerce (A+ Superior)
(A.M. Best's o Citation (A+ Superior) » Commerce West (A+ Superior)
rating*) * Commerce (New Hampshire only)
Insurance e Personal Automobile » Personal Automobile
Products » Commercial Automobile ° Commercial Automobile
» Homeowners * Homeowners
» Gther » Other
Principal * Massachusetts ¢ California. ° Oregon
Markets ¢ Washington = Chio
» Rhode Island » Kentucky
» Oklahoma » Arizona
Market Commerce: American Commerce.
Position » Largest writer of personal  Less than 3% of personal automobile
~ automobile insurance market in several states
» Largest writer of homeowners Commerce West:
insurance « Less than 1% of personal automobile
» Second largest writer of market in California
commercial automobile insurance
Principal » Safety Insurance Companies {11.3%) American Commerce:
Competitors | * Arbella Insurance Co. (9.1%) * State Farm (18.2% of U.S. market)
(personal ¢ Liberty Mutual (7.7%) « Allstate (10.4% of U.S. market)
automobile ° The Premier Insurance Company of Commerce West: :
market Massachusetts (7.1%) * Mercury Insurance (9.2% of California
share)® market)
» Unitrin (1.0% of California market)
In-force + 1,113,657 Americar Commerce,
Policies at « 159,282
December 31, Commerce West:
20056 * 37,438
Commerce (New Hampshire Only):
« 8,789

s

Consolidated rating is based con our Inter-affiliate Pooling Agreement.

(a) The market share measures for competitors of our Massachusetts segment represent the Massa-
chusetts market at December 31, 2005 as reported by CAR. The market share measures for
competitors of our Other Than Massachusetts segment were reported by A.M. Best and represent
the market share at December 31, 2004.
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Our direct premiums written for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 follows
(dollars in millions):

Massachusetts All Other States Total % of Total
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Personal

Automobile ...... $1,366 $1,327 $185 $201 $1,551 $1,528 82.8% 83.1%
Homeowners ..... 136 121 42 43 178 164 9.5 8.9
Commercial

Automobile ...... 95 97 10 9 105 106 5.6 5.8
Other Lines ....... 39 39 1 1 40 40 2.1 2.2

Total .....coevveeeee $1,636 $1,684 $238 $254 $1,874 $1,838  100.0%  100.0%
Percentage of

Total ...cccovvennne 87.3% 86.2% 12.7% 13.8% 100.0% 100.0%

We attribute our success primarily to the following factors:

« our strong relationships with independent insurance agencies that provide us with quality
business;

* a highly experienced management team with a proven track record;

» our in-depth understanding of the Massachusetts regulatory and underwriting
environments;

» our ability to operate efficiently with significant economies of scale;

» our strong relationships with various AAA organizations;

» our ability to compete in an affinity group marketing environment;

+ our advanced information systems with an extensive underwriting database; and
+ our history of maintaining a strong financial condition.

Our relationships with our independent insurance agencies are critical to our continued
success. We believe that we are the preferred provider for most of our agencies and that, as a result,
we have gained access to policyholders with above average underwriting profit characteristics. We
focus on selecting and retaining agencies with premium volume and loss ratios that meet our criteria,
and we devote substantial resources to maintaining strong relationships with our existing agencies.
We pay our agencies significant compensation in the form of profit sharing, which is primarily based
on the underwriting profits of each agency’s business written with us. In addition, we occasionally
sponsor incentive award trips for agents to encourage profitability and growth. See “Marketing.”

Based on agency surveys that we conduct several times a year, we believe that we are atten-
tive to the needs of our agencies and insureds. We emphasize our commitment to the Massachusetts
insurance market by our responsiveness in servicing claims and our internal support for agency oper-
ations, including direct billing of insureds, direct claim reporting, agency upload and download
systems, on-line inquiry systems for our agents and insureds, and by providing competitively priced
automobile and property insurance programs and products.

Massachusetts Business. We believe that a significant factor in our success is our focus on
the personal automobile insurance market in Massachusetts, which accounted for 72.9% of our total
direct premiums written for the year ended December 31, 2005. The terms, conditions, and rates of
personal automobile insurance are subject to extensive regulation in Massachusetts; As a conse-
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quence of our focus on the Massachusetts market, we have both an in-depth understanding of this
market and the ability to respond effectively to shifts in the state’s regulatory and underwriting envi-
ronments. Currently, we are required by law to accept virtually all private passenger automobile
insurance business submitted to us by our agencies in Massachusetts. Our ability to underwrite this
business profitably, however, depends on cur understanding of the risks in the business as well as
our management of reinsurance through CAR.

We have actively pursued affinity group marketing programs since 1995. Our affinity group
marketing prograims provide members of participating groups and associations with a convenient
means of purchasing discounted private passenger automobile insurance. We emphasize writing insur-
ance for larger affinity groups, although we consider accounts with as few as 25 participants. Affinity
groups are eligible for rate discounts, which must be filed annually with the Massachusetts Division
of Insurance. In general, we lock for affinity groups with mature, stable membership, favorable
driving records and below average turnover ratios. Participants who leave the sponsoring group
during the term of the policy are allowed to maintain the policy until expiration. At expiration, we
will issue through the agency a non-discounted policy at the insured’s option.

We believe our long-term commitment to providing consistent markets for Massachusetts
insurance agencies is a significant factor in enabling us to increase and maintain our market share by
contracting with agencies that meet our agency criteria. We believe that Massachusetts insurance
agencies are more likely to seek to develop and expand relationships with domestic insurers that,
like us, have a long-term commitment to, and focus on, the Massachusetts personal automobile
market.

Business in Other States. American Commerce predominantly writes private passenger auto-
mobile and homeowners insurance in 11 states through 158 independent insurance agencies, 21 of
which are owned and operated by AAA clubs. This is an increase from 21 agencies a year ago, all of
which owned and operated by AAA clubs. During 2005, American Commerce began using inde-
pendent agents in Arizona and Indiana, most principally due to the cessation of business with AAA
Arizona. Products are similar to those offered by us in Massachusetts, although pricing of products is
determined on a state-by-state basis. All of ACIC’s business is underwritten at its headquarters in
Columbus, Ohio. American Commerce primarily targets preferred insurance risks.

In February 2005, AAA Arizona, Inc. stopped writing new business with American Commerce.
As indicated in the following table, AAA Arizoena was American Commerce’s largest agent in 2004 in
terms of direct written premiums. American Commerce wrote renewal business with AAA Arizona,
Inc. through mid-August 2005 for personal automobiles and mid-September 2005 for homeowners.
American Commerce now writes business in Arizona through independent agents but no longer
markets its products through AAA Arizona. Commerce West began writing business in Arizona
through independent agencies in early 2005.

Commerce West predominantly writes preferred private passenger automobile insurance in
California. All of Commerce West’s business is underwritten at its headquarters in Pleasanton, Cali-
fornia. Commerce West also writes standard and non-standard private passenger and commercial
automobile business in California and non-standard business in Oregon. Commerce West writes its
business through 1,231 independent insurance agencies and brokers in California, Oregon and
Arizona.
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A listing of direct written premiums for those states in which American Commerce and
Commerce West write insurance, and the one state other than Massachusetts in which Commerce
writes insurance, for the years ended December 31 follow:

Company State 2005 2004 2003
American Commerce: Washington ........ccccevccenennee $ 36919 $ 30583 $ 21,592
Arizona® ..., 31,790 49,494 47,740
OKklahoma ......ccceoevveeeenriinennnns 25,814 23,467 18,536
Rhode Island .......ccccovvininnn, 25,299 24,126 21,138
Oregon ......covevrrercecrenenrernrennes 17,026 15,338 14,861
Ohio .o, 13,458 18,295 20,375
Kentucky ...cocooevvvevevieiereen, 9,625 10,166 9,861
Indiana ......coceevveveveerierenreenens 4,330 5,364 6,268
Tennessee ......ccovveeveeeennnnen, 4,299 4,939 4,526
Idaho ..o, 3,283 3,392 3,326
South Dakota ......ccccceevnreneen. 1,164 1,110 1,032
Other states® ........cocevvveurnene 1,959 5,638 11,234
Total oo $174,966  $191,812  $180,4%9
Comurnerce West: California ......cccoceenvevecaennes $ 51500 % 49327 $ 47,648
' OTEZOM v 3,399 4,769 5,618
ATIZONA ..ooovriecriieerere e 806 — —
Total .o $ 55704 % 54096 $ 53,166
Commerce: New Hampshire ........c.......... $ 7610 $ 7669 $ 5907

(a) As noted above, AAA Arizona stopped writing business with American Commerce in 2005.
(b) Represents states from which American Commerce is discontinuing writing.

Inter-Affiliate Pooling Agreement. We implemented an inter-affiliate reinsurance pooling
agreement, which we refer to as a “pool” or “pooling agreement,” that was effective January 1, 2004.
The pool consists solely of our four insurance subsidiary companies. The pool permits each insur-
ance subsidiary to rely on the capacity of the entire pool, rather than its own capital and surplus,
and it prevents any one insurance subsidiary from suffering any undue losses, as all insurance
subsidiaries will share underwriting profits and losses in proportion to their pool participation
percentages. It produces a more uniform and stable underwriting result than the companies would
otherwise experience individually, and, we believe, permits a more efficient use of our surplus. We
expect the pool to provide greater diversification for each subsidiary, both geographic and, to a
lesser extent, by product mix. The pool has permitted all of our insurance subsidiaries to obtain a
group-rating from each of A.M. Best, Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s.

The pool participation percentage of each insurance subsidiary reflects the ratio of that subsid-
iary’s year end 2003 policyholders’ surplus to our aggregate policyholders’ surplus. We have used the
same pooling percentages in 2004 and 2005 as follows:

Commerce INSUrance ........ccccovveiveeeeevreeverneeneenes 79.6%
Citation InSurance ............cceeeeieeieiiieeeiiniiieecennns 10.0%
American COMIMEICE ........cccceveereeeiireeevvieanreeerenes 7.2%
Commerce West ....ooocovvvevenveiiceceecee e 3.2%

Through the pooling agreement, Commerce assumed from all the other insurance subsidiaries
all of their combined premiums, losses, loss expenses and underwriting expenses. In addition,
Commerce combined this business with its own direct business, and then ceded back to the other
insurance subsidiaries, net of applicable reinsurance, their respective percentage of the combined
premiums, losses, loss expenses and underwriting expenses of all of our insurance subsidiaries,
including Commerce. Accounts are rendered quarterly with inter-company balances settled within the
next quarter. The pool may be terminated in the event of an uncured breach or by mutual agreement
of all of the parties.
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Our Products

Automobile Insurance Lines. Our principal insurance line is personal automobile insurance.
We offer automobile policyholders the following types of coverage: bodily injury liability coverage,
including underinsured and uninsured motorist coverage, personal injury protection coverage, prop-
erty damage liability coverage, collision and comprehensive coverage, including fire, theft and other
hazards specified in the policy. In Massachusetts and New Hampshire, our policies have one-year
terms. Personal automobile insurance policies written by Commerce West and American Commerce
usually have policy terms of six months.

Our published maximum automobiie liability limits by state follow (in thousands):

Maximum Liability Limits Most Commeonly Purchased Limits
Per Per Property Per Per Property
Person Accident Damage Persomn Accident Damage
Commerce and Citation.
Massachusetts personal ...... $ 500 $1,000 $ 250 $ 100 $ 300 $ 100
New Hampshire personal ... 250 500 250 100 300 100
Massachusetts voluntary
commercial® ................... 1,000 1,000 500 ($1,000 combined single limit)
Commerce West.
California personal .............. 500 500 100 15 30 10
Oregon personal .......c....... 250 500 100 25 50 10
Arizona personal ................. 250 500 100 15 30 10
California commercial ........ (31,000 combined single limit) ($1,000 combined single limit)
American Commerce:
Majority of states ......cc...... 1,000 1,000 1,600 1080 300 50

(a) Our Massachusetts voluntary commercial accounts have a choice between the separate limits
indicated and a maximum liability limit of $1,000 for combined single limit, which is the most
common choice.

Citation also provides a separate rating tier for preferred commercial automobile business.
Citation wrote approximately 10% of our Massachusetts cormmercial automobile premium produced
during 2006, We expect that these secondary rating tiers will continue to assist us in retaining better
commercial automobile and homeowner accounts. Although we were the second largest writer of
commercial automobile insurance in Massachusetts, we were the largest writer of voluntary commer-
cial automobile insurance, as reported by CAR through October 2005.

Homeowners Insurarnce. We also offer homeowners insurance in Massachusetts, including
policies in company-designated coastal areas, which were less than 3.0% of our total Massachusetts
homeowners policies at year end. Our average homeowners policy is an all risk, replacement cost
insurance policy covering a dwelling and its contents. Our published limits of liability for property
damage tc a dwelling in Massachusetts are 2 minimum coverage of $100, a maximum coverage of
$1,000, and the most commonly purchased amounts per policy are between $150 and $250. Some
policies over this amount are written after underwriting review. For perscnal liability, the minimum
coverage is $100, the maximum coverage is $1,000 and the most commonly purchased amount per
policy in Massachusetts written by Commerce and Citation is $500. Generally, the average amount of
contents coverage is 70% of the amount of coverage for the dwelling, with limitations on the amount
of coverage per item placed on securities, cash, jewelry, furs, silverware, computer equipreent, and
firearms. However, additional coverage for such items can be purchased. We also offer personal
liability umbrella coverage of $1,000, $2,000, and $3,000, which is reinsured through Swiss Re
America.

We offer a preferred risk homecwners product through Citation, which has an alternative
pricing schedule for selected insureds meeting more restrictive underwriting guidelines. Citation
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produced approximately 54% of our Massachusetts homeowner business during 2005, calculated
based on direct premiums written.

American Commerce writes homeowners insurance as well. The maximum liability limit for
homeowners insurance written by American Commerce is $750, and the most commonly purchased
coverages are between $100 and $200. Commerce West does not write homeowners insurance.

Homeowners business is reinsured through a 75% quota share agreement. Refer to Note M to
the audited consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K.

Massachusetts Automebile Business

Massachusetts automobile business is the principal component of our Massachusetts property
and casualty operations. For the two-year period of 2003 and 2004, average mandated Massachusetts
personal automobile insurance premium rates increased an average of 2.6% per year. However, the
Commissioner approved average decreases of 8.7% in personal automobile premiums for 2006 and
1.7% for 2005. Coinciding with the 2006 and 2005 rate decisions, the Commissioner also approved a
1.5% and 4.8% increase, respectively, in the commission agents receive for selling private passenger
automobile insurance. The following table shows the state-mandated average rate change, the actual
average revenue change per exposure and our average revenue change per exposure as estimated for

2006 and for the three previous years in Massachusetts.
Actual State

Average Comierce Average
State Mandated Revenue Change Revenue Change
Year Average Rate Change® Per Exposure(® Per Exposure
20067 ..ovooereeeee (8.7)% (5.5)% (5.8)%
2005 .o, (L.7)% 1.5% 0.4%
2004 ., 2.5% 7.0% 5.8%
2003 o, 2.7% 8.1% 7.9%

(1) Estimated for actual state and Commerce average revenue change per exposure.
(2) Based on Massachusetts Division of Insurance filings.

The actual state average revenue change per exposure represents the change in the average
premium paid by drivers in Massachusetts, as opposed to the state mandated average rate change. As
can be seen above, our average revenue change per exposure corresponds more closely to the actual
state average revenue change. The reason for this is that both take into account newer vehicles, as
compared to the state mandated average rate change which does not consider revenue arising from
the mandated rate applied to new vehicle purchases.

The Commissioner approved an 8.7% decrease in the state mandated average personal auto-
mobile insurance premium rate for 2006. Management estimates that this will translate into a 5.8%
decline in the average revenue per exposure for the upcoming year. We estimate the 2006 net pre-tax
impact of the 5.8% decrease in our 2006 average revenue per exposure partially offset by the
remaining effects of the 2005 0.4% increase in average revenue per exposure to be approximately
$27,000. The majority of the impact will occur during the last two quarters of 2006 as premlums for
policies with 2006 effective dates become earned.

Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers. A significant aspect of our automobile insurance
business relates to our interaction with CAR. CAR enables Commerce and the other participating
insurers to reinsure any automobile risk that the insurer perceives to be under-priced. CAR is respon-
sible for the administration of the personal and commercial automobile reinsurance mechanisms in
Massachusetts. Participating insurers, which are responsible for over 99% of total direct premiums
written for personal automobile insurance in Massachusetts, are required to offer automobile insur-
ance coverage to all eligible applicants pursuant to “take-all-comers” regulations, but may reinsure
under-priced business with CAR. In addition, participating insurers are obligated to accept ERPs from
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CAR and to provide an automobile insurance market in Massachusetts for those agencies. ERP
assignments occur by line of business and may apply to personal automobile only, commercial auto-
mobile only, or both lines.

CAR maintains separate pools for personal and commercial automobile risks. All companies
writing automobile insurance in Massachusetts share in the underwriting results of CAR business for
their respective product line or lines, whether or not they are servicing carriers. CAR has annually
generated underwriting losses, primarily in the perscnal automaobile pool. Accordingly, each automo-
bile insurer attempts to develop and implement underwriting strategies that will minimize its relative
share of the CAR deficit while maintaining acceptable loss ratios on risks not reinsured through CAR.
In 2005 and continuing into 2006, CAR began using a credit matrix which had the effect of moving
our participation ratio closer to our market share. The gap between our market share and participa-
tion ratio has therefore decreased from 5.9% for 2004 to 3.7% for 2005.

Effective for January 1, 2006, the Commissioner approved the CAR plan to implement a
limited servicing carvier (LSC) program for the commercial automobile residual market. The program
is an attempt to streamline the handling of commercial automobile risks by reducing the number of
servicing carriers while equalizing access for agents to the residual market. The plan calls for six
companies, including Commerce, to be appointed LSCs. All agents were assigned tc one of the LSCs
for processing ceded policies, after unsuccessful attempts to place the policy in the voluntary market.
While only six carriers were appointed LSCs, CAR deficits will be distributed to the industry based
upon retained voluntary market share. We expect to write up to an additional $8 000 of commercial
automobile business in 2006 through the LSC program. :

On September 30, 2005, the Commissioner directed that CAR implement a plan to redis-
tribute personal automobile ERPs in an attempt to establish, for all Servicing Carriers, overall parity
in the quantity and quality of ERP exposures. The redistribution plan scught to achieve parity in
average loss ratio by giving each Servicing Carrier a proportionate mix of the ERPs with high and
low loss ratios commensurate with the Servicing Carrier’s voluntary Massachusetts business. The
final plan called for about 133 ERPs statewide, who are writing business only with CAR, to be redis-
tributed among different carriers. The redistribution plan for ERPs, as adopted by the CAR Governing
Committee on November 16 and December 14, 2005, was approved by the Commissioner on January 27,
2006. The plan is effective March 1, 2006 for all new business and May 1, 2006 for all renewal busi-
ness with all market activity through the close of business January 26, 2006 being refiected in the
redistribution. The redistribution plan called for 58 ERPs to be re-assigned from us to other carriers.
These ERPs collectively had 61,674 written exposures, with loss ratios lower than the three-year
average loss ratio for all ERPs statewide. Of these 58 ERPs, we offered 51 voluntary contracts, and
49 of the ERPs accepted the offer. These 49 ERPs, who are now our voluntary agents, have 52,796
written exposures. Also resulting from the redistribution plan, 27 new ERPs with loss ratios greater
than the three-year average loss ratic for all ERPs, whose written exposures totaled 56,888, were re-
assigned from other carriers to us.

While we believe it is premature to estimate the impact of the redistribution plan on our
future financial results, we have estimated the pro-forma impact of the distribution plan on cur 2005
results utilizing currently available information as if the redistribution plan became effective on
January 1, 2005. Based on our analysis of the impact of the redistribution, we estimate that
Commerce would have incurred additional pre-tax expense ranging between $7,600 and $10,300,
depending upon the level of exposures that would be ceded to CAR. These amounts are significantly
affected by the loss ratios of the ERPs assigned to us and the size of the CAR deficit, which CAR
currently estimates at $155,000 for CAR policy year 2005, and we do not include the financial impact
of future assignment of additional ERPs that we may have received due to providing voluntary
contracts to certain low loss ratic ERPs as noted above. Lastly, offsetting the estimated increased
pre-tax expense, we expect that our agent profit sharing expenses would have declined between
$2,800 and $3,800, resulting in a net estimated pro-forma impact of between $4,800 and $6,500 addi-
tional pre-tax expense for the redistribution plan.
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Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
in this Form 10-K has additional information about CAR.

Marketing

We market our insurance products exclusively through a network of licensed independent
agents in all states, except in California where we also utilize some brokers. As of December 31,
2005, we had 607 agents throughout Massachusetts (of which 207 are ERPs), 51 agents writing busi-
ness in New Hampshire, 1,231 agents and brokers in California, Oregon and Arizona for Commerce
West, and 738 agents in 11 states for American Commerce. Our voluntary, non-ERP independent
agencies may also represent other insurance companies, some of which may compete directly with
us. The ERPs may represent other companies for lines of business other than personal or commer-
cial automobile and, for these other lines, the ERPs may represent companies that compete with us.
The independent insurance agencies are under contract with our subsidiaries and must conduct their
business according to the provisions of their contracts. Voluntary contracts for Massachusetts agen-
cies may be terminated by us upon 180 days notice to the agency or at will by the agency.
Commerce and Citation may extend the termination date for renewal business to 13 months. ERP
contracts may be terminated by us with 30 days notice if the ERP violates CAR rules and our actions
are upheld by the CAR Governing Committee.

Massachusetis Business. We seek to establish long-term relationships with voluntary agencies
that can generate a sizable volume of business with profitable underwriting characteristics and for
which we will be among the top one or two preferred writers of private passenger automobile poli-
cies. Of the 607 licensed independent agencies currently in our Massachusetts network, 223 agencies
have been licensed with us for less than five years. This is primarily the result of 143 new appoint-
ments in 2002, most of whom came from our acquisition of the Massachusetts personal automobile
business written by Berkshire Mutual Insurance Company and MassWest Insurance Company. We
also have 47 agencies with licenses from six to ten years and 337 licensed agencies that have been
writing business with us for over ten years, of which 217 have been associated with us for over 15
years.

We also assess whether the mix of a prospective agency’s business will expand our presence
in one or more of our core product lines. In 2005, the agencies representing us in Massachusetts
produced an average of approximately $2,627 of our direct written premiums per agency, a 5.4%
increase as compared to 2004. Direct premiums written in 2005 and 2004 by our Massachusetts agen-

cies follow:
No. of Agencies

Premium Range 2005 2004
Under $1,000 158 183
$1,000 to $2,000 206 200
$2,000 to $3,000 104 102
$3,000 to $4,000 46 47
Over $4,000 93 90

Our three largest agencies produced $108,606, $24,271 and $20,224 of our Massachusetts direct
premiums written, or approximately 6.6%, 1.5% and 1.3% of total Massachusetts direct premiums
written, respectively.

Included in the increase for Massachusetts personal automobile direct premiums written are
premiums that were the result of appointments of new agents. During 2005, Commerce had 19 new
appointments. Of these new appointments, 10 were voluntary agents resulting in an additional $2,513
in premiums. The remainder of the new appointments were ERPs assigned to Commerce by CAR.
Business obtained from these new ERPs amounted to $5,197 during 2005.

We carefully monitor an agency’s performance. An Agency Evaluation Committee, composed
of representatives of our Marketing, Underwriting, and Premium Accounting departments, uses a host
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of pre-established criteria (loss ratio, premium volume, business distributions, etc.) to continuously
evaluate agencies. Generally, we will counsel an agency on how tc improve its underwriting and prof-
itability before we consider terminating the agency. During 2005, we terminated 34 non-ERP agencies,
primarily due to low premium volume, from former agents of Berkshire Mutual. These terminated
agencies wrote $12,600 in premiums during 2005.

Our agencies receive commissions on policies written for us and are eligible to receive addi-
tional compensation through a prefit sharing arrangement. The Commissioner annually establishes a
minimum average direct commission for personal automobile insurance, which in 2005 was 10.9%.
For qualified agents, we pay a bonus to increase compensation paid on an agent-by-agent basis,
varying the amount based on premium volurne, risk distribution, length of time with us, and histor-
ical profitability. OQur agents’ profit sharing is tied to the underwriting profit on policies written by an
agency. We generally pay a qualifying agency up to 45% of the rolling three-year underwriting profit
attributable to the agency’s business. The arrangement for profit sharing on Massachusetts policies
utilizes a three-year rolling plan, with one-third of each of the current and the two prior years' profit
or loss calculations, summed to a single amount. This amount, if positive, is multiplied by the profit
sharing rate and paid to the agent. To qualify for profit sharing, an agent generally must have a three-
vear average loss rafio of 60% or better. CAR credits for voluntary business written in underpriced
territories and credits for writing youthful operators on a voluntary basis can increase the loss ratio
eligibility for profit sharing. Books of business with limited credits must achieve a lower loss ratio,
generally around 55%, to qualify. In 2005, our total commissions to our agencies were 19.1% of direct
premiums written, of which direct commissions and profit sharing were 12.1% and 7.0%, respectively,
versus total compensation expensed of 17.7%, of which 12.2% was direct commissions and 5.5% was
profit sharing in 2004. Direct commissions are higher than the personal automobile minimum
commissicon rates primarily due to negotiated commissions in 2005 to agencies with better
performing private passenger automobile books of business, coupled with higher commissions on
nen-automobile lines of business.

We also occasionally sponsor incentive award trips to encourage and reward agency profita-
bility and growth. Expenses in 2005 related to sales incentive contests were $637. No award trips are
currently planned.

We devote substantial time and resources to the development of our information systems,
which we believe have enhanced both our underwriting and our agency support. Through the use of
several custemized software programs, we have the ability to analyze our internal historical under-
writing data and use such information in making, in our belief, more informed underwriting deci-
sions. Our information systems also enable us to provide extensive support to our agencies. This
support includes a direct billing system, which covers approximately 99% of our policyholders, and
an on-line inquiry system, which allows agencies to ascertain the status of pending claims and direct
bill information via the Internet. We also have over 200,000 policyholders utilizing Electronic Funds
Transfer (EFT) which carry no billing service fees. The system also allows agents on-line access to
manuals, reports and forms. We also offer an agency upload for personal and commercial automabile
and an agency download product for personal and commercial automobile, as well as homeowners.
We expect to expand these offerings from time to time. During 2005, approximately 9% of our
agents had access to one or more of these systems. In early 2005, we began offering on-line access
to insureds for certain premium billing and claim information.

We believe that, because of our compensation arrangements and our emphasis on service, we
are the preferred provider for most of our agencies. Although we believe, based on annual surveys of
our agencies, that our relationships with our independent agencies are excellent, any disruption in
these relationships could adversely affect our business.

Affinity Programs in Massachusetts. Since 1995, we have been a leader in affinity group
marketing in Massachusetts by providing discounts to members of the AAA clubs. Based on informa-
tion provided to us by the AAA clubs operating in Massachusetts, we believe that membership in
these clubs represents approximately one-third of the Massachusetts motoring public. In 2005, we
increased our total Massachusetts private passenger automobile written insurance exposures by 2.9%,
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ending 2005 with approximately 29.9% of the Massachusetts private passenger automobile market, up
from 29.1% at the end of 2004. We estimate a 42% penetration of AAA members in Massachusetts.
The AAA Affinity group discount has been established at 5% for 2006. The rate for 2005, 2004 and
2003 was also 5%.

Programs in Other States. Both American Commerce and Commerce West file and seek
approval for premium rates with the respective divisions of insurance in the states where they do
business. American Commerce competes for business primarily by using AAA-owned and operated
independent agencies that offer competitively priced products and provide quality service. The inde-
pendent agencies are offered compensation in the form of commission and profit sharing, based
primarily on loss ratios. In addition, the AAA-owned agencies are also offered stock options and
bonuses based on the year-over-year increase in the volume of agency business written with Amer-
ican Commerce. Commerce West competes for business by using independent insurance agencies
and brokers that offer competitively priced products and provide quality service. Commerce West
offers compensation to agents and brokers in the form of commissions and profit sharing, which are
based in part on the underwriting profits and losses of the agency business written with us.
Commerce offers competitively priced products and commissions to agents in New Hampshire. Profit
sharing, based on loss experience, is also offered as an inducement for exceptional business.

During 2005, we invested approximately $7,500 in several software implementation projects
for the primary purpose of strengthening our business in states other than Massachusetts. Our largest
initiative toward achieving this goal involves a comprehensive upgrade of our information systems.
The specific objectives of this upgrade are to:

» provide flexibility to support independent business decisions and processing needs of
American Commerce and New Hampshire business users;

= consolidate processing of our other-than-Massachusetts, multi-state business written
through American Commerce, Commerce, and Citation on one systemn;

» enhance data integrity and control mechanisms; and

+ enhance functionality.

Another major initiative, Agency Port, will significantly improve, we believe, the way in which we
serve our agents and insureds at American Commerce, Commerce and Citation. American Commerce
licensed and is implementing the Agency Port web portal for use by its club and agent partners.
Commerce and Citation plan to use this product for Massachusetts homeowners as well as New
Hampshire business. We believe the implementation will provide automated underwriting and an
easy-to-use web-enabled interface for quoting and servicing American Commerce products. We antici-
pate implementing these initiatives beginning 2006 and into 2007.

Underwriting

We seek to achieve an underwriting profit, as measured by a statutory combined ratio of less
than 100%, in each of our product lines. Our strategy is designed to achieve consistent profitability
with substantial growth in net premiums written during hard markets and growth that is more
modest during soft markets. All of our policies have been written on a “claims incurred basis,”
meaning that we cover claims based on occurrences that take place during the policy period.

Agencies are authorized to bind us on risks as limited by our written underwriting rules and
practices, which establish eligibility rules for various policies and coverages, unacceptable risks, and
maximum and minimum limits of liability. For non-automobile policies, other than certain umbrelia
policies, our agencies have the ability to bind us for a limited period, typically 60 days, during which
time we review all risks to determine whether we will accept or reject the policy. During this review
period, we are obligated to pay any claim that would be covered under the policy. Violation of our
underwriting rules and practices is grounds for termination of the agency’s contract with us.

In Massachusetts, we and each of the other servicing carriers of CAR must write virtually all
private passenger automobile risks submitted to us. Massachusetts personal automobile insurance

19




rates are fixed annually by the Commissioner. All companies writing personal automaobile policies are
required to use such mandated rates, unless they have received prior approval from the Commis-
sioner to offer a lower rate such as what we have done with our AAA affinity program. The actual
premium paid by a parficular policyholder, however, is adjusted, either up or down, based upon the
driving record of the insured operator. Moving violations and accidents for which the insured was at
fault within the most recent six year period are used to determine each operator’s safe driver
surcharge or credit. In 2006, the Massachusetts Safe Driver Insurance Plan (SDIP) has changed to a
point-based system, the impact of which is not currently known or estimable.

We set our voluntary Massachusetts commercial automobile insurance rates competitively,
subject to the Commissioner’s authority to disapprove such rates. CAR files the rates for commercial
automobile risks reinsured through CAR, subject to the authority of the Commissioner to disapprove
the rates, except for private passenger type non-fleet business which is filed by insurance companies
and approved by the Commissioner.

For our business written outside of Massachusetts and other product lines within Massachu-
setts, including homeowners and commercial lines of general liability and property insurance, rates
are based in part on loss cost data from the Insurance Services Office, or ISO, which is an industry
bureau providing policy forms and rate making data, and in part, on cur own experience and other
companies’ price levels. We are not obligated by statute to accept every homeowners risk submitted
to us. Accordingly, risks meeting cur underwriting guidelines are accepted, and all other risks are
declined or not renewed. We use ISO policy forms and have added special coverage features toc meet
our praduct needs. Rates and forms must be filed with and approved or not disapproved by the
insurance commissicner in each state where we do business.

Reinsurance

In addition to participating in CAR, we reinsure with other insurance companies, on a claims
incurred basis, a portion of our potential exposure under the policies we have written. The objective
of this reinsurance is to mitigate the adverse financial consequences of a severe loss under individual
policies, or catastrophic occurrences where a number of claims can produce an extraordinary aggre-
gate loss. Reinsurance does not legally discharge us from our primary liability to the insured for the
full amount of the policies, but it does make the reinsurer liable to us to the extent of the reinsured
portion of any loss ultimately suffered. We seek to utilize reinsurers that we consider adequately
capitalized and financially able to meet their respective obligations under reinsurance agreements
with us. We use a variety of reinsurance mechanisms to protect ourselves against loss. For additional
information, please refer to Note M to the audited consolidated financial statements included in this
Form 10-K.

Involuntary Pool

Cur insurance subsidiaries are required to participate in various Property Insurance Under-
writing Asscciations, the most significant of which is the Fair Access to Insurance Requirements Plan
(FAIR Plan) in Massachusetts. The federal government reinsures those insurers participating in FAIR
Plans against excess losses sustained from riots and civil disorders. The Massachusetts FAIR Plan
has coastal policies which could result in losses which could be material to the FAIR Plan and partic-
ipating insurance companies. The Massachusetts FAIR Plan does not purchase catastrophe reinsur-
ance; consequently, we have exposure for cur proportionate share of catastrophic events cccurring in
the FAIR Plan. Effective July 1, 2005, we purchased a one-year Catastrophe Treaty for our exposure
to FAIR Plan losses in excess of $100,000 up to a total FAIR Plan loss of $1,000,000. We purchased
6% of this treaty which will afford us a recovery of $54,000 excess of a $6,000 retention if the FAIR
Plan sheould suffer a $1,000,000 or greater loss. The estimated 250-year probable maximum loss for
the FAIR Plan is approximately $1,000,000. This loss estimate is the average of the two catastrophe
models utilized by the FAIR Plan.
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Settlement of Claims

Claims under insurance policies written by us are investigated and settled primarily by cur
claims adjusters at our Webster, Massachusetts headquarters. Commerce also employs investigators
to address suspected insurance fraud and abuse. American Commerce settles claims at its home
office in Ohio, the Webster, Massachusetts headquarters and three regional claims offices located
around the country. In addition to these individuals, American Commerce uses the services of inde-
pendent appraisal firms and independent property adjusting companies, which are also located
around the country. Commerce West settles claims at its home office. In addition, Commerce West
uses the services of independent appraisal firms located in California, Oregon and Arizona. If a claim
or loss cannot be settled and results in litigation, we retain outside counsel to represent us.

) We believe that, based on surveys of our agency force and insureds, through our claims staff
of experienced adjusters, appraisers, managers, and administrative staff, we have higher customer
satisfaction than many of our competitors. All claims office staff members work closely with agents,
insureds and claimants with a goal of settling claims fairly, rapidly and cost effectively.

Comamerce has a 24-hour claim reporting service in Massachusetts to third-party claimants
and insureds of interested agencies. This service allows customers to report their first notice of a
loss at any time of the day, 365 days a year. This reporting methodology allows us to improve
customer satisfaction by making the initial claim handling much faster and ultimately reducing
indemnity payments such as rental and storage.

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense (LAE) Reserves

The following table represents the development of reserves, net of reinsurance, for 1995
through 2005. The top line of the table shows the reserves at the balance sheet date for each of the
indicated years, representing the estimated losses and LAE for claims arising in all years that were
unpaid at the balance sheet date, including losses that had been incurred but not yet reported to us.
The upper portion of the table shows the cumulative amounts paid as of successive years expressed
as a percentage with respect to that year’s ending reserve liability. The lower portion of the table
shows the re-estimated amount as a percentage of the previously recorded reserves based on experi-
ence as of the end of each succeeding year, including cumulative payments made since the end of
the respective year. The estimate changes as more information becomes known about the payments
and the frequency and severity of claims for individual years. Favorable loss development exists
when the original reserve estimate is greater than the re-estimated reserves at December 31, 2005.
Favorable development is depicted as a positive number in the line “Redundancy expressed as a
percentage of year end reserves.” The table shows that we have redundancies in each of the last ten
years.

For additional information, please refer to “Critical Accounting Policies” in Item 7, Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of this Form 10-K.

In evaluating the cumulative information in the following table, it should be noted that each
year's amount includes the cumulative effects of all changes in amounts for prior periods. This table
does not present accident or policy year development data. Conditions and trends that have affected
development of the liability in the past may not necessarily occur in the future. Accordingly, it is not
appropriate to extrapaolate future development based on the following table.
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Loss and LAE Reserve Development (dollars in millions)

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2060 1999 1998 1987 1996 1995
(Dollars stated in millions)

Reserves for losses and loss adjust-
MENE EXPEISES 1.eovrevreeerrerrvrreereeieserereeneens $834.7 $830.1 $792.3 $678.3 $594.2 $585.9 $558.8 §561.2 $529.8 $534.0 $403.9

Paid (cumulative) as a percentage of
current reserves as of:

One year 1ater ..........cccovecevrienicnieereninns 485% 51.4% 52.6% 52.0% 53.8% 524% 49.3% 53.6% 52.5% 49.9%
Two years later ......cceveveemcenierieenins 714 728 734 739 745 728 780 753 723
Three years later .....ccceevrvirecniniecnnnns 858 857 85 8.7 843 930 8381 86.5
Four years later ........ccocoovvveveeriinniernins 922 927 919 838 993 96.7 93.3
Five years later ..., 962 962 929 1023 99.7 986

Six years later ........cccceeevicnreccrienrinnnaane 98.1 948 1036 1009 995
Seven years 1ater .........ocoovevvrncnicenranns 95.6 1046 1015 1003
Eight years later ..... 105.1 1022 100.7

Nine years later ........cccoeevveeieiieeeenens 102.6 100.9
Ten years l1ater ....c.cuicieorencecemeone 1012
Reserves re-estimated as a percentage
of initial reserves as of:

One year 1ater .......ooveevveeevririnsirenans 092.6% 92.8% 06.3% 97.6% 94.0% 924% 92.9% 884% 84.3% 322%
Two years later .... 90.7 93.8 93.9 93.7 90.3 91.9 85.6 79.3 74.1
Three years 1ater .........ccvmrrveieirnrns 92.7 92.7 91.8 90.3 91.3 85.1 77.4 71.5
Four years later .......cceevvviinceninneavicnnnns 916 914 893 913 847 773 697
Five years later ... 90.6 89.1 88.8 84.4 77.1 70.4
Six years later ........cceiiiiiniiniiincnn e 878 888 810 768 701
Seven years Jater .....ccoovvvvveveeveiinriineins 88.0 807 745 69.9
Eight years later 80.1 742 683
Nine years later 73.9 68.3
Ten years 1ater ..........cccevecornnnniveennnnn 68.0
Redundancy expressed as a percentage
of year end I'eServes ......ccoecceneenn 74% 93% 73% 84% 9.4% 122% 12.0% 19.9% 26.1% 32.0%
Gross liability, end of year ................... $989.2 $990.3 $957.4 $815.6 $695.2 $684.8 $671.0 $657.0 $639.7 $658.0 $620.9
Reinsurance recoverables ........cco.oeveee.. 15645 1602 1651 1373 101.0 989 1122 958 1099 1240 127.0
Net liability, end of year ......coocceevennnne $834.7 $830.1 $792.3 $678.3 $594.2 $585.9 $558.8 $561.2 $520.8 $534.0 $493.9
Gross re-estimated liability-latest .......... § — $912.1 88478 $787.4 $682.8 $667.6 $619.0 $619.1 $563.2 $576.5 $510.3
Re-estimated recoverable-latest ............. — 1434 1288 1589 1387 1371 1282 1249 1389 1820 1834
Net re-estimated liability-latest .............. $ — $768.7 $719.0 $628.5 $544.1 $530.5 $490.8 $494.2 $424.3 $394.5 $3359

(1) The 1998 amount includes an adjustment to add $63.1 million in loss and LAE reserves related to
the purchase of American Commerce at January 29, 1999. For additional information about losses
and LAE, gross and net of reinsurance, see Note F to the audited consolidated financial state-
ments included in this Form 10-K.

Included in cur loss reserves are liabilities for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses
for environmental related claims such as lead paint, ocil spills and mold. We held reserves in the
amount of $3,665 for lead paint related claims at December 31, 2005. Our reserves for environmental
claims such as oil spills and mold were $3,552 and $555 respectively, at December 31, 2005. These
reserves have been established to cover claims for known losses. Because of our limited exposure to
these types of claims, we believe they will not have a material impact on our financial position.

Operating Ratios

Loss and Underwriting Fapense Ratios. Loss and underwriting expense ratios are used to
interpret the underwriting experience of property and casualty insurance companies on a statutory
basis. Certain corporate expenses included in our loss adjustment expenses and policy acquisition
costs do not impact the statutory loss and LAE ratio or the statutory underwriting ratic because they
are not expenses borne by cur insurance subsidiaries. Underwriting profit margins are reflected by
the extent to which the sum of the loss and underwriting expense ratios, which we refer to as the
combined ratio, is less than 100%. The combined ratio is considered the best simple index of current
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underwriting performance of an insurer. The ratios which follow include lines of insurance other
than automobile. Data for the property and casualty industry generally may not be directly compa-
rable to our data. This is because we conduct our business primarily in Massachusetts, where
approximately 87.3% of our direct premiums were written for the year ended December 31, 2005,
and, secondly, we primarily write personal automobile insurance.

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Company group statutory ratios (unaudited):
Loss and LAE 1atio ........ccceveiiivimnineenieniceees 60.8% 62.8% 73.4% 75.1% 74.5%
Underwriting expense ratio .......cccceeciivevreeneees 26.5% 24.9% 22.9% 23.6% 24.2%
Combined ratio .....oooecivieinrecreiee e 87.3% 87.7% 96.3% 98.7% 98.7%
Industry combined ratio (all writers)® ............. 96.0% 94.4% 94.4% 104.5%  109.5%

(1) Source: A.M. Best’s Review/Preview (January 2006), as reported by A.M. Best for all property and
casualty insurance companies and adjusted to reflect our relative product mix. The 2005 industry
information is estimated by A.M. Best.

Premiums-to-Surplus Ratio. While there is no regulatory requirement applicable to us which
establishes a permissible statutory net premiums-to-surplus ratio, guidelines established by the NAIC
provide that this ratio should be no greater than 300%.

The premium-to-surplus ratios for the five years ended 2005 for our industry and us follow
(in millions of dollars):

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Net premiums written by us .......... $ 1,736.2 $ 1,7125 $ 15555 % 1,313.0 $ 1,079.0
Policyholders’ surplus of our '
insurance subsidiaries® ................ $ 14773 % 1,290.1 $ 1,075.1 $ 6620 $ 7159
OUr ratio .o 117.5% 132.8% 144.7% 198.3% 160.7%
Industry ratio® ....ceevveeecceerennn 102.9%  108.5% 117.4%  130.5% 112.0%

(1) The increase in policyholders’ surplus from 2002 to 2003 was primarily the result of our $300
million debt offering. The proceeds from the offering were used as additional paid-in capital for
Commerce. ’

(2) Source: A.M. Bests Review/Preview (January 2006), for all property and casualty insurance
companies. The 2005 industry information is estimated by A.M. Best.

Investments

Investment income is an important source of revenue for us, and the return on our invest-
ment portfolio has a material effect on our net earnings. Our investment strategy emphasizes invest-
ment yield while maintaining investment quality. The focus of our investment objectives continues to
be maximizing after-tax investment income through investing in high quality diversified investments
structured to maximize after-tax investment income while minimizing risk. A secondary objective is
to achieve above average after-tax total return. Our funds are generally invested in securities with
maturities intended to provide adequate funds to pay claims and meet other operating needs without
the forced sale of investments. '
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For additional information on our investment income and investment portfolio, please refer
to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
Note C to the audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.

Regulation

Our business is subject to extensive regulation. In Massachusetts, the Commissioner of Insur-
ance is appointed by the Governor and has broad authority. The Commissioner sets maximum policy
rates and establishes minimum agent commission levels on personal automobile insurance. In addi-
tion, the Commissioner grants and revokes licenses to write insurance, approves policy forms, sets
reserve requirements, determines the form and content of statutory financial statements and estab-
lishes the type and character of portfolio investments. The Commissicner also approves company
submissions regarding affinity group insurance programs and corresponding discounts along with safe
driver deviations. Conseguently, the policies and regulations set by the Commissioner are an impor-
tant element of writing insurance in Massachusetts. In states other than Massachusetts, premium
rates generally must be filed with, and approved or not disapproved by the Commissioner of Insur-
ance in that particular state. In general, minimum commissions to agents are not set by the other
state commissioners.

State insurance regulators are responsible for conducting pericdic examinations of insurance
companies. Massachusetts Division of Insurance regulations provide that insurance companies wili be
examined every five years or more frequently as deemed prudent by the Commissioner. California
Department of Insurance regulations provide that insurance companies will be examined every three
years. Ohio Department of Insurance regulations provide that insurance companies will be examined
at least every five years. Both Commerce and Citation were examined for the five-year period ended
December 31, 2003. Commerce West was last examined in 2004 by the California Department of
Insurance for the four-year period ended December 31, 2003. American Commerce was examined in
2004 by the Ohio Department of Insurance for the five-year period ended December 31, 2002. These
examinations produced no material findings.

At the state level, various forms of automobile insurance reform are continuously debated. In
Massachusetts, for example, new regulations and legislation are often proposed with the goal of
reducing the need for premium increases or to alter CAR deficit sharing. See Massachusetts Automo-
bile Business section of Item 1, Business, and Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers section of
Item 7, Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, for
further discussion.

Although the U.S. federal government does not directly regulate the insurance industry,
federal initiatives often have an impact on the industry. Proposed legislation currently exists in
Congress, the State Modernization and Regulatory Transparency (SMART) Act, which would force
states to comply with uniform standards and resolve disputes, speed up the process of getting new
products to the market and move toward a systermn of market-based rates. Congress and certain
federal agencies continue to investigate the current condition of the insurance industry, encom-
passing both life and health and property and casualty insurance, in the United States in order to
decide whether some form of federal role in the regulation of insurance companies would be appro-
priate. Congress conducts hearings relating, in general, to the solvency of insurers and has proposed
federal legislation from time to time on this and other subjects.

New York Attorney General Eliot Spitzer and his staff have been challenging two separate
but related insurance industry practices — fraudulent bid fixing and certain contingent commission
payments. Mr. Spitzer and his staff have taken legal action against several companies as a result of
these challenges. No such action has been taken against us or any of our subsidiaries by any regu-
lator in regards to these practices, nor do we expect any such action to occur.

Automobile Insurance Regulation Overview. Massachusetts has required compulsory auto-
mobile insurance coverage since 1925. States other than Massachusetts generally have varying levels
of minimum compulsory insurance. Under current law, all Massachusetts motorists are required to
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carry certain minimum coverages mandated by the state. With very limited exceptions, each servicing
carrier writing automobile insurance in Massachusetts must accept all risks submitted to the serv-
icing carrier for the compulsory coverage, but is permitted to reinsure these risks (including affinity
group marketing insurance risks) through CAR.

Compulsory Coverage. Compulsory coverage includes no-fault coverage, limited bodily injury
coverage, property damage coverage and coverage against uninsured or hit and run motorists. The
Massachusetts no-fault statute provides for personal injury protection coverage, which entitles a
party to be reimbursed directly by the party’s own insurer for certain medical expenses, lost wages
and other defined expenses arising from an automobile accident, up to a specific amount, even if
another party caused the accident.

Rates and Commissions. Massachusetts personal automobile insurance rates are fixed and
established annually by the Commissioner. Affinity group marketing insurance programs and safe
driver rate deviations must be annually approved by the Commissioner. We set our voluntary Massa-
chusetts commercial automobile insurance rates competitively, subject to the Commissioner’s
authority to disapprove such rates. CAR files the rate for commercial automobile risks reinsured
through CAR, subject to the authority of the Commissioner to disapprove the rates, except for
private passenger type non-fleet business which is filed by insurance companies and approved by the
Commissioner. For additional information, see “Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers.”

Massachusetts personal automobile premiums charged to a policyholder are adjusted based
upon the safe driver rating of the operator. Moving violations and at-fault accidents affect each
driver’s safe driver rating. In addition, the Extra Risk Rating regulations permit insurers to deny
coverage or charge surcharged rates for physical damage coverage to both high risk vehicles and
insureds with excessive prior loss or violation activity.

The Commissioner sets an average minimum direct agency commission rate for personal
automobile insurance. With respect to risks reinsured through CAR, the maximum amount of
commissions that CAR will reimburse, as part of their expense allowance structure, is fixed at that
prescribed rate.

Rates and commissions in states other than Massachusetts are set competitively on a
company-by-company and state-by-state basis.

Mandatory Underwriting. With minimal exception, Massachusetts law specifies that all indi-
viduals holding a valid driver’s license be entitled to purchase the mandatory automobile insurance
coverages regardless of their driving experience or accident record. Massachusetts law also places
certain restraints on insurers’ discretion to refuse to renew automobile insurance policies. Policyhol-
ders are generally entitled to renew except in cases of fraud, material misrepresentation, revocation
or suspension of an operator’s license or nonpayment of premiums. With very limited exceptions,
servicing carriers that participate in CAR in Massachusetts must accept every automobile risk
submitted to them.

Under the Massachusetts system of rate regulation, some personal automobile insurance
risks are purposefully under-priced by the Commissioner, and therefore, absent state-intervention,
insurers would not ordinarily choose to write those risks. The CAR reinsurance program described
below is intended to mitigate the burden imposed by under-pricing and the Massachusetts take-all-
comers system, by allowing insurers to transfer the exposure for under-priced risks to an industry
pool, and by granting participation credits for certain under-priced risks. These credits are required
by statute.

Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers. CAR is a Massachusetts state-mandated reinsurance
mechanism, under which all premiums, expenses and losses on ceded business are pooled and
shared by all insurers. It is similar to a joint underwriting association because a limited number of
insurers participate in the program as servicing carriers. At December 31, 2005, there were a iotal of
19 companies, including Commerce, that were servicing carriers for the personal automobile pool.
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Effective January 1, 2006, six insurers, including Commerce, were limited servicing carriers for the
commercial automobile market. See the previous discussion of CAR’s new commercial program in
the Massachusetts Automobile Business section.

In general, agencies licensed to issue automobile insurance policies are entitled to be
assigned to at least one servicing carrier. There are two categories of agencies: (1) those that have
voluntary agreements with one or more servicing carriers, and (2) those that do not. The Ilatter are
assigned by CAR, generally to a single servicing carrier and are known as ERPs. There can be ERPs
for private passenger automobile or commercial automobile or both.

An insurer may terminate its participation in CAR by surrendering its license to write auto-
mobile policies in Massachusetts. Termination does not discharge or otherwise affect liability of an
insurer incurred prior to termination. A withdrawing insurer is assessed a share of CAR’s projected
deficits for future years based on the insurer’s prior years’ participation in CAR. The assessment paid
by the withdrawing insurer is redistributed to the remaining insurers based on their participation
ratios.

An insurer can transfer its obligations for its personal insurance policies to another insurer
who formally agrees to assume these obligations. The transferring insurer is thereby relieved of
future CAR obligations which otherwise would have arisen as a consequence of the business trans-
ferred. As previously noted, additional information about CAR, including regulatory reform, is in Item
7 of this Form 10-X.

Insurance Holding Company Structure. As an insurance holding company, we are subject to
regulation under the insurance holding company statutes of the states in which our subsidiary insur-
ance companies are incorporated. Because cur subsidiaries are members of an insurance holding
company system, they are required to register with their respective Divisions of Insurance and to
submit reports describing:

= the capital structure;
o general financial condition;

o ownership and management of each insurer and any person or entity controlling the
insurer;

= the identity of every member of the insurance holding company system; and
» the material outstanding transactions between the insurer and its affiliates.
California and Chic have insurance holding company laws similar to those in Massachusetts.

Each member of the insurance holding cormpany system must keep current the information
required to be disclosed by reporting all material changes or additions within 15 days of the end of
the month in which it learns of such change or addition.

Massachusetts law prohibits a party that is not a domestic insurer from acquiring “control” of
a domestic insurer or of a company controlling a domestic insurer without prior approval of the
Commissioner. Contro!l is presumed to exist if a party directly or indirectly holds, owns or controls
ten percent or more of the voting stock of another party, but may be rebutted by showing that
control does not exist. California and Chio have laws similar to those in Massachusetts.

In the event of the insolvency, liquidation or other reorganization of any of our insurance
subsidiaries, our creditors and stockholders will have no right to proceed against the assets of those
subsidiaries, or to cause the liquidation or bankruptcy of any company under federal or state bank-
ruptcy laws. State laws govern such liguidation or rehabilitation proceedings and the Division of
Insurance would act as receiver for the particular company. Creditors and policyholders of the insur-
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ance subsidiaries would be entitled to payment in full from such assets before a stockholder, such as
Commerce Holdings in our case, would be entitled to receive any distribution therefrom.

Payment of Dividends. Under Massachusetts law, an insurer may pay cash dividends only
from earnings and statutory surplus, and the insurer’s remaining surplus must be both reasonable in
relation to its outstanding liabilities and adequate in relation to its financial needs. Following the
declaration and payment of such dividends, the insurer must file a report with the Commissioner. A
Massachusetts insurance company may not pay an extraordinary dividend or distribution unless the
insurer gives the Commissioner at least 30 days’ prior notice of the declaration and the Commis-
sioner does not disapprove of the plan of payment prior to the date of such payment. An extraordi-
nary dividend or distribution includes any dividend or distribution whose fair market value together
with other dividends or distributions made within the preceding 12 months exceeds the greater of
10% of surplus, or net income for the 12 month period ending the 31 day of December. California
and Ohio have laws similar to those in Massachusetts regulating the payment of dividends by insur-
ance companies.

The aggregate amount of dividends calculated in accordance with regulations in Massachu-
setts, California and Ohio that could have been paid in 2005 from all of our insurance subsidiaries
without prior regulatory approval was approximately $241,062, of which $68,410 was declared and
paid during 2005.

Protection Against Insurer Insolvency. All insurance companies are required to participate in
insurance insolvency fund programs in the states in which they write. For further information, please
refer to Note L tc the audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.

National Association of Insurance Commissioners Guidelines. The NAIC Insurance Regula-
tory Information System, or IRIS, was developed by a committee of state insurance regulators and is
intended primarily to assist state insurance regulators in executing their statutory mandates to
oversee the financial condition of insurance companies operating in their respective states. IRIS iden-
tifies eleven industry ratios and specifies “usual values” for each ratio. Departure from the “usual
values” on four or more of the ratios can lead to inquiries from individual state insurance commis-
sioners as to certain aspects of an insurer’s business. For the year ended December 31, 2005, our
consolidated property and casualty operations had no ratios outside the “usual values.”

In order to enhance the regulation of insurer insolvency, the NAIC developed a formula and
model law to provide for risk-based capital, or RBC, requirements for property and casualty insur-
ance companies. The model law has since been adopted in all states. RBC requirements are designed
to assess capital adequacy and to raise the level of protection that statutory surplus provides for poli-
cyholder obligations. The RBC model for property and casualty insurance companies measures three
major areas of risk facing property and casualty insurers:

(1) underwriting, which encompasses the risk of adverse loss development and inadequate
pricing;

(2) ' declines in asset values arising from credit risk; and
(3) other business risks from investments.

Insurers having less statutory surplus than required by the RBC calculation will be subject to
varying degrees of regulatory action, depending on the level of capital inadequacy. The RBC model
formula has four levels of regulatory action. The extent of regulatory intervention and action
increases as the percentage of surplus to RBC falls. The first level, defined by the NAIC as the
“Company Action Level,” requires an insurer to submit a plan of corrective actions to the regulator if
surplus falls below 200% of the RBC amount. As indicated in the following table, the RBC level of
each of our insurance subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 significantly exceeded the 200% RBC level
requirements.
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American Commerce

Commerce Citation Commerce West

Statutory SUTPIUS ..ovecviovevveeeer e ene e ereseens $1,172,986 $ 140,578 $ 112,073 $ 51,671
200% RBC Company Action Level ... 193,025 22,452 16,225 7,214
Statutory surplus in excess of RBC Company

Action Level et $ 979,961 $ 118,126 $ 095,848 $ 44,457
RBC amounts ...ooceeciiieirecciceinrecsreeeere v caesines $ 96,513 $ 11,226 $ 8112 $ 3,607
Percent of surplus to RBC amounts ..........c........ 1,215% 1,252% 1,382% 1,433%
Competition

The property and casualty insurance industry is highly cyclical, characterized by periods of
increasing premium rates and limited underwriting capacity, followed by periods of intensive price
competition and abundant underwriting capacity. This industry also is highly competitive, with a
large number of companies, many of which operate in more than one state, offering automobile,
homeowners, commercial property and other lines of insurance. Some of cur competitors have larger
volumes of business and greater financial resources than we have and scme sell insurance directly to
policyholders rather than through independent agents.

Massachusetts. Our insurance preducts are marketed exclusively through independent agen-
cies, including ERPs. Because most of our voluntary agencies represent more than one company, we
face competition within each of these agencies. We compete for business within independent agen-
cies by offering a more attractively priced product through our AAA discount to the consumer and
by paying agents significant compensation in the form of commissions and profit sharing. We also
seek to provide a consistent market, prompt servicing of policyholder claims and effective agency
support services. We have agreed that we shall be the AAA clubs’ exclusive underwriter of Massachu-
setts personal automobile group programs, and we have a rolling three-year contract with the AAA
clubs. This contract automatically renews annually and may be terminated upon a minimum of two
years written notice to us.

We believe that the Massachusetts regulatory environment has discouraged certain companies
with more traditional underwriting and pricing approaches from establishing a presence or expanding
their market share in Massachusetts. We believe that proposed changes to CAR rules and the Massa-
chusetts personal auto system refiect a desire expressed by the Commissioner and the Massachusetts
Governor to change the Massachusetts system for regulating automobile insurance to one that is
comparable to the regulatory framework in most other states. Any material change to the regulatory
environment in Massachusetts could adversely affect our business. For additional information, see
“Massachusetts Personal Automobile Insurance” in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, in this Form 10-X.

Other States. We compete with various regional and domestic insurers, national agency
companies and direct writers. Any of these competitors could undertake actions that could adversely
affect our profitability, such as pricing automobile insurance premiums more aggressively or offering
greater compensation to independent agencies.

Our Employees
As of December 31, 2005, we employed 2,166 people. Commerce employed 1,842 neople;
American Commerce employed 239 people; Commerce West employed 85 people; and Citation had

no employees. We are not a party to any collective bargaining agreements, and we believe our rela-
tionships with our employees are very good.
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Information Available on Our Website

We make available, free of charge, on our website (http://www.commerceinsurance.com) our
annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the United
States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file
such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. The following are also
posted on our website and are available in print to any stockholder upon request:

'« Corporate Governance Guidelines

*  Code of Ethics

+ Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter
+ Audit Committee Charter

« Compensation Committee Charter

*  Procedures to Contact Non-Management Directors

+  Procedures to Contact the Board of Directors

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information regarding executive officers called for by regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission is incorporated by reference from information about our executive officers in
Item 10 of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There are various risks involved in investing in the Company, some of which are described
below. Investors should carefully consider each of the following factors and all of the other financial
information in this annual report, including the information incorporated by reference.

Regulatory or legisiative changes to enhance competition in Massachusetts are
being considered and, if enacted, could adversely affect our market share and
profitability.

From time to time, the Massachusetts Division of Insurance considers potential changes and
reforms to the Massachusetts personal automobile insurance system that would have the goal of
enhancing competition. Massachusetts is currently the only state that we write business in where
personal automobile insurance rates are set by state regulators. The Massachusetts Governor has
proposed changes to the state laws that include allowing companies to sef their own premiums
subject to state oversight. Insurers would have flexibility in their rates but would be subject to a 15%
maximum annual increase in premiums.

The Massachusetts regulatory environment currently:

* requires personal automobile insurers to issue a policy to any eligible applicant who
seeks one, known as the “take all comers” law,

* fixes maximum personal automobile rates, which has the effect of keeping premiurms arti-
ficially low on specific high risk segments of the market, such as urban and youthful
drivers, effectively imposing higher premiums on lower risk segments,

« fixes the SDIP point assignment criteria and rating factors,

= assigns certain agents that have not been able to obtain a voluntary contract with another

insurer, known as Exclusive Representative Producers, or ERPs, to servicing carriers on
the basis of market share,
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> apportions losses incurred by the state-mandated residual market run by Commonwealth
Automobile Reinsurers, known as CAR,

» mandates that higher compulsory and optional coverages be offered to all eligible drivers,
and

° establishes minimum agency commissions.

Our marketing and underwriting strategies are limited by maximum premium rates and
minimum agency commission levels for personal automobile insurance, which are mandated by the
Commissioner. Rate decisions by the Commissioner are based upon claims experience and other data
which are several years old and may not reflect current conditions. If the Commissioner sets inade-
quate premium rates, our results of operations could be adversely affected. Future increases in
commission rates would also adversely affect our results of operations uniess there were corre-
sponding increases in premiwms.

Changes in the prevailing regulatory environment could adversely affect our competitive posi-
tion. We are unable to predict what, if any, changes to the regulatory system the Division may imple-
ment and, therefore are unable to determine whether the impact would be favorable or unfavorable
to us, and the effect, if any, that it would have on competition, nor can we predict when any changes
would take effect.

We are primarily a personal automobile insurance carrier, and therefore our busi-
ness may be affected by conditions in the industry.

Approximately 82.8% of our direct premiums written for the year ended December 31, 2005
were generated from personal automobile insurance policies. As a result of our focus on that line of
business, negative developments in the economic, competitive or regulatory conditions affecting the
personal automobile insurance industry could have a material adverse effect on our results of opera-
tions and financial condition. Factors that negatively affect cost trends and cur profitability include
inflation in automobile repair costs, automobile parts costs, used car prices and medical care.
Increased litigation of claims may also adversely affect loss costs. In addition, these developments in
the personal automobile insurance industry would have a disproportionate effect on us, compared to
insurers that are more diversified across multiple business lines.

We write a substantial portion of our business in Massachusetts, and therefore our
business may be adversely affected by changing conditions and adverse legisiative,
regulatory and judicial decisions in Massachusetts.

Approximately 87.3% of our direct premiums written for the year ended December 31, 2005
were generated in Massachusetts. Therefore, our revenues and profitability are subject to prevailing
regulatory, economic, demographic, competitive and other conditions, including weather-related
events as described below, and regulatory and judicial decisions in Massachusetts. Changes in any of
these conditions or the rendering of an adverse regulatory and judicial decision could make it more
costly or difficult for us to conduct cur business. In addition, these develocpments would have a
disproportionate effect on us, compared to insurers that do not have such a geographic
concentration.

Qur financial performance may be materially adversely affected by severe weather
conditions or other catastirophic losses.

We are exposed to the risk of severe weather conditions and other catastrophes. Catastro-
phes can be caused by natural events, such as hurricanes, coastal storms, severe ice or snow storms,
tornadoes, windstorms, earthquakes, hailstorms and fires, and man-made events, such as explosions,
terrorist attacks or riots. The incidence and severity of such catastrophes are inherently unpredict-
able and our losses from catastrophes cculd be substantial. The occurrence of claims from cata-
strophic events is likely to result in substantial volatility in our financial condition or results of
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operations and our ability to write new business. This volatility is compounded by accounting regula-
tions that do not permit reinsurers to reserve for such catastrophic events until they occur.

The occurrence of severe weather conditions is inherently unpredictable. There is generally
an increase in claims frequency and severity under the personal automobile insurance we write when
severe weather occurs because of a higher incidence of vehicular accidents and other insured losses
tend to occur as a result of severe weather conditions. Except for policies that are covered under the
Fair Access to Insurance Requirements Plan in Massachusetts, we do not carry reinsurance for phys-
ical damage or comprehensive catastrophic-related losses for our personal or commercial automobile
product lines.

In addition, we have exposure to an increase in claims frequency and severity under the
homeowners and other property insurance we write because property damage may result from
severe weather conditions. Some catastrophes are restricted to small geographic areas; however,
hurricanes, coastal storms, tornadoes, winter storms, windstorms, earthquakes, terrorist attacks and
other man-made catastrophes may produce significant damage over large, heavily populated areas.

Although we participate in a quota share reinsurance program to limit our exposure to these
types of natural catastrophes, we would have no reinsurance recoveries for a single event catas-
trophe to the extent that the total loss exceeds $484,000. This calculation is based on the annual
estimated amount of premiums subject to 75% quota share reinsurance program effective July 1,
2005. Several limitations are included in this program specific to losses related to nuclear, chemical
and biological terrorist events. Our maximum loss recovery in case of these types of events is esti-
mated at $30,000. Although we attempt to manage our exposure to such events, a single catastrophic
event could affect multiple geographic zones or the frequency or severity of catastrophic events
could exceed our estimates. As a result, the occurrence of one more catastrophic events could have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

We are part of a joint underwriting association that provides excess loss coverage to nuclear
power plants and related facilities. Our maximum exposure in the event of a catastrophic loss at an
insured nuclear facility is $5,000.

If we are not able to attract and retain independent agents, our business could be
adversely affected.

We market our insurance primarily through independent agents. We must compete with other
insurance carriers for the business of these independent agents. Additionally, most agents represent
more than one company, which means we face competition within each agency. Some of our compet-
itors offer a larger variety of products, lower prices for insurance coverage or higher compensation.
While we believe that the compensation and services we provide to our agents are competitive with
other insurers, changes in compensation, services or products offered by our competitors could make
it harder for us to attract and retain independent agents to sell our insurance products.

If our affinity relationship with one or more AAA clubs, especially in Massachu-
setts, were to be-terminated, we would lose a significant avenue for our affinity

- programs, which would iikely lead to a decline in our sales of personal automobile
insurance products, that would then adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

Since 1995, we have actively pursued affinity group marketing programs, which provide
participating groups with a means of purchasing discounted private passenger automobile insurance
through associations and employer groups. The AAA affinity program is the largest of these affinity
programs. This is especially true in Massachusetts.

In Massachusetts, we are the exclusive underwriter of personal automobile group programs
for three AAA clubs. We have a rolling three-year contract with each of these AAA clubs that may be
terminated by them upon a minimum of two years’ written notice. A significant portion of our Massa-
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chusetts premiums written is derived through the AAA affinity program. Direct written premiums
written through the AAA affinity program during 2005 totaled $727,200, or 38.8% of total direct
written premiums or 44.5% of Massachusetts direct written premiums.

Direct premiums written by American Commerce in the top five states in which American
Commerce does business, excluding Arizona, represented $118 500, or 67.7% of American Commerce’s
direct premiums written and 6.3% of our total direct premiums written in 2005. Furthermore, all of
American Commerce’s business in each of these states is generated by one or more insurance agen-
cies owned by a single AAA club in that state, with limited exceptions.

We have particularly significant relationships with AAA Southern New England that are
important to various aspects of our business. Since 1995 we have maintained an exclusive affinity
group marketing relationship with a Massachusetts agency controlled by AAA Southern New
England. In 2005, that agency wrote the greatest amount of our Massachusetts personal automobile
business, accounting for $108,600, or 5.8% of our total direct premiums written. AAA Southern New
England also controls a Rhode Island insurance agency that in 2005 produced $25,200 of direct
premiums written for our subsidiary American Commerce, representing 1.3% of our total direct
premiums written for that year. In addition, AAA Southern New England owns a 5% equity interest in
ACIC Holding, the holding company of American Commerce that is 35% owned by us.

Should one or more of the significant AAA clubs elect tc terminate its exclusive agreement,
we would lose a significant avenue for offering affinity discounts, and we may not be able to achieve
comparable sales through different affinity programs or otherwise. We also expect that we would
lose the business written through any insurance agency owned by an AAA club that elects to termi-
nate its exclusive arrangement with us. A termination of relationships with AAA Southern New
England agencies could also adversely affect our ability to develop or maintain relationships with
other AAA clubs. For these reasons, the termination of our exclusive arrangement with one or more
of the AAA clubs may have an adverse effect en our business and results of operations.

FEstablished competitors with greater resources may make it difficult for us to
market our products effectively and offer our products at a profit.

We compete with various regional and domestic insurers, national agency companies and
direct writers. Some of these competitors have financial resources greater than curs. Any of these
competitors could undertake actions that could adversely affect our profitability, such as pricing
automobile insurance premiums more aggressively or offering greater compensation to independent
agencies. Our present soft market augments the risk of these competitive actions.

We may not be able to preclude other companies from engaging in insurarnce-
related business in Massachusetts using the words “Commerce” and “Insurance” in
its name or service marks; and we believe that our business will be harmed if any
other company in fact conducts insurance-related business in Massachuseits using
the words “Commerce” and “Insurance” in its name or service marks.

Commerce Insurance, which has been writing business in Massachusetts for more than 33
years under the names and marks 7%e Commerce Insurance Company and Commerce Insurance
Company, holds Massachusetts state registrations for those marks, but no federal registrations. We
have reason to believe that Commerce Bancorp, Inc. a New York Stock Exchange-listed financial
services company, and its subsidiary Commerce Insurance Services, Inc. d/b/a Commerce Insurance
Brokerage Services, both of Cherry Hill, New Jersey, are now in, or are on the verge of entering,
Massachusetts to provide a variety of insurance services under variants of the mark Commerce
Insurance. Commerce Bancorp has acquired or is seeking to acquire federal registrations for marks
including the words “Commerce’ and “msurance” In August 2003, Commerce Bancorp filed applica-
tions in the United States Patent and Trademark Office to register the mark Commerce /nsurance
Services and the mark Commerce C Insurance Services and related design. Moreover, we understand
that Commerce Bancorp acquired by assignment from the original owner of a federal registration for
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the mark Commerce for use in connection with “insurance agencies featuring home, accident, life,
property, casualty and business insurance” that was issued in 1997.

We are opposing Commerce Bancorp in two separate proceedings, one now pending in
Federal District Court, and the other before the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board of the United
States Patent and Trademark Office. On February 22, 2006, our subsidiary Commerce Insurance filed
a complaint in the Federal District Court for the District of Massachusetts, seeking preliminary and
permanent injunctions and damages against Commerce Bancorp and Commerce Insurance Services
for trade name and service mark infringement and unfair competition under federal statutory law and
for trade name and service mark infringement, unfair competition, and dilution under Massachusetts
statutory and common law. The Commerce Insurance complaint alleges, among other things, that the
use in Massachusetts by Commerce Bancorp and Commerce Insurance Services of marks including
the words “Commerce’ and “Insurance” will create the likelihood of dilution of our Commerce
Insurance marks, because our marks (1) are either inherently distinctive or have acquired secondary
meaning, and (2) are likely to be confused with the Commerce Bancorp and Commerce Insurance
Services use of their marks. A hearing is scheduled for March 20, 2006 on our motion for a prelimi-
nary injunction. In May, 2005, we began opposing both of the applications filed by Commerce
Bancorp in a proceeding before the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board. We have asked the Trade-
mark Trial and Appeal Board to suspend the proceeding before it, pending resolution of the Federal
District Court case. We cannot predict whether we will be successful in opposing Commerce
Bancorp and Commerce Insurance Services either in Federal District Court or before the Trademark
Trial and Appeal Board.

If our opposition is unsuccessful, we believe that we will continue to be able to use the
marks Commerce fnsurance, The Cominerce fnsurance Company and Commerce Insurance
Company in Massachusetts, but that our business will be harmed if Commerce Bancorp and
Commerce Insurance Services in fact conduct insurance-related business in Massachusetts using the
words “Commerce” and “Insurance’.

We are subject to comprehensive regulation by Massachusetts as well as the other

states in which we operate, and our ability to earn profits may be restricted by

changes to these regulations.

General Regulation. We are subject to regulation by government agencies in Massachusetts,
as well as in the other states in which we operate, and we must obtain prior approval for certain
corporate actions. In Massachusetts, for example, we must comply with regulations involving:

« mandatory underwriting, commonly known as take-all comers regulations;

* transactions between an insurance company and any of its affiliates;

+ the payment of dividends;

+ the acquisition of an insurance company or of any company controlling an insurance
company;

« approval or filing of premiuIﬁ rates and policy forms;

« approval of the SDIP and rating factors;

+ solvency standards;

*  minimum amounts of capital and surplus that must be maintained;

* limitations on types and amdunfs of investments;

+ restrictions on the size of risks that may be insured by a single company;
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» limitations on the right to cancel or choose not to renew policies in some lines;
» regulation of the right to withdraw from markets or terminate involvement with agencies;

° requirements to participate in residual markets, such as CAR, or other state-mandated
insurance poeols;

e licensing of insurers and agents;
o deposits of securities for the benefit of policyholders; and
° reporting with respect to financial condition.

The other states in which we operate have similar regulations. In addition, insurance depart-
ment examiners from Massachusetts, California and Ohio perform periodic financial and market
conduct examinations of insurance companies. Such regulation is generally intended for the protec-
tion of policyholders rather than security holders.

Massachusetts requires that all licensed property and casualty insurers bear a portion of the
losses suffered by some insureds as a result of impaired or insclvent insurance companies. In 2005,
2004 and 2003, we were assessed $128, $6,304 and $8,108, respectively, by the Massachusetts Insur-
ance Insolvency Fund (MIF) as our portion of these losses. In addition, Massachusetts has estab-
lished an underwriting association in order to ensure that property insurance is available for owners
of high risk property who are not able to obtain insurance from private insurers. The losses of this
underwriting association are shared by all insurers that write property and casualty insurance in
Massachusetts. We are assessed from time to time to pay those losses. The effect of these assess-
ments could reduce our profitability in any given period and limit our ability to grow our business.
Additionally, Commerce West and American Commerce are demiciled in California and Ohie, respec-
tively, and are both covered by similar associations in the states in which they do business. These
associations operate similarly to the Massachusetts association described above. In 2005, 2004 and
2003, we were assessed $76, $126 and $190, respectively, by these associations.

We are unable to predict future changes in the political, econcmic or regulatory environ-
ments in Massachusetts and other states. We cannat assure you that existing insurance-related laws
and regulations will not become more restrictive in the future or that new restrictive laws will not be
enacted, and we cannot predict the potential effects on us of any such laws and regulations.

Commonwealih Automobile Reinsurers Program. We are subject to the extensive regulation
of the private passenger automobile insurance industry in Massachusetts, and our ability to earn
profits may be restricted by these requirements. Owners of automobiles are required to demonstrate
minimum automobile insurance coverage prior to registration. Generally, we are required by law to
issue a policy to any applicant who seeks it. On the basis of our market share, we are assigned
ERPs. In addition, we are required to participate in the state-mandated reinsurance program run by
CAR, to which we may cede risks that we believe are underpriced and from which we are allocated
a porticn of the program’s overall losses. Since its inception, CAR has annually generated under-
writing losses, primarily in the personal automobile pool. All companies underwriting automgobile
insurance in Massachusetts share in the underwriting results of the CAR business for their respective
product line or lines. A company’s proportionate share of the CAR personal automobile deficit is
based on its market share, adjusted by a utilization formula such that, in general, a company’s partic-
ipation ratio is disproportionately and adversely affected if its relative use of CAR reinsurance
exceeds that of the industry, and favorably affected if its relative use of CAR reinsurance is less than
that of the industry. Participation in the CAR commercial automobile deficit is based on a company’s
voluntary market share. Finally, for the personal automobile CAR pool, an insurer’s participation ratio
may be affected by credits received for not reinsuring through CAR automobile risks in selected
underpriced classes and territories. An insurer’s participation ratio will be favorably affected if its
relative use of credits exceeds that of the Massachusetts industry. Credit values are set annually by
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CAR, and we cannot forecast whether the yearly changes will be beneficial or detrimental to the
results of our personal automobile insurance business.

Member companies of CAR have joint and several liabilities for the obligations of CAR. If
one member of CAR fails to pay its assessments, each of the remaining members of CAR will be
required to pay its pro-rata share of the member who fails to pay its obligations. As a result of the
concentration of the Massachusetts market for personal automobile insurance, the assessment could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations if one of the leading companies were to
fail. At the present time, we are not aware of any CAR member company who has failed to meet its
obligation.

Proposals to change certain of CAR’s rules are under consideration. For further discussion,
see the CAR Regulatory Reform section of Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan-
cial Condition and Results of Operations.

If we unexpectedly lose certain key personnel, or are unable to attract and retain
talented employees and executives, our ability to conduct business successfully
could be hindered.

Our future success depends significantly upon the continued contributions of certain key
management personnel. We do not have employment agreements with any of our executive officers,
nor do we have key man life insurance policies covering them. The unexpected loss of the services
and the institutional knowledge of any one of these officers could adversely affect our business and
harm our results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, our ability to continue profitable
growth and to remain a competitive force in the marketplace depends, in part, on our ability to hire
and retain talented employees. Arthur J. Remillard, Jr., our Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer, has announced his intention to retire effective July 28, 2006. The Board of Directors has
appointed Gerald Fels, our current Executive Vice President, as President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chairman of the Board effective upon Mr. Remillard, Jr.'s retirement. We have employed Mr.
Remillard, Jr. and Gerald Fels for approximately 30 years. Randall V. Becker, employed at Commmerce
since 1986, has been elected to succeed Mr. Fels as Chief Financial Officer, effective February 17,
2006. We have employed our other executive officers for an average of approximately 16 years each.

New claim, coverage and regulatory issues in the insurance industry may
adversely affect us.

As insurance industry practices and regulatory, judicial, and consumer conditions change,
unexpected and unintended issues related to claims, coverage and underwriting may emerge. The
issues can have a negative effect on our business by either extending coverage beyond our under-
writing intent or by increasing the size of claims. Recent examples of emerging claims, coverage and
underwriting issues include:

* a growing trend of plaintiffs targeting automobile insurers in purported class action litiga-
tion relating to claims-handling practices such as total loss evaluation methodology and
cases outside of Massachusetts alleging that insureds are entitled to recover the inherent
diminution in the value of their vehicles involved in accidents;

» increases in the number and size of water damage claims, including those related to
expenses for testing and remediation of mold conditions;

= the use of an applicant’s credit rating as a factor in making risk selection and pricing
decisions; and

+ the availability of coverages that pay different commission levels to agents depending
upon premium level.
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These and other unforeseen emerging claim, coverage and underwriting issues could negatively affect
our results of operations or our methods of doing business.

We cannot assure you that our diversification strategy will be effective.

We expect that our primary focus will continue to be our core business in Massachusetts and
on enhancing our geographic diversity by increasing the proportion of business that we originate
from the other states where we now have a significant presence. In addition, we have sought and
may continue to seek to take advantage of opportunities that may arise to expand our core business
into other states where we believe the independent agent distribution channel is strong or where
American Commerce is able to establish new relationships with AAA clubs. We do not have expan-
sion plans, other than in the states in which we currently write business. As a result of a number of
factors, including the difficulties of finding appropriate expansion opportunities and the challenges of
operating in an unfamiliar market, we may not be successful in finding opportunities to expand into
other states or in taking advantage of opportunities that we may identify. We have not dedicated a
specific amount of resources toward any of those diversification strategies for states in which we do
not have a presence. There can be no assurance that any of the aforementioned strategies will ulti-
mately be successful.

Cur failure to maintain a commerciaily accepiable financiaf strength raiing would
significantly and rnegatively affect our ability to implement our business strategy
successfully.

An important factor in an insurer’s ability to compete effectively is its financial strength
rating. A.M. Best generally is considered to be a leading authority on insurance company ratings and
information. A.M. Best assigns 15 ratings to insurance companies, which currently range from “A++
Superior” to “F in liquidation.” A.M. Best has currently assigned each of our insurance subsidiaries a
combined “A+ Superior” rating, which is the second highest rating issued by A.M. Best. According to
A.M. Best, an insurer with a Superior rating has, in A.M. Best’s opinion, a superior ability to meet its
ongoing obligations to policyholders. Each of the insurance subsidiaries has also been assigned a
stable outlook by A.M. Best, which indicates a company is experiencing stable financial/market
trends, and there is a low likelihood that its rating will change in the near term.

Moody'’s Investor Services also rates the financial strength of insurance companies, and has
assigned an A2 (“Good”) rating to Commerce, which is Moody’s third highest rating. According to
Moody’s an insurer with an A2 (“Good”) rating offers good financial security, with elements present
which suggest a susceptibility to impairment sometime in the future. Moody’s assigns nine ratings to
insurance companies, which currently range from Aaa to C, with a numerical modifier in each
generic rating classification to refer to the ranking in the group, with 1 being the highest and 3 being
the lowest. Moody's divides their ratings into “strong” and “weak” companies, with companies in one
of the top four rating categories being considered “strong” companies.

Additionally, Standard & Poor's rates the financial strength of insurance companies and
assigns eight ratings, which currently range from AAA to CC, and may further modify that rating with
a “+” or a “—" to show relative standing within the category. S&P has assigned an “A” rating, its third
highest rating, to Commerce and Citation. According to S&P, an insurer with an “A” rating has strong
financial security characteristics, but is somewhat more likely to be affected by adverse business
conditions than are insurers with higher ratings.

AM. Best, Moody's and S&P base their ratings on factors that concern policyholders and not
upon factors concerning investor protection. Such ratings are subject to change and are not recom-
mendations to buy, sell or hold securities. Any future decrease in the ratings of one of our subsid-
iaries could adversely affect our competitive position.

In addition, reinsurance companies and financial institutions use A.M. Best and other insur-
ance ratings to help assess the financial strength and quality of insurance companies. A decline in the
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ratings of our property and casualty insurance subsidiaries may dissuade a reinsurance company or
financial institution from conducting business with us or increase our reinsurance or interest costs.

QOur losses and loss adjustment expenses may exceed our reserves, which could
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

The reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, or LAE, that we have established are
estimates of amounts needed to pay reported and unreported claims and related expenses based on
facts and circumstances known to us as of the time we establish the reserves. Reserves are based on
historical claims information, industry statistics and other factors. The establishment of appropriate
reserves is an inherently uncertain process. This uncertainty arises from a number of factors,
including the difficulty in predicting the rate of inflation and the rate and direction of changes in
trends, interpretation of insurance policy provisions by courts, inconsistent decisions in lawsuits
regarding coverage and expanded theories of liability. In addition, changes in claims settlement prac-
tices can lead to changes in loss payment patterns, which are used to estimate reserve levels. There
can be no assurance that our ultimate liability will not materially exceed our reserves.

Due to the inherent uncertainty of estimating reserves, it has been necessary, and will over
time continue to be necessary, to revise estimated future liabilities as reflected in our reserves for
claims and policy expenses. If our reserves subsequently are found to be inadequate and therefore
must be strengthened, we would be required to treat the amount of such increase as a charge to our
earnings in the period that the deficiency is recognized, which would have an adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition.

The historical development of reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses may not
necessarily reflect future trends in the development of these amounts. Accordingly, it is not appro-
priate to extrapolate redundancies or deficiencies based on historical information.

Market fluctuations and changes in interest rates have had, and may continue to
have, significant and negative effects on our investment portfolio.

Our results of operations depend in part on the performance of our invested assets. We had
fixed income, preferred stock and preferred stock mutual fund investments with a market value of
$2.5 billion at December 31, 2005 that are subject to:

e market value risk, which is the risk that our invested assets will decrease in value, due to
a change in the prevailing market yields on our investments, an unfavorable change in the
liquidity of an investment or an unfavorable change in the financial prospects or a down-
grade in the credit rating of the issuer of an investment or one or more other factors;

» reinvestment risk, which is the risk that interest rates will decline, an investment will be
redeemed and we will not be able to reinvest the proceeds in a comparable investment
that provides a yield equal to or greater than the investment which was redeemed; and

> liquidity risk, which is the risk that we may have to sell assets at an undesirable time and/
or price to provide for payment of claims.

In addition, our investment portfolio is subject to risks inherent in the domestic and interna-
tional capital markets. The functioning of those markets, the value of our investments and our ability
to liquidate investments on short notice may be adversely affected if those markets are disrupted by
national or international events including, without limitation, wars, terrorist attacks, recessions or
depressions, high inflation or a deflationary environment, the collapse of governments or financial
markets, and other factors or events.

QOur fixed-income investment portfolio includes mortgage-backed and other asset-backed
securities. As of December 31, 2005, mortgage-backed securities and other asset-backed securities

constituted approximately 17.1% of our cash and invested assets. As with other fixed income invest-
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ments, the fair value of these securities fluctuates depending on market and other general economic
conditions and the interest rate environment. Changes in interest rates can expose us to prepayment
risks on these investments. In periods of declining interest rates, mortgage prepayments generally
increase and mortgage-backed securities and other asset-backed securities are paid more quickly,
requiring us to reinvest the proceeds at the then current market rates.

We seek to maintain a proper amount of diversity and liguidity in our portfolio; however,
there can be no assurance that we will be successful in this regard. If our portfolic were to be
impaired by market or issuer-specific conditions tc a substantial degree, our liquidity, financial posi-
tion and financial results could be materially adversely affected. Further, our income from these
investments could be materially reduced, and write-downs of the value of certain securities could
further reduce our profitability. In addition, a decrease in value of our investment portfolio could put
our subsidiaries at risk of failing to satisfy regulatory capital requirements. If we were not at that
time able to supplement our capital by issuing debt or equity securities on acceptable terms, our
ability to continue growing could be adversely affected.

We continue to monitor the effects of changing interest rates on the value of our fixed
income and preferred stock investments. We estimate that a 200 basis point immediate increase in
market interest rates would decrease the fair value of those investments at December 31, 2005 by
11.7%, or $283,888.

Our ownership interests in closed-end preferred stock mutual funds may cause our
capital gains (losses) and corresponding net earnings to be more volatile than
many other similar companies.

Our net earnings has been significantly affected by our ownership interests in closed-end
preferred stock mutual funds that we account for using the equity method of accounting. For our
investment in any fund in which we own 20% or more of the fund’s share, the equity method of
accounting requires us to categorize as a realized investment gain or loss the change in the net asset
value of that fund as compared to the end of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. Those funds
primarily invest in preferred stock and, therefore, an increase in interest rates would cause a signifi-
cant decrease in the respective net asset values of those funds and, as a direct conseguence, a signif-
icant increase in the net realized investment losses that we would recognize for those investments.
As of December 31, 2005, we had investments in two funds, with a carrying value of $96,332, in
which we own more than 20% of the funds’ shares and therefore account for them under the equity
method of accounting.

We may not be able to successfully alleviate risk through reinsurance arrange-
ments, which could cause us to reduce our premiums wrilten in certain lines or
could result in losses.

In order to reduce risk and increase our underwriting capacity, we purchase reinsurance. The
availability and the cost of reinsurance protection is subject to market conditions, which are outside
of our control. A catastrophe, even if it primarily affects a geographic area outside of our markets,
could significantly limit the availability of reinsurance, which would adversely affect our ability to
obtain reinsurance. As a result, we may not be able to successfully alleviate risk through these
arrangements. In addition, we are subject to credit risk with respect to our reinsurance because the
ceding of risk to reinsurers does not relieve us of our liability to our policyholders. A significant rein-
surer’s insolvency or inability to make payments under the terms of a reinsurance treaty could have a
material adverse affect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Our resulits may fluctuate due to the highly cyclical nature of the insurance
industry.

Historically, the financial performance of the property and casualty insurance industry has
tended to fluctuate in cyclical patterns of soft markets followed by hard markets. Although an indi-
vidual insurance company’s financial performance is dependent on its own specific business charac-
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teristics, the profitability of most property and casualty insurance companies tends to follow this
cyclical market pattern. We cannot predict with certainty how long any soft or hard market will last.

The failure of a key third party service vendor would adversely affect our ability to
timely write Massachusetts automobile policies, which would adversely affect our
results of operations.

We use an unrelated third party service vendor, CGI Information Systems & Management
Consultants, Inc., to provide rating and policy production data to us for use in underwriting our
Massachusetts personal and commercial automobile policies. CGI Information Systems is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CGI Group, Inc., a provider of information technology services with which we
have done business since the 1970s. On November 20, 2003, we renewed our service agreement with
CGI Information Systems; the term of the agreement now runs until December 31, 2009. CGI Informa-
tion Systems may terminate the service agreement only in the event of a material breach of the
agreement by us or upon our insolvency. The agreement also provides that if CGI Information
Systems is no longer able to make the service available, we have the option to license immediately
the software used by CGI Information Systems for a fee of $250.

In the event that CGI Information Systems becomes unable to provide us these services and
we were to exercise the option to license the software, we would have to transition either to our
own mainframe or to leased computer facilities, which we believe could take up to 30 days and
possibly longer, depending primarily on availability of computer hardware and information tech-
nology personnel. During this period, we would have to process manually renewals and new applica-
tions in-house, which would significantly slow our processing time. Due to the variables involved, we
are unable to estimate the length of the interruption or the expense we would incur in such a case,
but we expect that such a disruption would adversely affect our future customer and agency rela-
tions and may materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

If we were to lose the services of CGI Information Systems and determine that licensing their
software was not practicable, we do believe that alternative sources for these services would be
available. We are unable to estimate whether the annual cost for these services would be higher or
lower than our costs under the cuirent agreement, though we do not believe that the difference for
these services would materially affect our results of operations in future period. We expect, however,
that a transition to an alternate vendor would take a significant amount of time and expense. Due to
the variables involved, we are unable to estimate the length of the interruption or the expense we
would incur in such a case, but we expect that such an interruption could adversely affect our
customer and agency relations, and may materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

We rely on our information technology and telecommunication systems, and the
Sfailure of these systems could materially and adversely affect our business.

Increasingly, our businesses are dependent on computer and Internet-enabled technology.
Although we have and test various disaster recovery plans, a sustained shutdown of one or more of
our facilities, or a failure of one or more of our information technology, telecommunications or other
business systems, could significantly impair our ability to perform our normal functions on a timely
basis. In addition, because our information technology and telecommunications systems interface
with and depend on third party systems, we could experience service denials if demand for such
service exceeds capacity or third party systems fail or experience interruptions. If sustained or
repeated, such a business interruption, systems failure or service denial could result in a deteriora-
tion of our ability to write and process new or renewal business, provide customer service, pay
claims in a timely manner or perform other necessary corporate functions. This could materially and
adversely affect our results of operations and future customer relations.

We maintain insurance on our real property and other physical assets. This insurance will not
fully compensate us for losses that may occur due to disruptions in service as a result of a computer,
data processing or telecommunications system failure that is unrelated to covered property damage,
nor will such insurance necessarily compensate us adequately for all losses resulting from covered
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events. Although we have an agreement that provides us with off-site disaster recovery back-up
systems, we do not have a contingency plan to relocate employees to an alternate location.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We do not have any unresolved written comments regarding our pericdic or current reports
that were received from the staff of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission not less
than 180 days before December 31, 2005.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We conduct our operations for our property and casualty — Massachusetts segment from
approximately 436,000 square feet of space in several buildings that we own in Webster, Massachu-
setts, which is located approximately 50 miles southwest of Boston. Qur data processing and opera-
tional departments are housed in modern office buildings. Our property and casualty - Other than
Massachusetts segment consists primarily of the operations of Commerce West and American
Commerce. Commerce West currently leases approximately 22,000 square feet of office space in
Pleasanton, California. American Commerce conducts its operations from approximately 40,000
square feet of space in a building it owns located on a two acre site in Columbus, Ohic. American
Commerce also leases property at three district claims offices.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As is comumon with property and casualty insurance companies, we are a defendant in
various legal actions arising from the normal course of our business, including claims based on
Massachusetts Chapter 176D and Chapter 93A. See “Settlement of Claims.” Similar provisions exist in
other states where we do business. We consider these proceedings to be ordinary to gperations or
without foundation in fact. We believe that these actions will not have a material adverse effect on
our consolidated financial position.

On January 5, 2005, Commerce filed an action against the Commissioner in Massachusetts
Superior Court appealing an order by the Commissioner adopting new rules that, among other things,
replace the current loss-pooling residual market entity, CAR, with an assigned risk plan. Commerce
contends that the new rules implemented by the Commissioner’s order are inconsistent with existing
Massachusetts insurance laws. Following a hearing on May 2, 2005, the Superior Court ruled, on
June 20, 2005, that the Commissioner did not have the statutory authority to implement an assigned
risk plan. The court’s ruling annulled the Commissioner’s order and vacated the new rules adepted
pursuant to the order. The Commissioner appealed the Superior Court’s decision to the Massachu-
setts Appeals Court. Commerce and the Commissioner then both petitioned for direct appellate
review by the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court (the SJC). The SJC agreed on October 26, 2005
to hear the appeal directly. The parties have submitted briefs to the SJC, and the SJC is expected to
hear oral arguments in April or May, 2006. We cannot predict how the SJC will rule on the appeal,
nor can we predict when this matter will be resolved.

AAA Arizona

As previously disclosed, in 444 Arizona, Inc. v. American Commerce insurance Company
(United States District Court for the District of Arizona), originally filed on May 16, 2005, AAA
Arizona alleges, among other claims, that American Commerce has violated its contract with AAA
Arizona by failing to pay approximately $1,700 in profit sharing that AAA Arizona claims to have
earned during 2004. AAA Arizona also alleges that American Commerce is interfering with AAA
Arizona’s relationship with its members. AAA Arizona seeks an order from the court and an award of
actual and consequential damages. We cannot estimate, as of the date of this Form 10-K, the amount
of consequential damages that may be awarded to AAA Arizona if it is successful. American
Commerce intends to vigorously defend this action, unless a reasonable settlement appears
appropriate.
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In the third quarter of 2005, American Commerce filed a counterclaim against AAA Arizona
and a complaint against the President and Chief Executive Officer of AAA Arizona, who formerly
served as a Director of American Commerce, alleging breach of fiduciary duties, civil conspiracy,
breach of duty of good faith and fair dealing, and other claims relating to the business relationship
between AAA Arizona and a competitor of American Commerce. We cannot predict how the court
will rule on this counterclaim nor can we predict when this matter will be resolved.

Commerce Bancorp

Commerce Insurance, which has been writing business in Massachusetts for more than 33
years under the names and marks 7%e Commerce Insurance Company and Commerce fnsurance
Company, holds Massachusetts state registrations for those marks, but no federal registrations. We
have reason to believe that Commerce Bancorp, Inc., a New York Stock Exchange-listed financial
services company, and its subsidiary Commerce Insurance Services, Inc. d/b/a Commerce Insurance
Brokerage Services, both of Cherry Hill, New Jersey, are now in, or are on the verge of entering,
Massachusetts to provide a variety of insurance services under variants of the mark Commerce
Insurance. Commerce Bancorp has acquired or is seeking to acquire federal registrations for marks
including the words “Commerce” and “/nsurance.” In August 2003, Commerce Bancorp filed applica-
tions in the United States Patent and Trademark Office to register the mark Commerce insurance
Services and the mark Commerce C Insurance Services and related design. Moreover, we understand
that Commerce Bancorp acquired by assignment from the original owner of a federal registration for
the mark Comemerce for use in connection with “insurance agencies featuring home, accident, life,
property, casualty and business insurance” that was issued in 1997,

We are opposing Commerce Bancorp in two separate proceedings, one now pending in
Federal District Court, and the other before the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board of the United
States Patent and Trademark Office. On February 22, 2006, our subsidiary Commerce Insurance filed
a complaint in the Federal District Court for the District of Massachusetts, seeking preliminary and
permanent injunctions and damages against Commerce Bancorp and Commerce Insurance Services
for trade name and service mark infringement and unfair competition under federal statutory law and
for trade name and service mark infringement, unfair competition, and dilution under Massachusetts
statutory and common law. The Commerce Insurance complaint alleges, among other things, that the
use in Massachusetts by Commerce Bancorp and Commerce Insurance Services of marks including
the words “Commerce’ and “Insurance’ will create the likelihood of dilution of our Comermnerce
Insurance marks, because our marks (1) are either inherently distinctive or have acquired secondary
meaning, and (2) are likely to be confused with the Commerce Bancorp and Commerce Insurance
Services use of their marks. A hearing is scheduled for March 20, 2006 on our motion for a prelimi-
nary injunction. In May 2005, we began opposing both of the applications filed by Commerce
Bancorp in a proceeding before the Trademark Trial and Appeal Board. We have asked the Trade-
mark Trial and Appeal Board to suspend the proceeding before it, pending resolution of the Federal
District Court case. We cannot predict whether we will be successful in opposing Commerce
Bancorp and Commerce Insurance Services either in Federal District Court or before the Trademark
Trial and Appeal Board.

If our opposition is unsuccessful, we believe that we will continue to be able to use the
marks Commerce Insurance, The Commerce Insurance Company and Commerce Insurance
Comparny in Massachusetts, but that our business will be harmed if Commerce Bancorp and
Commerce Insurance Services in fact conduct insurance-related business in Massachusetts using the
words “Commerce’ and “Insurance’.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2005.

41




PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHGLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock trades on the NYSE under the symbol “CGL” The high, low and close
prices for shares, as quoted on Bloomberg.com, of our common stock for 2005 and 2004 follow:

2005 2004
High Low Close High Low Close
First Quarter .......cccoeeeevevevnvenvee e $70.00 $57.75 $61.98 $48.54 $39.27 $48.00
Second QUArter ..........coeeveevennns 64.34 57.50 62.11 49.95 42.98 49.37
Third Quarter ........cccevcecvveveveennne 64.23 53.25 58.02 50.94 46.84 48.40
Fourth Quarter ...........cceeveeeenene 59.52 53.63 57.28 62.68 46.98 61.04

As of February 28, 2006, there were approximately 900 stockholders of record of our
common stock. This number does not include beneficial owners whose shares are held in “street
name” or held in accounts for approximately 2,400 participants of our Employee Stock Ownership
Plan.

Our Board of Directors voted to declare four quarterly dividends to stockholders of record
totaling $1.47 per share and $1.31 per share in 2005 and 2004, respectively. On May 20, 2005, the
Board voted to increase the quarterly stockholder dividend from $0.33 to $0.38 per share to stock-
holders of record as of May 31, 2005. Prior to that declaration, we had paid quarterly dividends of
$0.33 per share dating back to May 21, 2004 when the Board voted to increase the dividend from
$0.32 to $0.33 per share. On February 17, 2006, the Board approved an increase in the quarterly divi-
dend from $0.38 per share to $0.45 per share to stockholders of record as of February 27, 2006. We
have paid dividends on our common stock each year since 1994, but there can be no assurance that
we will continue to pay dividends in the future or, if dividends are paid, that they will be in amounts
similar to dividends that we have paid in recent periods.

In November 2001, the Board of Directors authorized a stock buy-back program to purchase
2,000,000 shares of our common stock of which 1,141,700 shares have been purchased. During the
pericd from January 1, 2005 through December 31, 2005, we did not purchase any of cur common
stock under this authorization.

At times, we acquire shares of our common stock through transactions which involved the
exercise of stock options by our officers. Instead of paying us cash to exercise their stock options,
some officers tendered their previcusly owned shares of common stock in our Company, in accor-
dance with the stock option agreement. The average price paid per share is calculated in accordance
with the stock option agreement, and represents the five-day average of our common stock’s daily
high and low trading prices prior to exercise. The maximum number of shares that may yet be
purchased under publicly announced plans are not affected by these transactions as our Board of
Directors determined that such transactions do not apply to its stock buy-back authorization. A
summary of all treasury stock transactions for the fourth quarter of 2005 follows:

Total Average Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of
2005 Number Price Paid Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet be
Period of Shares Per Share Publicly Announced Plan Purchased Under the Plan
October — — — 858,300
November — — — 858,300
December - —_ — 858,300
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A portion of our cash flow consists of dividends received from Commerce Holdings, Inc.
(CHI), which receives dividends from Commerce and Citation. The payment of any cash dividends to
holders of common stock by us therefore depends on the receipt of dividend payments from CHI. To
the extent Commerce and Citation are restricted from paying dividends, CHI will be limited in its
ability to pay dividends to us. The payment of dividends by Commerce and Citation is subject to
limitations imposed by Massachusetts law, as discussed in Item 1 of this report under “Regulation.”

We will provide, upon written request and without charge, a copy of this Form 10-K.
Requests must be directed to:

Name: Randall V. Becker
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Address: 211 Main Street

Webster, MA 01570
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The data below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements,
related footnotes, and other financial information included herein. All dollar amounts in the following

tables are in thousands, except per share data.

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Statement of Earnings Data:
Net premiums WIitten ........cococovovveeeirioneneenes $1,736,191 $1,712,543 $1,6565,499 $ 1,313,014 $1,078,967
Increase in unearned premiums ................... (26,267) (73,710) (109,871) (102,974) (35,315)
Eamed premiums .......ooceoeneeireesiesninenes 1,709,924 1,638,833 1,445,628 1,210,040 1,043,652
Net investment income 123,211 115,711 92,183 98,466 99,563
Premium finance and service fees ............... 28,298 28,281 26,908 21,498 17,819
Amortization of excess of book value of
subsidiary interest over COSt ........ccccecovveennne — — — — 3,389
Net realized investment gains (losses) ........ 22,907 23,628 76,103 (82,386 (10,633)
Other INCOME ....covvcveeeree e rereres 41 118 — 9,500 -
Total TeVeNUES ......ccccovvreveereirrcniirreencenne 1,884 381 1,806,571 1,640,822 1,257,119 1,153,790
Losses and loss adjustment expenses. ......... 1,050,186 1,044,840 1,070,147 909,769 781,631
Policy acquiSition COStS .......ccccovmercnnnerenees 463,297 439,232 350,250 295,324 264,377
Interest expense and amortization of bond
TEES 1ot et 18,293 18,313 1,120 — —
Total expenses 1,631,776 1,502,385 1,421,517 1,205,093 1,046,008
Earnings before income taxes, minority
interest and change in accounting
DFNCIPIE oot 352,605 304,186 219,305 52,026 107,782
Income taxes .....coocneninnenneieece 107,768 89,003 58,068 17,063 18,392
Earnings before minority interest and
change in accounting principle ................. 244,837 215,183 161,237 34,963 89,390
Minority interest in net (earnings) loss of
SUDSIAIATY cvoeeoirieee e (925) (752) (294) bbb 863
Earnings before change in accounting
PINCIPIE oot 243,912 214 431 160,943 35,618 90,253
Change in accounting principle, net of
LAXES covervmmririrerirenions — — — 11,237 —
Net earnings $ 243912 § 214431 $ 160,943 $ 46,755 $ 90,253
Comprehensive inCome ........ccooeeevvveenen. $ 220,699 $ 201,751 164,762 $ 59625 $ 90814
Basic earnings per share:
Before change in accounting principle ....... $ 726 9 654 § 503 $ 1.09 8§ 2.69
Change in accounting principle ...........co.o.... — — — 0.34 —
Net EAITUHNES «.ovvvreeveierercernieriecesreenreecenesnrcensnes $ 726 $ 654 $ 503 § 143 $ 2.69
Diluted earnings per share:
Before change in accounting principle ....... $ 721 § 6.561 § 499 § 1.08 $ 2.67
Change in accounting principle ................... — — — 0.34 —
Net aIMINGS «..ovoveeeriereeierceeere e $ 721 $ 651 $ 499 § 142 % 2.67
Cash dividends paid per share ..........o........ $ 147 § 131 % 127 $ 1.23 § 1.19
2005 2004 2003 2002 2041
Balance Sheet Data:
Total INVESTMENES .....oovervierireererirrierernieeeeens $2,765,329 $2,527,733 $2,211,099 $1,613439 $1,530,713
Premiums receivable .... 475,112 459,775 408,894 297,610 246,221
TOtal ASSELS .eovvveveeiirerieeereirerceieimniercecre e eaenes 3,927,010 3,612,243 3,211,286 2,419,073 2,187,143
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment
EXPENSES vovieenierrerteererireenrsesieseesereseasssensenses 989,196 990,260 957,353 815,626 695,192
Unearned premiums 933,160 902,566 810,462 687,148 563,456
Bonds payable ............... 298,388 208,186 297,984 — —
Stockholders’ equity 1,305,069 1,116,156 912,211 790,052 809,433
Stockholders’ equity per share .................... 38.78 33.50 28.45 24.60 2443
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The purpose of the following discussion and analysis is to provide you with information that
will assist you in understanding our financial condition and results of operations as reported in our
consolidated financial statements. Therefore, the following should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K.

Business Overview

We provide personal and commercial property and casualty insurance primarily in Massachu-
setts and in other states. Our core product lines are personal automobile, homeowners, and commer-
cial automobile. We market our products exclusively through our netwerk of independent agents in
all states, except California, where we use agents and brokers. Our primary business strategy is to
focus on the personal automobile insurance market in Massachusetts and to grow and diversify by
increasing the proportion of our business written in other states in which we currently have a signifi-
cant presence, primarily from Commerce West and American Commerce.

We manage our business in four reportable segments: property and casualty insurance —
Massachusetts; property and casualty insurance — other than Massachusetts; real estate and commer-
cial lending; and, corporate and other.

Our ability to capitalize on our business strengths and implement our strategies is subject to
particular risks. For a discussion of these risks, see Item 1A, Risk Factors, contained elsewhere in
this Form 10-K.

Massachusetts Regulatory Environment and Commonwealth Automobile Reinsurers (CAR)
Overview

The Massachusetts regulatory environment for personal automobile insurance is character-
ized by the following key principles:

e requiring personal automobile insurers to issue a policy to any eligible applicant who
seeks one, known as the “take all comers” law,

o fixing maximum personal automobile rates, which has the effect of keeping premiums
artificially low on specific high risk segments of the market, such as urban and youthful
drivers, effectively imposing higher premiums on lower risk segments,

» assigning certain agents that have not been able to obtain a voluntary contract with
another insurer, known as Exclusive Representative Producers, or ERPs, to servicing
carriers on the basis of market share,

* apportioning losses incurred by the state-mandated residual market run by Cormmon-
wealth Automobile Reinsurers, known as CAR,

+ mandating that higher compulsory and optional coverages be offered to all eligible
drivers, and

» establishes minimum agency commissions.
A significant aspect of our automobile insurance business relates to our interaction with
CAR, which enables us and the other participating servicing carriers to reinsure any automobile risk

which is perceived to be under-priced. Since its inception, CAR has annually generated significant
underwriting losses, primarily in the personal automobile pool. All companies writing automobile
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insurance in Massachusetts share in the underwriting results of CAR business for their respective
product line or lines.

Member companies of CAR have joint and several liabilities for the obligations of CAR. If
one member of CAR fails to pay its assessinents, the remaining members will be required to pay the
pro-rata share of the member who fails to pay its obligations. As of December 31, 2005, we were not
aware of any current CAR member company which has failed to meet its obligations.

CAR Regulatory Reform

There have been three related initiatives in recent pericds to change significantly the manner
in which the Massachusetts regulation of personal automobile insurance addresses risks which the
industry perceives to be under-priced in the cuirent regulatory environment. In December 2004, the
Massachusetts Insurance Commissioner adopted new regulations that, among other things, would
have replaced the CAR loss-pooling residual market structure with an assigned risk nlan. We
appealed the Commissioner’s order in January 2005, contending that the new regulations are incon-
sistent with existing Massachusetts insurance laws. The Superior Court ruled in June 2005 that the
Commissioner did not have the statutory authority to implement an assigned risk plan. The court's
ruling annulled the Commissioner’s order and vacated the new regulations adopted pursuant to the
order. The Commissioner appealed the Superior Court’s decision to the Massachusetts Appeals Court.
We and the Commissioner both petitioned for direct appellate review by the Massachusetts Supreme
Judicial Court (the SJC). The SJC agreed on October 26, 2005 to hear the appeal directly. The parties
have submitted briefs to the SJIC and the SJC is expected to hear oral arguments in April or May,
2006. We cannot predict how the SJC will rule on the appeal, nor can we predict when this matter
will be resolved. However, we believe that even if the Commissioner’s appeal is upheld by the SJC, it
is unlikely that the new regulations in the Commissioner’s order will be implemented retroactive to
January 1, 2005 in light of the recent ERP redistribution discussed below. In our 2004 Form 10-K, we
provided an estimate of the impact of the December 31, 2004 Commissioner’s order. However, based
on the uncertainty of the resclution of the court case and the impact of the redistribution, the orior
estimate is no longer valid and we are unable to provide a new estimate of the impact of the
Commissioner’s order.

In addition to the Commissioner’s crder under appeal, the Massachusetts Governor has intro-
duced legislation intended to reform CAR. Among other things, this proposed legislation would give
the Commissioner the authority to create an assigned risk plan and allow for the gradual phase-in of
competitively set personal automobile rates. We cannot determine at this time whether the
Governor’s reform proposal will be acted on by the Legislature or, if passed, how it may affect our
financial condition and results of operations.

On September 30, 2005, the Commissioner directed that CAR implement a plan to redis-
tribute personal automobile ERPs in an attempt to establish, for all Servicing Carriers, overall parity
in the quantity and quality of ERP exposures. The redistribution plan sought to achieve parity in
average loss ratio by giving each Servicing Carrier a proportionate mix of the ERPs with high and
low loss ratios commensurate with the Servicing Carrier’s voluntary Massachusetts business. The
final plan called for about 133 ERPs statewide, who are writing business only with CAR, to be redis-
tributed among different carriers. The redistribution plan for ERPs, as adopted by the CAR Governing
Committee on November 16 and December 14, 2005, was approved by the Commissicner on January 27,
2006. The plan is effective March 1, 2006 for all new business and May 1, 2006 for all renewal busi-
ness with all market activity through the close of business January 26, 2006 being reflected in the
redistribution. The redistribution plan called for 58 ERPs to be re-assigned from us to other carriers.
These ERPs collectively had 61,674 written exposures, with loss ratios lower than the three-year
average loss ratio for all ERPs statewide. Of these 58 ERPs, we offered 51 voluntary contracts, and
49 of the ERPs accepted the offer. These 49 ERPs, who are now our voluntary agents, have 52,796
written exposures. Also resulting from the redistribution plan, 27 new ERPs with loss ratios greater
than the three-year average loss ratio for all ERPs, whose written exposures totaled 56,888, were re-
assigned from other carriers to us. . . . o .
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While we believe it is premature to estimate the impact of the redistribution plan on our
future financial results, we have estimated the pro-forma impact of the redistribution plan on our
2005 results utilizing currently available information as if the redistribution plan became effective on
January 1, 2005. Based on our analysis of the impact of the redistribution, we estimate that
Commerce would have incurred additional pre-tax expense ranging between $7,600 and $10,300,
depending upon the level of exposures that would be ceded to CAR. These amounts are significantly
affected by the loss ratios of the ERPs assigned to us and the size of the CAR deficit, which CAR
currently estimates at $155,000 for CAR policy year 2005, and we do not include the financial impact
of future assignment of additional ERPs that we may have received due to providing voluntary
contracts to certain low loss ratio ERPs as noted above. Lastly, offsetting the estimated increased
pre-tax expense, we expect that our agent profit sharing expenses would have declined between
$2,800 and $3,800, resulting in a net estimated pro-forma impact of between $4,800 and $6,500 addi-
tional pre-tax expense for the redistribution plan.

Our Revenues and Expenses
Our revenue principally reflects:
« earned premiums, consisting of:
— premiums that we receive from sales by our agents of property and casualty
insurance policies, primarily personal automobile, homeowners and commercial

automobile, which we refer to as direct premiums written, plus

— premiums we receive from insurance policies that we assume, primarily from
CAR, which we refer to as assumed premiums, /ess

— the portion of our premiums that is ceded to CAR and other reinsurers, which we
refer to as ceded premiums, Jess

— the change in the portion of premiums that will not be recognized as income for
accounting purposes until a future period, which we refer to as unearned
premiums;

* investment income that we earn on our invested assets;

¢ premium finance charges and service fee income that we earn in connection with the
billing and deferral of premium payments; and

+ realized investment gains and losses.

Our expenses principally reflect:

» incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses (which we sometimes refer to as LAE),
including estimates for losses incurred during the period but not yet reported to us and
changes in estimates from prior periods related to direct and assumed business, less the

portion of those incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses that are ceded to other
insurers; and

* policy acquisition costs, including agent compensation and general and administrative
costs, such as salaries and benefits, and advertising that are not deferred for accounting
purposes to a future period.

Our Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make esti-
mates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
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contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
We consider the following accounting policies, which are especially dependent upon our judgments

and estimates, to be critical to the preparation of our financial statements.

Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Fxpenses. The liability for loss and loss adjustment
expenses represents our best estimate of the ultimate net cost of all loss and loss adjustment
expenses incurred after reinsurance and amounts estimated to be recoverable through salvage and
subrogation. The estimate for the ultimate net cost of all losses incurred through the balance sheet
date includes the adjusted case estimates for losses, incurred but not reported (IBNR) losses, salvage
and subrogation recoverable and a reserve for LAE. In arriving at our best estimate, we begin with
the aggregate of individual case reserves and then make adjustments to these amounts on a line of
business basis. These adjustments to the aggregate case reserves by line of business are made based
on analyses performed by us. The entire liability for unpaid losses and LAE is also separately
reviewed quarterly and annually by our actuarial department. Liability estimates are continually
analyzed and updated, and therefore, the ultimate liability may be more or less than the current esti-
mate. The effects of changes in the estimates are included in the results of operations in the period
in which the estimates are revised.

The claim cycle begins when a claim is reported to us and claims personnel establish a “case
reserve” for the estimated amount of our exposure without regard to injury causality, third party
liability or potential recoveries. The amount of the reserve is primarily based upon an evaluation of
the type of claim involved, the circumstances surrounding the claim and the policy provisions
relating to the loss. This estimate reflects the informed judgment of such personnel based on the
experience and knowledge of the claims personnel adjusting the claim. During the loss adjustment
period, these case basis estimates are revised as deemed necessary by our claims department
personnel based on subsequent developments and periodic reviews of the claim.

In accordance with industry practice, we also maintain reserves for estimated IBNR, salvage
and subrogation recoverable and LAE. These reserves are determined based on historical information
and our experience. Adjustments to these reserves are made periodically to take into account
changes in the volume of policies written, claims frequency, severity and payment patterns, the mix
of business, claims processing and other items that can be expected to affect our liability for losses
and LAE over time.

When reviewing the liability for unpaid losses and LAE, we analyze historical data and esti-
mate the impact of various factors such as:

° payment trends;
* loss expense per exposure;
¢ our historical loss experience and that of the industry;
» frequency and severity trends; and
° legislative enactments, judicial decisions, legal developments in the imposition of
damages, and changes and trends in general eccnomic conditions, including the effects of
inflation and recession.
This process assumes that past experience, adjusted for the effects of cuirent developments
and anticipated trends, is an appropriate basis for predicting future events. There is no precise
method, however, for subsequently evaluating the impact of any specific factor on the adequacy of

reserves, because the eventual development of reserves is affected by many factors, as noted above.

We determine our net liability estimate for losses and LAE by using individual estimates of
reported claims adjusted for our best estimate by line of business and a review of these results by
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our actuarial area using generally accepted actuarial reserving techniques. After taking into account
all relevant factors, we believe that, based on existing information, the provision for losses and LAE
at December 31, 2005 is adequate to cover the ultimate net cost of losses and claims incurred as of
that date. The ultimate liability, however, may be greater or lower than established reserves. If the
ultimate payment is greater than or less than our estimated liability for losses and LAE, we will incur
additional expense or income, as appropriate, which may have a material impact on our results of
operations.

Our financial management personnel calculate our estimate independently from those
amounts calculated by our actuaries, and therefore, the final results are usually different. We estimate
our amounts primarily by reviewing historical loss and LAE data, focusing mainly on payment data.
We also review and compare the most recent loss frequency, severity, and payment data to historical
trends in an attempt to determine if patterns are remaining consistent or not. We attempt to establish
our reserve estimate as close as possible to the amount required for the ultimate future payments
necessary to settle all losses. Our aggregate actuarial estimate for the loss and LAE reserves, on a
consolidated basis and net of reinsurance recoverable, ranges from a low of $764,600 to a high of
$877,900, as of December 31, 2005. Our financial statement loss and LAE reserves net of reinsurance,
based on our best estimate, were established at $834,699 for that date.

Investments and Other-than-Temporary fmpairments. The carrying values of investments in
fixed maturities, which include taxable and non-taxable bonds, and investments in common and
preferred stocks, are derived from market prices supplied by our investment custodian or, when no
price is provided by the custodian, from a third party valuation. Fair market value of fixed maturities
and equity securities is based on quoted market prices. Unrealized investment gains and losses on
common and preferred stocks and fixed maturities, to the extent that there is no other-than-tempo-
rary impairment of value, are credited or charged, net of any tax effect, to a separate component of
stockholders’ equity, known as “net accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),” until realized.

We review all security holdings on a quarterly basis for potential other-than-temporary
impairments due to declines in market value in accordance with GAAP. In general, unrealized losses
resulting from an increase in interest rates will not necessarily lead to an other-than-temporary write-
down. As part of this process, we consider any significant market declines in the context of the
overall market and also in relation to the outlook for the specific issuer of the security and the
issuer’s industry. Each quarter, we review all securities whose market values have declined below
book price. From a quantitative standpoint, we review all securities that have declined more than
20% below book price and have remained so for two consecutive quarters as potentially in need of a
write-down. Any other security that we view as impaired for a significant period of time is also a
candidate for a write-down, even if the percentage decline is less than 20%. In addition, we perform
the following quarterly impairment review of our portfolio:

» We review all holdings with an unrealized loss of over $250, or a fair market value that is
more than 20% below cost.

«  We review all holdings with unrealized losses over $100, or a fair market value that is
more than 10% below cost, for securities at a continuous loss position period of 12 to 36
months.

+  We review all securities that have been at a continuous loss position for 36 months or
more.

« We review both issue specific data and general market data for all perpetual preferred
stocks that have been at a continuous loss position for over 12 months.

* Generally, we consider all AAA/AA rated U.S. Government securities with market values

less than cost as temporarily impaired due to our intent and ability to hold these securi-
ties to recovery.
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*  We consider market activity between our quarter-end date and earnings release date in
our evaluation.

If a security is deemed other-than-temporarily impaired, we adjust the security’s cost basis to
market value through realized loss based on publicly available prices or, in the absence of such infor-
mation, on a price supplied by a broker. There is a risk that we may assess an otherthan-temporary
decline in market value as being temporary and, consequently, not charge the impairment toc our
earnings, which could have a significant impact on our future earnings and financial position.

For our investment in any closed-end preferred stock mutual fund in which we own 20% or
more of the fund's shares, the equity method of accounting requires us to categorize as a realized
investment gain or loss the change in the net asset value of that fund from the beginning of the
current fiscal year. Our investment in these funds has had a material effect on our realized gains and
losses in recent years and may have caused our net earnings to be more volatile than those of
similar companies. During 2004, we decreased our ownership below 20% in all but one closed-end
preferred stock mutual fund. During 2005, one additional mutual fund exceeded the 20% threshold. At
December 31, 2005, we had two closed-end preferred stock mutual funds in which we owned more
than 20%.

Massachusetts Personal Automobile Insurance

Overview. We have been the largest writer of personal property and casualty insurance in
Massachusetts in terms of market share of direct premiums written since 1990. Our estimated share
of the Massachusetts personal automobile market increased to 29.9% for the year ended December 31,
2005, significantly exceeding our two nearest competitors, Safety Insurance Group, Inc. and Arbella
Insurance Group, who maintained an estimated 11.3% and 9.1% market shares, respectively.

In Massachusetts, private passenger automobile insurance is subject to extensive regulation.
Owners of automobiles are generally required to demonstrate certain minimum automobile insurance
coverages as a prerequisite to registering any automobile. With very limited exceptions, private
passenger automobile insurers are required by law to issue a policy to any applicant seeking to
obtain such coverages, commonly known as the “take all comers” law. Marketing and underwriting
strategies for companies operating in Massachusetts are limited by maximum premium rates and
minimum agency commission levels for personal automobile insurance, both of which are mandated
by the Commissioner.

Changes in Premium Rates. For the two-year period of 2003 and 2004, average mandated
Massachusetts personal automobile insurance premium rates increased an average of 2.6% per year.
However, the Commissioner approved average decreases of 8.7% for 2006 and 1.7% for 2005. Coin-
ciding with the 2006 and 2005 rate decisions, the Commissioner also approved a 1.5% and 4.8%
increase, respectively, in the commission agents receive for selling private passenger automobile
insurance. The following table shows the state-mandated average rate change, the actual average
revenue change per exposure and our average revenue change per exposure as estimated for 2006
and for the three previous years in Massachusetts.

Actual State

State Mandated Average Commerce Average
Average Revenue Change Revenue Change
Year Rate Change® Per Exposure®® Per Exposure
20060 oo (8.7)% (5.5)% (5.8)%
2205 A.7)% 1.5 % : 0.4 %
2004 ..o 25 % 7.0 % 5.8 %
2003 e 2.7% 81 % 7.9 %

(1) Estimated for actual state and Commerce average revenue change per exposure.
(2) Based on Massachusetts Division of Insurance filings.
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Although mandated average personal automobile premium rates decreased 1.7% in 2005, our
average revenue per exposure increased 0.4%. We believe that the relative increase for 2005 as
compared to the Commissioner’s state mandated average rate resulted primarily from;:

* the fact that our mix of personal automobile coverage differs from that of the industry;
and

« changes to our distribution of risks by class, territory and coverage, including changes
resulting from the purchase of new, more expensive automobiles, which were not
factored into the Commissioner’s rate increase.

The actual state average revenue change per exposure represents the change in the average premium
paid by drivers in Massachusetts, as opposed to the state mandated average rate change. As can be
seen above, our 2006 average revenue change per exposure corresponds more closely to the actual
state average revenue change. The primary reason for this is that both take into account newer vehi-
cles, as compared to the state mandated average rate change, which does not.

The Commissioner approved an 8.7% decrease in state mandated average personal automo-
bile insurance premium rate for 2006. Management estimates that this will translate into a 5.8%
decline in the average revenue per exposure for the upcoming year. We estimate the 2006 net pre-tax
impact of the 5.8% decrease in our 2006 average revenue per exposure, partially offset by the
remaining effects of the 2005 0.4% increase in average revenue per exposure, to be approximately
$27,000. The majority of the impact will occur during the last two quarters of 2006 as premiums for
policies with 2006 effective dates become earned.

Apinity Group Marketing. Since 1995, we have been a leader in affinity group marketing in
Massachusetts, through agreements with the three American Automobile Association Clubs operating
in Massachusetts, offering discounts on private passenger automobile insurance to the clubs’
members who reside in the state. A 5% discount was approved by the Commissioner for policies
effective January 1, 2006. This same discount existed in 2005. Based on information provided to us
by the AAA clubs operating in Massachusetts, we believe that membership in these clubs represents
approximately one-third of the Massachusetts motoring public. The following table presents total
direct premiums written attributable to the AAA clubs’ group business in Massachusetts for the years
ended December 31:

2005 2004 2003
Total AAA-Massachusetts direct premiums written ................ $ 727,200 $ 725,600 $ 691,700
Percentage of total direct premiums Written .........ccoceveveveecnen, 38.8% 39.5% 41.7%
Percentage of Massachusetts direct personal automobile
PrEMIUINS WIIEEEIL Looviivieeiiiiiiveerineite e reeesiats e e rnseeaeeneesrneenen s 53.2% 54.7% 58.0%
Total AAA-Massachusetts eXpPOSULES .....ccccocvvveeeeeveerrinnreresivesseens 647,000 645,000 649,000
Percentage of Massachusetts eXpoSures ..., 53.9% 55.0% 58.1%

The decreasing percentages since 2003 are attributed to a higher rate of increase in non-
affinity group business. Of the total Massachusetts automobile exposures written through the AAA
affinity group program by us in 2005, approximately 14.8% were written through insurance agencies
owned by the AAA clubs (8.0% of our total Massachusetts automobile exposures). The remaining
85.2% of the AAA group program was written through our network of independent agents.

Our Performance Measures
We evaluate our operations by monitoring key measures of growth and profitability. We
measure our growth by examining our direct premiums written as well as increases in exposures and

policies. We generally measure our operating results in accordance with accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) by examining our net earnings, return on
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equity (ROE), and our loss and LAE, underwriting expense and combined ratios on a consclidated
basis. Our key measures include:

o Keturn on Equity. Return on equity is net eamings divided by stockholders’ equity at the
beginning of the period.

«  Direct Premiums Writlen. Direct premiums written is the sum of the total policy
premiums, net of cancellations, associated with policies underwritten and issued by our
insurance subsidiaries. We use direct premiums written, which includes premiums that we
cede to CAR and other reinsurers, as a measure of the underlying growth of our insur-
ance business from period to period.

o [Direct Farned Premiums. Direct earned premiums are the portion of direct premiums
written over the preceding twelve-month period equal to the expired portion of policies
and recognized as income during an accounting period.

o Net Investment Income. Net investment income represents earnings on our investment
portfolio less expenses. We rely on after-tax investment income as a significant source of
net earnings since we generally achieve a combined ratio (see below) of slightly less than
100%.

o Loss and LAF Ratio. The loss and LAE ratio is the percentage of losses and loss adjust-
ment expenses (including corporate expenses) incurred to earned premiums. We calculate
this ratio net of our reinsurance recoveries. We use this ratio as a measure of the overall
underwriting profitability of the insurance business we write and to assess the adequacy
of our pricing.

o Underwriting Expense Ratio. The underwriting expense ratic is the percentage of under-
writing expenses (including corporate expenses) incurred to net premiums written. Under-
writing expenses are the aggregate of policy acquisition costs, including commissions, and
the portion of administrative, general and other expenses attributable to underwriting
operations. In addition, underwriting expenses are grossed-up for any change in deferred
acquisition costs.

o Combined Ratio. The combined ratio is the sum of the loss and LAE ratio and the under-
writing expense ratio and measures a company’s overall underwriting profit. If the
combined ratio is at or above 100%, an insurance company cannot be profitable without
investment income, and may not be profitable if investment income is insufficient. We use
the combined ratio in evaluating our overall underwriting profitability and for comparing
our profitability to that of our competitors.

Results of Operations

Our key operating measures for the years ended December 31 follow (dollars in millions,
except earnings per share):

2005 2004 2003
Diluted earnings per Share .......ooeoveoveecrnrernnnenns $ 721 $ 651 $ 499
Retum on eqUity ..coocoveeviierecierereccereve e 21.9% 23.5% 20.4%
Direct premiums WIitten ........oooecivereeeenreernsneeeenas $1,874.2 $1,838.2 $ 1,659.0
Direct earned premiums ......cccoovvvirnerercencvinnennens 1,849.8 1,753.3 1,544.1
Net investment INCOME .....coccovevvervreerecenrerrenenes 123.2 115.7 92.2
Underwriting expense ratio .........coienrenan 27.3% 26.2% 23.5%
Loss and LAE ratio ...ococveeeenivrereeceecrrnenns 61.4% 63.8% 74.0%
Combined ratio ...cccvveverenirvenrec e 88.7% 90.0% 97.5%
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Year Ended 2005 Compared to Year Ended 2004

The significant increase in earnings in 2005 over 2004 was primarily due to the decrease in
our loss ratio. We attribute the improvement in our loss ratio to several factors:

+ improved current year results and continued favorable prior years’ loss development from
CAR,

* an increase in average earned premium revenue per automobile (see discussion regarding
premium results), and

¢ a decrease in the current year personal and commercial automobile bodily injury claim
frequency.

These items were partially offset by reduced favorable voluntary loss reserve development compared
to 2004.

The effect of our improved loss ratio on 2005 earnings was partially offset by the increase in
our underwriting ratio. This increase was driven by a significant increase in our agents’ profit sharing
expense in 2005 and slightly higher 2005 policy year mandated Massachuseits personal automobile
commission rates, both partially offset by a decrease in our assessment from the Massachusetts
Insurance Insolvency Fund. The increase in agents’ profit sharing expense is the result of improved
underwriting results in 2005 versus 2004.

The market price for our common stock and our financial results directly affects our expense
related to stock options, book value awards (BVAs) and incentive awards (IAs), respectively. Our
stock option expense primarily represents options granted to both employees and American
Commerce agents. The majority of this expense is related to options granted to American Commerce
agents. See Note I of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information. An increase
in the market value of our stock will increase the expense we recognize for options subject to vari-
able accounting. Similarly, an increase in our net income will increase the value of, and therefore the
expense we recognize for, outstanding BVAs and IAs. We record these expenses in three separate line
items on our income statement — losses and loss adjustment expenses, policy acquisition costs and
net investment income. The stock option, BVA and [A expenses recorded in each line item for the
years ended December 31 follow:

2005 2004
Losses and loss adjustment eXpenses .........coeeveerereeens $ 16,303 $ 20,383
Policy acquisition COSES ....ccccecviivincicncrenienic e 13,963 17,161
Net investment INCOME ......ccccecvviiiiniecein e e, 187 185
Total stock option, BVA and IA expenses .............. $ 30,453 $ 37,729

Premium Results

For a detailed breakdown on direct premiums written and earned, see Note P —~ Segment
Information in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Massachusetts Segment

We experienced growth in direct premiums written in the Massachusetts segment of 3.2%,
with increases in our personal automobile and homeowners lines of business. Growth in personal
automobile business accounted for approximately 756% of the segment’s increase. Personal automobile
business growth was a result of a 2.2% increase in the number of written exposures coupled with a
0.4% increase in average written premium per written exposure. The agents assigned to us by CAR
accounted for 54.4% of the written exposure increase. We believe that voluntary agents are currently
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very cautious in moving books of business between carriers due to the uncertainties created by CAR
reform proposals.

Our year-to-date homeowners growth was from a 10.5% increase in average premium per
policy partially offset by a 0.6% decrease in the number of policies written. OQur year-to-date coramer-
cial automobile decline was from a 2.0% decrease in average premium per policy partially offset by a
0.7% increase in policies written. Average premium per policy has declined due to more competitive
pricing in a softening market.

Other Than Massachuselts Segmernt

Total direct written premiums for the other-than-Massachusetts segment declined $15,297, or
6.0%. The personal automobile decline accounted for the majority of this decrease, primarily as the
result of the decline in premiums in Arizona due to the loss of AAA Arizona's affinity business. Direct
written premiums from personal automaobile policies in Arizona declined $14,400, or 36.6%, and poli-
cies in force declined 65.5%. We project an additicnal decline of $14,000, or 56.5%, during 2005. Amer-
ican Commerce and Commerce West will continue to write business in Arizona; however, ACIC will
no longer market its products through AAA Arizona. In general, we are lowering rates in states in
which we write business in response to competitive pressures. Commercial automobile premiums
increased over 9.0% while homeowners and other lines were basically unchanged. The increase in the
commercial automobile category primarily resulted from an 11.9% increase in the number of policies
in force at Commerce West.

Net Investment Income
Our net investment income for the year ended 2005 increased $7,500, or 6.5% compared to
2004. Net investment income is affected by the composition of our investment portfolio and yields on

those investments.

The compesition of our investment portfolio, at cost, at December 31 follows:

% of % of
2005 Total 2004 Total
Fixed maturities™ ........cccvvimmmnicriiniecnnnneeniees $ 2,037,127 73.6% $ 1,674,849 67.1%
Preferred StOCKS i 395,099 14.3 421,247 16.9
Common StOCKS .ivvvecieiirre et 103,472 3.8 74,865 3.0
Preferred stock mutual funds ........ooeevevvvecennennne 88,859 3.2 54,653 2.2
Mortgages and collateral notes ........cccoevceeerncee 17,801 0.6 15,107 0.6
Cash and cash equivalents ... 97,942 3.5 220,988 8.9
Other INVESTIMENTS ...cc.ocoveveererirr e siieeeeraes 28,976 1.0 32,277 1.3
Total INVESEMENTS 1ovveveeeeeeriicveeecere e $ 2,769,276 100.0% $ 2,493,986 100.0%

(a) Fixed maturities include mortgage-backed bonds, corporate bonds, U.S. Treasury bonds and
notes and tax-exempt state and municipal bonds.
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Key measures of net investment income for the years ended December 31 follow:

Years Ended

Investment Return: 2005 2004
Average month-end investments (At COSTL) .....cccovrrvrirviiereren e e $ 2,661,190 $2,319,170
Net investment income before tax .......cocveivivin e 123 211 115,711
Net investment income after-tax .........cccceeronineiencnnen e 95,359 90,756
Net investment income as a percentage of average net investments

(B COSE) crreeeerieiie et erre e e tb et e et ae e e e b aebe e er e esaebseserbeabe b atebesteseernen 4.6% 5.0%
Net investment income after-tax as a percentage of average net

INVESEMENES (AL COSL) cvviiiiririiiiceiieeee sttt rre et sae s e e esreanseees 3.6% 3.9%

The increase in our net investment income in 2005 was primarily due to increased invested
assets partially offset by lower overall yields. The increase in invested assets is primarily attributable
to increased operating cash flows. The decrease in yields corresponds with the decline in duration of
our fixed maturity portfolio in which we sold higher yielding investment securities. This is particu-
larly true in the corporate and municipal bonds segments, where pre-tax yields declined 120 to 70
basis points, respectively.

PRealized Investment Gains and Losses

Net realized investment gains (losses) for the years ended December 31 follow:

2005 2004 Change
Transaction net gains (losses):
Fixed MAaturity SECUITEES ..oviioveeeierecteereeeeitee s eres e eeer st snssenane $ 21,135 $ 12,733 $ 8,402
EQUIty SECUTITIES ..vieoiiiiieeie it eresae s 4,464 19,085 (14,621)
Venture capital funds ... 837 3,668 (2,831)
Other INVESTIMENES .....cccvvveiriiiiiierenre et st eas 627 (205) 832
Transaction Net aINS .....cccvoeveiiiiricii e 27,063 35,281 (8,218)
Other-than-temporary impairment losses:
Fixed maturity SECUTHIES .coceivievieeiicre e (305) (14,189) 13,884
EQUItY SECUTILIES ..vovviivveieieeiecei ettt st ennes (4,547) (760) (3,787)
Total other-than-temporary impairment 10SSeS .....ccocecveevrvenen. (4,852) (14,949 10,097
Equity in earnings of closed-end preferred stock mutual funds .. 696 3,296 (2,600)
Net realized investment gains included in net earnings ........ $ 22,907 $ 23,628 $ (72D

Total realized gains were relatively flat from 2005 as compared to 2004. Impairment losses
decreased by $10,097 but were offset by a $8,218 decline in transaction gains and a $2,600 decline in
the equity in earnings of the closed-end preferred stock mutual funds. Once again in 2005, we were
able to realize significant investment gains in long duration municipal bonds and asset-backed invest-
ments. We maintain the flexibility to realize capital gains when we feel it is a benefit for our long-
term, after-tax return.

Losses and Loss Adjustment Fxpenses

Our loss ratio declined to 61.4% for 2005 from 63.8% the prior year. The improvement was
the result of several factors, including:

+ improved current year results and continued favorable prior years’ loss development from
CAR,

* an increase in average earned premium revenue per automobile, and
+ a decrease in the current year personal and commercial automobile bodily injury claim

frequency.
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Redundancies related to prior years for CAR Private Passenger Auto Liability accounted for approxi-
mately one-half of the 2.4% decrease in the loss ratio from 2004. These items were partially offset by
reduced favorable voluntary loss reserve develecpment compared to 2004.

A reconciliation of beginning and ending reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses
for the years ended December 31, net of reinsurance deductions from all reinsurers including CAR,
follows:

2005 2004 2003
Incurred losses and LAE:
Provision for insured events of the current year .......... $1,111,583 $1,101,871 $ 1,095,371
Decrease in provision for insured events of
DTIOT FEAIS wevvvvieriirirerererintereieirensesessnesveesiesssaensessnsenssassseeins (61,397) (57,031 (25,224)
Total incurred losses and LAE .......c.cccoovevveeiveciecnn, 1,050,186 1,044,840 1,070,147
Payments:
Losses and LAE attributable to insured events of
The CUITENE YEAT .ocviieecveei ettt eebe e 672,894 637,373 625,803
Losses and LAE attributable to insured events of
DTIOE FEATS orvevieririeeeeineriiraeesrrrsstesseasaassestasnsssaasesrnessesrans 372,719 369,684 330,349
Total PAVINENES ...cviveeieveceete ettt 1,045,613 1,007,057 956,152
Change in loss and LAE reserves during the year ............ 4,573 37,783 113,995
Loss and LAE reserves prior to the effect of ceded
reinsurance recoverable, beginning of year .......c.ccceene.ne 830,126 792,343 678,348
Loss and LAE reserves prior to the effect of ceded
reinsurance recoverable, end of year ........cccceceevvivvinenne. 834,699 830,126 792,343
Ceded reinsurance recoverable .....iicoionieninennnecennns 154,497 160,134 165,010
Loss and LAE reserves, end of Year ......cccoevvvvveeererviveninns $ 989,196 $ 990,260 $ 957,353

As a result of changes in estimates of insured events in prior years, the provision for loss
and LAE decreased $61,397 for the year ended 2005 and $57,031 for the year ended 2004. The favor-
able development is due primarily to lower than anticipated losses related to the personal automobile
liability, the automobile physical damage and the commercial multiple peril lines of business. Condi-
tions and trends that have affected development in the past may not necessarily occur in the future.
Accordingly, it may not be appropriate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies based upon
these developments. The amounts we will ultimately incur from loss and loss adjustment expenses
could differ materially in the near term from the amounts recorded.

Approximately $54,370 in personal automobile liability redundancies developed for the year
ended 2005, with 92% of this amount coming from the 2004, 2003 and 2002 accident years. The
primary reason for the redundancies in this area is that claim severity came in better than we antici-
pated, coupled with significant redundancies from CAR, which accounted for approximately 37% of
the total automobile liability redundancy. Automobile physical damage had approximately $7,447 in
redundancies chiefly related to the 2004 accident year, approximately 60% of which was related to
CAR. In 2005, we also experienced redundancies of $1,733 for the commercial multiple peril line of
business, 62% of which related to the 2004 accident year. Partially offsetting these redundancies was
a $3,467 deficiency in commercial automobile business, primarily related to CAR for the 2004 acci-
dent year. Various redundancies and deficiencies for the other lines of business and accident years
combined for the remaining approximately $1,314 net redundancy.

As a result of changes in estimates of insured events in prior years, the provision for loss
and LAE decreased $57,031 for the year ended 2004 and $25,224 for the year ended 2003. The favor-
able development is due primarily to lower than anticipated losses related to the personal automobile
liability, the automobile physical damage and the commercial multiple peril lines of business. Condi-
tions and trends that have affected development in the past may not necessarily occur in the future.
Accordingly, it may not be appropriate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies based upon
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these developments. The amounts we will ultimately incur from loss and loss adjustment expenses
could differ materially in the near term from the amounts recorded.

Approximately $51,027 in personal automobile liability redundancies developed for the year
ended 2004, with 98.0% of this amount coming from the 2003, 2002 and 2001 accident years. The
primary reason for the redundancies in this area is that claim severity came in better than we antici-
pated. The redundancy for personal automobile liability that related to CAR accounted for approxi-
mately 2.5% of the total. Automobile physical damage had approximately $2,334 in redundancies
related to the 2003 accident year approximately 98% of which was related to CAR. In 2004, we also
experienced redundancies of $2,222 for the commercial multiple peril line of business, half of which
related to the 1996 accident year. Various redundancies and deficiencies for the other lines of busi-
ness and accident years combined for the remaining approximately $1,448 net redundancy.

The following sensitivity analysis presents the pro forma effect of a one percentage point
change in our loss and LAE reserves (prior to the effect of ceded reinsurance recoverable) at
December 31, 2005:

Loss and LAE Pro forma Pro forma Percentage
Hypothetical Change in Loss Reserve Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease) in
and LAE Reserve Estimate Estimate, Net in Net Earnings‘? Stockholders’ Equity™
196 INCTEASE .oceeviereieecieiercecn e $843,046 $(5,426) (0.4)%
NO change .....occecrvimincccceiciincecens 834,699 — —
19 AECTEASE ...voevvivvireeieiniecreeeeeee e enaee e 826,352 5,426 04 %

(1) Net of income taxes at an assumed rate of 35%.

Management considers many factors, as disclosed in the Critical Accounting Policies section
of this report, in establishing its best estimate for loss and LAE reserves. We believe that our loss
and LAE reserve estimate is a true and reasonable representation of the ultimate future payment
amounts necessary to settle all of our insured losses incurred as of December 31, 2005. In addition,
we believe this pro forma analysis is a reasonable depiction of our sensitivity related to our estimate,
based on our reserving methodology and the short-tail nature of the business that we write. However,
the ultimate liability may be greater or lower than the established reserves for losses and LAE. If the
ultimate payments are greater or less than our estimated liability for losses and LAE, we will either
incur additional or less expenses, respectively, in future periods which may have a material effect on
our future results of operations.

Policy Acquisition Costs

Our underwriting ratio increased to 27.3% for 2005 from 26.2% in the prior year, primarily as
a result of significantly higher accrued agents’ profit sharing and slightly higher 2005 policy year
mandated Massachusetts personal automobile commission rates, both partially offset by a decrease in
our assessment from the Massachusetts Insurance Insolvency Fund. In addition to the increasé in
agents’ profit sharing expense in 2005, policy acquisition cost increases are also due to our premium
growth. The increase in agents’ profit sharing is due to improved underwriting results versus the
previous year. Premium growth results in additional expense in commission, premium tax, and other
variable costs. Partially offsetting these increases was a decline in stock option, BVA and 1A expense.

Income Taxes
Our overall effective tax rate for the year ended 2005 was 30.6% as compared to 29.3% for
2004. In both years, our effective rate was lower than the statutory rate of 35.0% primarily due to tax-

exempt interest and the corporate dividends received deduction. Our effective tax rate increased in
2005 due to improved underwriting results which are taxed at 35%.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued in December 2004 revised rules for
accounting for stock options and other equity-based remuneration, SFAS Ne. 123R, Share-Based
Payment. SFAS No. 123R is applicable for employee options and not for non-employee options, such
as ACIC agents’ options. We will adopt these revised rules in the first quarter of 2006 when they
become effective. This change will not impact our results of operations and financial condition for
the stock options we awarded through 2001 under the Plan because application of the revised rules
is on a prospective basis. The revised rules will not change our accounting for BVAs, IAs and the
stock options we award under the ACIC Plan.

In September 2005, the AICPA issued a new accounting prenouncement, Statement of Posi-
tion (SOP) 05-01, Accounting by Insurance Enterprises for Deferred Acquisition Costs in Connection
with Modifications or Exchanges of Insurance Contracts. This SOP provides guidance on accounting
for deferred acquisition costs on internal replacements of insurance and investment contracts other
than those specifically described in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 97.
Internal replacements are modifications in product benefits, features, rights, or coverages that occur
by the exchange of a contract for a new contract, or by amendment, endorsement, or rider to a
contract, or by the election of a feature or coverage within a contract. The provisions of this SOP are
effective for internal replacements occurring in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. We
will adopt this SOP during the first quarter of 2007. Financial statement application of this SOP is
prospective and initial application would generally occur as of the beginning of the fiscal year. We
believe the adoption of this SOP will not have a material impact on our future financial statements.

In November 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position (FSP) 115-1 and 124-1, The Meaning of
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments. This FSP addresses
the determination as to when an investment is impaired, whether that impairment is other-than-
temporary, and the measurement of an impairment loss. The guidance in this FSP shall be applied to
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005; however, early application is permitted. We will
adopt this FSP during the first quarter of 2006. We believe the application of the provisions of this
FSP will not have a material impact on our financial statements.

Year Ended 2004 Compared to Year Ended 20603

The significant increase in earnings and ROE in 2004 over 2003 was primarily due to the
decrease in our loss ratio. We attribute the improvement in our loss ratic primarily to several factors:

° an increase in average earned premium revenue per automobile (see discussion regarding
premium results),

e a decrease in the current year personal automobile physical damage claim frequency,
» more favorable loss reserve development compared to 2003, and
e improved results from CAR.

The effect of our improved loss ratio on 2004 earnings was partially offset by the increase in
our underwriting ratio. This increase was driven by a significant increase in our agents’ profit sharing
expense in 2004. The increase in agents’ profit sharing expense is the result of substantially better
underwriting results in 2004 than in 2003. The impact of our increased agents’ profit sharing expense
on our underwriting ratio was partially offset by lower 2004 policy year mandated agency commis-
sion rates for Massachuseits personal automobile policies.

The market price for our common stock and our financial results directly affects cur expense
related to stock options and BVAs, respectively. Qur stock option expense represents cptions granted
to both employees and American Commerce agents. An increase in the market value of our stock
will increase the expense we recognize for options subject to variable accounting. Similarly, an
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increase in our net income will increase the value of, and therefore the expense we recognize for,
outstanding BVAs. We record these expenses in three separate line items on our income statement —
losses and loss adjustment expenses, policy acquisition costs and net investment income. The stock
option and BVA expenses recorded in each line item for the years ended 2004 and 2003 follow:

2004 2003
Losses and loss adjustment eXpenses .............ccoovecevvennnn. $ 20,383 $ 12,306
Policy acquiSition COSES ...c..cvivecrencvceienninsrreie e, 17,161 10,364
Net investment INCOME ........ccoovevvveniaerie e e 185 92
Total stock optiocn and BVA expenses .................... $ 37,729 $ 22 762

Premium Results

Direct premiums written and earned for the years ended 2004 and 2003 can be found in
Note P ~ Segment Information in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Massachusetls Segment

We experienced growth in direct premiums written in all of our insurance categories in
Massachusetts, with growth in personal automobile accounting for approximately 82% of the
segment’s increase. Personal automobile business growth was a result of a 6.2% increase in average
written premium per written exposure coupled with a 4.9% increase in the number of exposures
written during 2004. Our year-to-date homeowners growth was from a 12.2% increase in average
premium per policy coupled with a 1.9% increase in the number of policies. OQur year-to-date commer-
cial automobile growth was from a 3.1% increase in average premium per policy coupled with a 4.3%
increase in the number of policies.

Other than Massachuselts Segment

Personal automobile and homeowners growth accounted for approximately 91% of the
increase in direct premiums written in states other than Massachusetts. The increase in personal
automobile and homeowners business was primarily due to additional rate per policy, partially offset
by a decrease in the number of policies. The policy count decrease was primarily due to increased
levels of competition, our desire to maintain appropriate underwriting results and withdrawal from
several states as previously reported.

Net Investment [ncome
Our net investment income for the year ended 2004 increased $23,528, or 25.5% compared to

2003. Net investment income is affected by the composition of our investment portfolio and yields on
those investments.
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The composition of our investment portfolic, at cost, at December 31, 2004 and 2003 follows:

% of % of
2004 Total 2003 Total
Fixed maturitieS® ........ccocovveviererinecirneneneeeneneens $ 1,674,849 67.1% $ 1,478,737 67.8%
Preferred StOCKS ..o 421,247 16.9 283,423 13.0
Common StOCKS ....covireieicieeneceeeee e 74,865 3.0 95,412 4.4
Preferred stock mutual funds ..o 54,653 2.2 50,795 2.3
Mortgages and collateral notes ........c.ccoeeeveene. 15,107 0.6 16,774 0.8
Cash and cash equivalents ........ccceevcvvivierninens 220,988 8.9 215,541 9.9
Other INVESEMENTS ...cvvvvevivieieeceeeeerereeersr e renesr e 32,277 1.3 38,826 1.8
Total IVESTIENLS (ivoviieenreeeriracaarasaasaareesenss $ 2,493,986 100.0% $ 2,179,508 100.0%

(a) Fixed maturities include mortgage-backed bonds, corporate bonds, U.S. Treasury bonds and
notes and tax-exempt state and municipal bonds.

Key measures of net investment income for the years ended 2004 and 2003 follow:

Years Ended

Investment Return: 2004 2003
Average month-end Investrnents (At COSL) .o $2,319,170  $ 1,742,869
Net investment income Before taX ...t eiee e 115,711 92,183
Net investment Income after-tax ..o 90,756 73,210
Net investment income as a percentage of average net

INVeStMENtS (At COSEY wvriiiriiiiriiiirc e e 5.0% 5.3%
Net investment income aftei-tax as a percentage of average net

INVESTIMENTS (A0 COSE) wrvriirireerceriee ettt ee e e eeseese e nees 3.9% 4.2%

The increase in our net investment income in 2004 was primarily due to increased invested
assets partially offset by lower cverall yields, particularly lower yields on preferred stocks. The
increase in invested assets is primarily attributable to proceeds from the issuance of our senior notes
in December 2003 and operating cash flows. The decrease in yields is primarily due to the sale and
redemption of higher yielding investment securities coupled with lower yields on new investments
due primarily to tighter credit spreads. Pre-tax and after-tax yields remained consistent on a quarterly
basis throughout 2004.
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PRealized Investment Gains and Losses

Net realized investment gains (losses) for the years ended 2004 and 2003 follow:

2004 2003 Change
Transaction net gains (losses):
Fixed maturity SECUTItES ...ococevieviviiieciirerceiie e $ 12,733 $ 22,800 $(10,067)
EQUity SECUTITIES .ocvivvoecieiieiiriireee ettt s n e 19,085 33,526 (14,440)
Venture capital fUNAS ... e s e seae e 3,668 32 3,636
Other INVESEMENES .......ooviveereiiieiee ettt st et nees (205) (333) 128
Transaction Net AINS ..cocvvvvevviriee e sre e 35,281 56,024 (20,743)
Other-than-temporary impairment losses:
Fixed maturify SECUXIIES ..o iecreseeceesee e e sansaenenna (14,189 (9,566) (4,623)
EQUIty SECUTITIES ..cviiiiiiiiiiecrceee et eb e e neenr e (760) (8,050) 7,290
Total other-than-temporary impairment loSSes .........cccvveenen. (14,949) (17,616) 2,667
Equity in earnings of closed-end preferred stock mutual funds .. 3,296 37,695 (34,399)
Net realized investment gains included in net earnings ........ $ 23,628 $ 76,103 $(52,475)

Our gains on investment securities were partially offset by write-downs for other-than-tempo-
rary declines in the market value of certain fixed maturities, preferred stocks and common stocks
totaling $14,949 and $17,616 for the years ended 2004 and 2003, respectively. The other-than-tempo-
rary write-downs for the 2004 period consisted of $1,398 for eight municipal bonds, $12,791 for
sixteen corporate bonds and $760 for four preferred stocks. The other-than-temporary write-downs
for the 2003 period consisted of $2,433 for one municipal bond, $7,133 for four corporate bonds,
$7,240 for three preferred stocks and $810 for five common stocks.

The decrease in transaction net realized gains for the year ended 2004 is primarily due to
lower portfolio turnover. Portfolio turnover was relatively high in 2003 as we realigned our portfolio
with the changing interest rate environment. The product of this turnover in 2003 was a significant
amount of net realized gains. As part of this realignment in 2003, we sold a significant portion of our
closed-end preferred stock mutual funds. The decline in interest rates during much of 2003 caused a
significant increase in the net asset value of our closed-end preferred stock mutual funds and, as a
direct consequence, an increase in the net realized investment gains that we recognized for those
investments in 2003.
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Losses and Loss Adjustment Fxpenses

A reconciliation of beginning and ending reserves for losses and loss adjustment
expenses for the years ended 2004 and 2003, net of reinsurance deductions from all reinsurers
including CAR, follows:

2004 2003
Incurred losses and LAE:
Provision for insured events of the current year .........c..cccovcvveevenvencrennn $1,101,871 $ 1,095,371
Decrease in provision for insured events of prior years ..., (57,031) (25,224)
Total incurred losses and LAE ... 1,044,840 1,070,147
Payments:
Losses and LAE attributable to insured events of the current year ....... 637,373 625,303
Losses and LAE attributable to insured events of prior years .....c........ 369,684 330,349
TOLAL DAVITIENES -.eoviieiiieriessvecetererieeee e stesteetenarsnessae e serennensesnsease seseenersnensans 1,007,067 956,152
Increase in loss and LAE reserves during the year .........ccoceeveenvcninnnens 37,783 113,995
Loss and LAE reserves prior to the effect of ceded reinsurance
recoverable, beginning Of YEAT ......ccccvveeciiniinieicinee e e 792,343 678,348
Loss and LAE reserves prior to the effect of ceded reinsurance
recoverable, end Of YEAT .....cccivviriiiiiviirere e b ee e 830,126 792,343
Ceded reinsurance recOVErable ...t e sree e e 160,134 165,010
Loss and LAE reserves, end Of YEAT ....ccocvoveeeeieiiieiresi et v e sressae s $ 950,260 $ 957353

As a result of changes in estimates of insured events in prior years, the provision for loss
and LAE decreased $57,031 for the year ended 2004 and $25,224 for the year ended 2003. The favor-
able developent is due primarily to lower than anticipated losses related to the personal automobile
liability, the automobile physical damage and the commercial multiple peril lines of business. Condi-
tions and trends that have affected development in the past may not necessarily occur in the future.
Accordingly, it may not be appropriate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies based upon
these developments. The amounts we will ultimately incur from loss and loss adjustment expenses
could differ materially in the near term from the amounts recorded.

Approximately $51,027 in personal automobile lability redundancies developed for the year
ended 2004, with 98.0% of this amount coming from the 2003, 2002 and 200! accident years. The
primary reason for the redundancies in this area is that claim severity came in better than we antici-
pated. The redundancy for personal automobile liability that related to CAR accounted for approxi-
mately 2.5% of the total. Automobile physical damage had approximately $2,334 in redundancies
related to the 2003 accident year, approximately 98% of which was related to CAR. In 2004, we also
experienced redundancies of $2,222 for the commercial multiple peril line of business, half of which
related to the 1996 accident year. Various redundancies and deficiencies for the other lines of busi-
ness and accident years combined for the remaining approximately $1,448 net redundancy.

Total unpaid losses and LAE by line of business at December 31, 2004 and 2003 follow
(in millions):

2004 2003
Private passenger automobile .........c.ccveirieeenn. $5953  $575.3
Commercial automobile .......cccvveviveercenine e 51.8 47.0
CAR et 244.2 240.3
HOMEOWIIETS .oiviiiieciie et cie et cas e 57.4 58.4
10714 T OO SO ORI 41.6 36.4
TOLAL oottt e et er ettt eees $990.3 $957.4
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Ceded unpaid losses and LAE recoverable by line of business at December 31, 2004 and 2003
follow (in millions):

2004 2003
CAR oot $100.1 $107.1
HOMEOWNETS ..oooveireeeer et 32.7 34.4
(@17 (13 SO RO SRR 27.4 23.6
TOLAL ottt e $160.2 $165.1

Unpaid losses and LAE reserves prior to the effect of ceded reinsurance recoverable, by line
of business, at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the actuarial low and high range estimates at
December 31, 2004 follow (in millions):

2004

Actuarial Estimate

2004 2003 Low High
Private passenger automobile .........cccocovoveevevieiiieeeerinenns $ 595.3 $ 575.3 $ 540.5 $620.7
Commercial automobile .......c.occcocvvvviriiiiniireeecer e 51.8 47.0 48.5 55.7
CAR et 144.1 133.2 136.7 158.3
HOMEOWNETS ..o e 24.7 24.0 19.1 22.0
L@ T=) O USROS 14.2 12.8 16.1 18.4
TOUAL oottt re e $ 830.1 $792.3 $ 760.9 $ 875.1

Policy Acquisition Costs

In addition to the increase in agents’ profit sharing expense in 2004, policy acquisition cost
increases are due to our premium growth. Increases in stock option and BVA expenses in the 2004
periods have similarly affected policy acquisition costs.

Interest Fxpense and Amortization of Bond Fees

Interest expense and amortization of bond fees are from our senior notes which we issued in
December 20083.

Income Taxes

Our overall effective tax rate for the year ended 2004 was 29.3% as compared to 26.5% for
2003. In both years, our effective rate was lower than the statutory rate of 35.0% primarily due to tax-
exempt interest and the corporate dividends received deduction. Our effective tax rate increased in
2004 due to improved underwriting results which are taxed at 35%. Our income tax rate for 2003 was
benefited 1.8% by the reversal of a $3,936 tax valuation allowance related to investments which we
established in 2002.

Financial Condition

Our financial condition improved significantly in 2005. Our stockholders’ equity per share
increased 15.8% from $33.50 at December 31, 2004 to $38.78 at December 31, 2005. Qur ratio of total
liabilities to stockholders’ equity decreased nearly 23 percentage points at December 31, 2005 from
the prior year end, despite total liability growth of 5.0%. This decrease is primarily due to the 16.9%
increase in equity from current year earnings and growth in paid-in capital from stock option exer-
cises, partially offset by dividends paid and the change in net accumulated other comprehensive
income.

Total assets increased $314,767, or 8.7%, versus the prior year end. Predictably, as they
comprise 70% of total assets, investment growth presented the majority, or 75%, of the increase.
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Investments increased $237,596, or 9.4%, from increased operating cash flows from premium growth
and retained net earnings. We confinue to maintain our cash and fixed maturity investments at levels
to both service our liabilities and optimize after-tax returns. Increases in premiums receivable and
deferred policy acquisition costs correspond to the growth in direct written premiums, with deferred
policy acquisition costs also being impacted by increased profit sharing expenses in 2005. Deferred
income taxes increased primarily due to the resulting deferred tax benefit of the decline in value of
available for sale securities and the application for a change in tax accounting method on file with
the IRS for deferred profit sharing.

Total unpaid losses and LAE by line of business at December 31, 2005 and 2004 follow
(in millions):

2005 Case IBNR LAE Total

Private passenger automobile ............ccccocovevevviviiiieeiiiinnns $367.9 $ 131.7 $ 109.4 $ 609.0
Commercial automobile ........c..cceeivveeeieviiciereeceece s 39.2 9.9 8.9 58.0
CAR oottt et 174.5 40.6 9.5 224.6
HOMEOWIIETS ...ioviiiiieciiectiiciieectee s rreseresrar s sreassesae e sbestsesnreenne 40.0 9.8 8.9 58.7
OURET oot ettt e ers ettt ent e enae 25.3 8.9 4.7 38.9
TOLAL vttt et sttt ar s et r s et st $646.9 $200.9 $1414 $ 589.2
2004 Case IBNR LAE Total

Private passenger automobile .......c.cooeeromrernierreenirnenes $ 360.7 $132.3 $102.3 $595.3
Commercial automobile ........ccccovvivieiiniecceeeecc e, 34.4 9.5 7.9 51.8
CAR e 188.6 46.4 9.2 244.2
HOINMEOWIIETS ...ovieereeriireieecteieeereveenesrressenseesseseeseesseessosssssesasssens 39.1 9.3 9.0 57.4
OTNET ettt s e ste e b s es e se e e tesnsaaereane 26.2 10.3 5.1 41.6
TOEAL ettt st s ess e e b et et $ 649.0 $207.8 $133.5 $990.3

Ceded unpaid losses and LAE recoverable by line of business at December 31, 2005 and 2004
follow (in millions):

2085 2004
Commercial automobile .......cccovvivvieiirieiieeiennn, $ 04 $ —
CAR oottt rr st 93.5 100.1
HOMEOWINETS ..o 34.7 32.7
OTIET ooviiivi ettt e et ebeetve s raeesaeeaee s 25.9 274
TOLAL ..o e e $154.5 $160.2
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Unpaid losses and LAE reserves net of ceded reinsurance recoverable, by line of business, at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the actuarial low and high range estimates at December 31, 2005
follow (in millions):

2005

Actuarial Estimate

2005 2004 Low High
Private passenger automobile ...........ocoveeiienicreirnennnns $ 609.0 $595.3 $ 553.7 $634.7
Commercial automobile .......ccooovvivei i 57.6 51.8 50.3 57.7
AR oottt ettt e e esbe e 131.1 144.1 124.5 144.1
HOMEOWTIETS woviiiiieeieeecr ettt s 24.0 24.7 22.7 26.0
OBRET ettt eee et s st e st n e s s eben 13.0 14.2 134 15.4
TOBAL et e $834.7 $ 830.1 $764.6 $877.9

Unearned premiums rose due to the increase in direct written premiums. The total amount of
a policy’s premium is recorded as written premium on the first day on which the policy is effective;
however, the policy’s premium is earned ratably over the ensuing year. Accrued agents’ profit sharing
liability increased $78,328, or 71.6%, due to the combination of increased premiums and improved
underwriting results as compared to the prior year.

Contractual Obligatiorns and Commercial Commitments

Our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2005 by
maturity follow:

Payments Due by Fiscal Period

Contractual Obligations Total 2006 2007-08 2009-10 Thereafter
Bond indebtedness principal ............oo.vo... $ 300,000 $ — 3 — & _ — $ 300,000
Bond indebtedness interest ..............oe... 142,800 17,850 35,700 35,700 53,5650
Unpaid losses and LAE® _.....cciiiienenns 989,196 479,760 368,970 102,876 37,590
Accrued agents’ profit sharing ................ 187,760 87,486 100,274 — —

Total contractual obligations .................. $1,619,756 $585,096 $504944 $138576 $ 391,140

Commitment Expiration
Commercial Commitments Total 2006 2007-08 200910 Thereafter

Venture capital partnerships ..........occoeeienns $ 16,636 3 —  § 945 $ — % 15691

(a) The liability for unpaid losses and LAE represents the accumulation of individual case estimates
for reported losses, adjustments to this amount on a line of business basis and estimates for
incurred but not reported losses and LAE, net of salvage and subrogation recoverable. The
liability is intended to cover the ultimate net cost of all losses and LAE incurred through the
balance sheet date. Payment amounts are estimated, based on payment patterns experienced
through 2005.

We have commitments in two venture capital fund investrents. These investments are made
in limited partnerships and our exposure to loss is limited to our actual investment. One limited part-
nership investment required a commitment by us to invest up to $50,000 into the partnership. As of
December 31, 2005, we invested $34,309 into the partnership. The partnership was formed to operate
as an investment fund principally for the purpose of making investments primarily in equity, equity-
related and other securities issued in expansion financing, start-ups, buy-outs and recapitalization
transactions relating to companies in the areas of insurance, financial services, e-commerce, health-
care, and related businesses, including, without limitation, service and technology enterprises
supporting such businesses.

65




The other limited partnership interest required a commitment by us to invest up to $3,500
into the partnership. As of December 31, 2005, we invested $2,555 into the partnership. The partner-
ship was formed to operate as an investment fund principally for the purpose of making investments
in equity and equity related securities of companies operating in the area of insurance distribution
and distribution related activities.

On June 30, 2005, cur 70% one-year quota share reinsurance program expired. This program
covered all non-automobile property and liability business, except umbrella policies. This program
was extended another year, effective July 1, 2005, with the primary change in terms being an
increase in the quota share rate to 75%. In the event of a catastrophe, recovery is limited to 76% of
the loss with a maximum recovery estimated at $363,000, equating to a total loss to us of $484,000.
There are several limitations in the contract regarding losses related to nuclear, chemical, and biclog-
ical terrorist events. Our maximum loss recovery in case of these types of events is estimated at
$30,000. Our estimated total loss, before reinsurance, on our other than automobile business for 100
and 250-year hurricanes is approximately $340,000 and $640,000, respectively. We derived our esti-
mates through the services of Holborn Corporation on our December 31, 2005 cther-than-automobile
exposures, which utilized the RMS (Risk Management Solutions) risk assessment system. We believe
that most property and casualty insurance companies establish their catastrophe reinsurance
programs between the 100-year and 250-year storm estimates. Note M to our consolidated financial
statements provides additional infermation about our reinsurance.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

The primary sources of our liquidity are funds generated from insurance premiums, net
investment income, premium finance and service fees and the maturing and sale of investments. The
primary uses of our liquidity are payment of policy claims, operating costs, interest on our senior
notes, and payment of dividends to our stockholders. We believe our capital resources are sufficient
toward meeting our short and long-term liquidity needs.

In April 2005, Commerce Insurance became a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank
(FHLB) of Boston, providing Commerce Insurance with a significant new source of liquidity. The
FHLB of Boston, which is one of 12 regional FHLBs, serves as a reserve or central bank for its
members within its assigned region. The FHLB of Boston makes loans, which are referred to as
advances, to members in accordance with policies and procedures established by its board of direc-
tors. These policies and procedures are subject to the regulation and oversight of the Federal
Housing Finance Board. All advances from the FHLB of Boston to Commerce Insurance are required
to be fully secured by sufficient cellateral as determined by the FHLB. We estimate that FHLB
membership provides Commerce Insurance with the capacity to borrow approximately $400,000 from
the FHLB of Boston. We have not borrowed from the FHLB and have no current plans to do so.

We expect to pay significantly more for agent profit sharing in 2006 than we paid in 2005. We
paid approximately $47,134 for agent profit sharing in 2005. Due to our improved underwriting results
during 2005, we estimate paying $87,486 in the second quarter of 2006.

Industry and regulatory guidelines suggest that the ratic of a property and casualty insurer’s
annual net premiums written to statutory policyholders’ surplus should not exceed 3.00 to 1.00. The
fellowing table presents, on a consolidated basis, our net premiums written to statutory surplus ratio:

For the Year Ended
2005 2004 2003

Net premiums written to statutory surplus ratio ...........c...... 1.18:1.00 1.33:1.00 1.45:1.00
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Market Risk: Interest Rate Sensitivity and Equity Price Risk

The primary focus of our investment objectives continues to be maximizing after-tax invest-
ment income through investing primarily in high-quality diversified fixed income investments struc-
tured to maximize after-tax investment income while minimizing risk. We generally invest in
securities with maturities intended to provide adequate cash flow to pay claims and meet other oper-
ating needs without the forced sale of investments. When the appropriate opportunity arises, we wiil
recognize investment gains to increase after-tax total return. We held no derivatives, emerging market
securities or hedge funds at December 31, 2005 and 2004.

In conducting investing activities, we are subject to, and assume, market risk. Market risk is
the risk of an adverse financial impact from changes in interest rates and market prices. The level of
risk assumed by us is a function of our overall objectives, liquidity needs and market volatility.

We manage our market risk by focusing on higher quality equity and fixed income invest-
ments, by periodically monitoring the credit strength of companies in which investments are made,
by limiting exposure in any one investment and by monitoring the quality of the investment portfolio
taking into account, among other factors, credit ratings assigned by recognized rating organizations.
Our portfolio included three corporate bonds in default with a total carrying value of $117 at
December 31, 2005. Of our bonds and preferred stocks, 91% of the market value was rated in either
of the two highest quality categories provided by the NAIC as of December 31, 2005, as compared to
94% at December 31, 2004. Although we have significant holdings of various closed-end preferred
stock mutual funds, these funds are comprised primarily of preferred and common stocks traded on
national stock exchanges, thus limiting exposure to any one cbligor.

Interest Rate Sensitivity. As part of our investing activities, we assume positions in fixed
maturity, equity, short-term and cash equivalents markets. Therefore, we are exposed to the impacts
of interest rate changes in the market value of investments. We estimate our exposure to interest rate
changes and equity price risk using sensitivity analysis. The interest rate impact is defined as the
effect of a hypothetical interest rate change of plus-or-minus 100 and 200 basis points on the market
value of fixed maturities and preferred stocks.

Changes in interest rates would result in unrealized gains or losses in the market value of the
fixed maturity and preferred stock portfolio due to differences between current market rates and the
stated rates for these investments. The following table summarizes our interest rate risk, based on
the results of the sensitivity analysis at December 31, 2005. The table aiso reflects the changes in
market value and stockholders’ equity that would be attributable to realized investment gains (losses)
that we would recognize under the equity method of accounting with respect to the change in the
net asset value of the mutual funds in which we own 20% or more of the shares outstanding. See
“Critical Accounting Policies — Investments and Other-than-Temporary Impairments.”

Estimated Market

Value of Fixed Estimated
Income and Increase Hypothetical Percentage
Preferred Stock (Decrease) in Increase (Decrease) in
Hypothetical Change in Interest Rates Investments Market Value Stockholders’ Equity®
December 31, 2005: ‘
200 basis point increase ...........cccccov.... $2,138,966 $(283,888) (14.1)% ‘
100 basis point INCrease ...........coveeruens 2,285,278 (137,576) (6.9)%
No change ......ccocoevivvniniiecce e, 2,422 854 — —
100 basis point decrease ..........c..c...... 2,548,494 125,640 6.3 %
200 basis point decrease .........cecooeeene.. 2,684,096 261,242 13.0%
December 31, 2004:
200 basis point inCrease ............c..... 1,925,625 (189,242) (11.0)%
NO change ....c.o.cveeevvnnennenereenecrcree e 2,114,867 — —
200 basis point decrease .........ccocovenene 2,308,995 194,128 11.3%

(1) Net of income taxes at an assumed rate of 35%.

67




Our fixed income portfolio’s weighted average duration (which includes all fixed maturities
and preferred stocks) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 was 4.9 years and 5.6 years, respectively.
The “duration” of a security is the time-weighted present value of the security’s expected cash flows
and is used to measure a security’s price sensitivity to changes in interest rates. The duration reflects
industry prepayment assumptions. The analytic systems we used to calculate the above duration data
utilize optional call dates and sinking fund requirements and assume a non-static prepayment pattern
in deriving these averages.

Fguity Price Risk. The equity price risk is defined as a hypothetical change of plus-or-minus
10% in the carrying value of common stocks. This total includes common stocks at market value and
two closed-end preferred stock mutual funds at equity value. The following table summarizes cur
equity price risk, based on the results of the sensitivity analysis at December 31, 2005:

Carrying Value of Increase Hypothetical Percentage
Common Equity {Decrease) in Increase (Decrease) in
Hypothetical Change in Market Price Investments Carrying Value Stockholders’ Equity®
December 31, 2005:
20% price INCrease ........ooceveveververvrennns $238,411 $ 39,735 2.0%
10% price INCrease ....occcvvveveereeeecnenns 218,544 19,868 1.0%
No change ......ccovviieeniccnicc e, 198,676 — —
10% price decrease ........cccvvrereerenenns 178,808 (19,868) (1.0)%
20% price decrease .........evvvversveivinrenne 158,941 (39,735) 2.00%
December 31, 2004:
20% price INCTeASEe .....cvevvereerreeironaenens 171,434 28,672 1.7%
10% price INCrease ........ccceeveveeieevrernens 157,148 14,286 0.8%
NO change ... 142,862 — —
10% price decrease ..........cccvvvvrvvivennens 128,576 (14,286) (0.8)%
20% price decrease ........coecvvrvivrvnennns 114,290 (28,572) (1.71)%

(1) Net of income taxes at an assumed rate of 35%.

The preceding sensitivity analysis does not represent a forecast and should not be relied
upon as being indicative of expected results. These hypothetical estimates are based upon numerous
assumptions such as the nature and fiming of interest rate levels including the yield curve shape,
prepayments on loans and securities, reinvestment and replacement of asset and liability cash flows
and other assumptions. While assumptions are developed based upoen current economic conditions,
we cannot provide any assurance as to the predictive nature of these assumptions. Also, as market
conditions vary from those assumed in the sensitivity analysis, actual results will also differ due to
prepayment and refinancing levels likely deviating from those assumed and other internal and
external variables. Furthermore, the sensitivity analysis does not reflect actions that management
might take in responding to or anticipating changes in interest rates.

Effects of Inflation and Recession

We generally are unable to recover the costs of inflation in our personal automobile insur-
ance line since the premiums charged for personal automobile insurance in Massachusetts, our prin-
cipal business segment, are subject to state regulation. Additionally, the premium rates that we
charge for personal automoebile insurance in Massachusetts are adjusted by the Commissioner only at
annual intervals. Such annual adjustients in premium rates may lag behind related cost increases.
Economic recessions can have an impact upon us, primarily through the policyholder’s election to
decrease non-compulsory coverages afforded by the policy and decreased driving, each of which
tends to decrease claims.

To the extent inflation and economic recession infiuence yields on investments, we are also

affected. As each of these environments affect current market rates of return, previously committed
investments may rise or decline in value depending on the type and maturity of investment.
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Inflation and recession must also be considered by us in the creation and review of loss and
LAE reserves since portions of these reserves are expected to be paid over extended periods of time.
The anticipated effect of economic conditions is implicitly considered when estimating liabilities for
losses and LAE. The importance of continually adjusting reserves is even more pronounced in
periods of changing economic circumstances.

Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report and Form 10-K may contain statements that are not historical fact and
constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act. Statements about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objec-
tives, assumptions or future events or performance are not historical facts and may be forward-
looking. These statements are often, but not always, made through the use of words or phrases such
as “anticipates,” “estimates,” “plans,” “projects,” “continuing,” “ongoing,” “expects,” “may,” “will,”
“could,” “likely,” “should,” “management believes,” “we believe,” “we intend,” and similar words or
phrases. These statements may address, among other things, our strategy for growth, business devel-
opment, regulatory approvals, market position, expenditures, financial results and reserves. Accord-
ingly, these statements involve estimates, assumptions and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those expressed in them. All forward-looking statements are qualified
in their entirety by reference to the factors discussed throughout this annual report on Form 10-K
and in our Forms 10-Q and other documents filed with the SEC. Among the key factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from forward-looking statements:

3« ” o« ” W@ ” o«

» the possibility of severe weather, terrorism and other adverse catastrophic experiences;

» adverse trends in claim severity or frequency and uncertainties in estimating property and
casualty losses;

+ adverse state and federal regulations and legislation;
» adverse judicial decisions;
» adverse changes to the laws, regulations and rules governing CAR in Massachusetts;

+ fluctuations in interest rates and the performance of the financial markets in relation to
the composition of our investment portfolio;

» premium rate making decisions for private passenger automobile policies in
Massachusetts;

+ potential rate filings;
* heightened competition;

* our concentration of business within Massachusetts and within the personal automobile
line of business;

* market disruption in Massachusetts, if competitors exited the market or become
insolvent;

» the cost and availability of reinsurance;
* our ability to collect on reinsurance and the solvency of our reinsurers;

» the effectiveness of our reinsurance strategies;
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° telecommunication and information system probleras, including failures to implement
information technology projects timely and within budget;

e our ability toc maintain favorable ratings from rating agencies, including A.M. Best, S&P,
Moody’s and Fitch;

*  our ability to attract and retain independent agents;

< our ability to retain our affinity relationships with AAA clubs, especially in Massachusetts;
o our dependence on a key third party service vendor for other business in Massachusetts;
* our dependence on our executive officers; and

o the economic, market or regulatory conditions and risks associated with entry into new
markets and diversification.

You should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement. The risk factors
referred to above, as well as those elsewhere in the Annual Report on Form 10-K, could cause actual
results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statement made
by us or on our behalf {see Part I, Item 1, “Risks Related to Our Business” of this Form 10-K).
Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and we
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances
after the date on which the statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated evertts.
New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict which factors will
arise. In addition, we cannot assess the impact of each factor on our business or the extent to which
any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statements.

ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

For the information required by this Item, please refer to “Part II, Item 7, Market Risk:
Interest Rate Sensitivity and Equity Price Risk” section (MD&A).

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

Our management is responsible for the consolidated financial statements and all other infor-
mation presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The financial statements have been prepared
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America deter-
mined by management to be appropriate in the circumstances and include amounts based on
management’s informed estimates and judgments. Financial information presented eisewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K is consistent with the financial statements.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934.
Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control gver financial reporting as
of December 31, 2005. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in ternal Control — fnte-
grated Framework. Based on this assessment, management concluded the Company maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005.

Cur management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
The Commerce Group, Inc.:

We have completed integrated audits of The Commerce Group, Inc.’s December 31, 2005 and 2004
consolidated financial statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2005, and an audit of its December 31, 2003 consolidated financial statements in accordance with
the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions,
based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Jtem
15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Commerce Group, Inc.
and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion,
the financial statement schedules listed in the index under Item 15(2)(2) present fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated
financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedules are the responsi-
bility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedules based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of
financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclo-
sures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 8, that the Company maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on criteria established in /zzernal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSQ), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria.
Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in fternal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effective-
ness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on manage-
ment’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of
internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and oper-
ating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider neces-
sary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
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maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii)
provide reascnable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control cver financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future perieds are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, MA
March 14, 2006
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheet
December 31,
(Thousands of Dollars)

2005 2004
ASSETS
Investiments (Note C):
Fixed maturities, at market (amortized cost: $2,037,127 and $1,674,849) .. $2,029,173  $1,692,523
Preferred stocks, at market (cost: $395,099 and $421,247) ....covveivcvcreennnn, 393,681 422,344
Common stocks, at market (cost: $103,472 and $74,865) ..ccccoevrevrererrncnne. 102,344 81,433
Preferred stock mutual funds, at equity (cost: $88,859 and $54,653) ......... 96,332 61,429
Mortgage loans on real estate and collateral notes receivable

(less allowance for possible loan losses of $55 and $372) ...covvvceviicrennn 17,746 14,735
Cash and cash eqUIVALENES ......cocoiererinciin e e 97,942 220,988
Other investments, at equity (cost: $28,976 and $32,277) ..ccorvirecvviinrennn, 28,111 34,281

Total cash and INVESLIMENTS ......ccceceviviie vt erens 2,765,329 2,627,733
Accrued INVEStMENt HCOIME ......occouoiviiieiieieiieieteetres et ces e ssaeve e sreeresrnnen 22,267 18,643
Premiums receivable (less allowance for doubtful receivables

OFf 32,254 and $2,254) ...oovvveirnriieeie ettt e 475,112 459,775
Deferred policy acquisition costs (NOte D) oot 174,415 163,645
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation (Note E) ............. 61,625 53,757
Residual market receivable (Note M) ...ovioreieniniiinrere e 191,309 193,618
Due from reinsurers (NOte M) oottt eee s 142,923 133,328
Deferred income taxes (NOte K) ..ottt 68,926 43 372
OBRET ASSELS eeovieiiiiriit ittt e r e sttt s e et sa et esrese e s sestesaeabaseeesrnnes 25,104 18,372
TOLAL ASSEUS uovvvivevivieeeeee ettt et er et es e a et et n et ease s s s s b et saesmsesesnrns $3,927,010  $3,612,243
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities:

Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses (Note F) ...oococovvevveeeicneee, $ 989,196 $ 990,260
Unearned premiums (NOE J) oot e eaea 933,160 902,566

Bonds payable ($300,000 face less discounts of $1,612 and $1,814)

(INOTE G) oottt ettt ettt b e e ese et et ba et et ea e sa b ns st vsseseamaane s esesbene s 298,388 298,186
Current income taxes (Note K) ..o 9,601 5,115
Deferred income (INOTE M) ..ocovireiiieriiceiecctie et e e 8,757 9,906
Accrued agents’ profit sharing (Note H) ..o, 187,760 109,432
Other liabilities and accrued eXPENSES ....cccccceeiverevieirierreereeerricrveeeeereeeereesasees 189,122 175,496

Total HADIIEIES ...oovieeiiecericeieiici ettt e rens s 2,615,984 2,490,961
Minority interest (NOTE A) ..ot eeer s eseere s et e ra et e e saenes 5,957 5,126
Stockholders’ equity (Note I):

Preferred stock, authorized 5,000,000 shares at $1.00 par value ................. — —
Common stock, authorized 100,000,000 shares at $0.50 par value;

40,915,773 and 40,728,715 Shares iSSUEd ......c.cvrerrviererenrnirrnsieseneeeinieneens 20,458 20,364
Paid-in Capital ..o st 148,130 134,943
Net accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net of income

taxes (benefits) of $(3,649) and $8,833 ......cccecorriiiirnnnrnei e (6,810) 16,403
Retained BaITINES ..ottt et sr et s e 1,363,507 1,169,009

Total stockholders’ equity before treasury stock .......coovvevveecriiiiinnnne 1,625,285 1,340,719

Treasury stock, 7,262,571 and 7,405,966 shares, at COSt .....ccccconreecrcevnicnens (220,216) (224,563)
Total StocKhOlAers’ EQUILY ......ccccoveevvirerreeerierieitecreresree e e e err e eabeens 1,305,069 1,116,156
Total liabilities, minority interest and stockholders’ equity .................. $3,927,010  $3,612,243

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consclidated Statement of Earnings

For the years ended December 31,
(Thousands of Dollars, Except Share and Per Share Data)

Revenues:

Earned premiums (NOE J) ..ooccceverrierriieinserenereeesieeie e
Net investment income (Note C) ..coooeeiineerrnennrincnnccs :
Premium finance and service fees .......covveverinccreneninencnnens
Net realized investment gains (Note C) ...covvvivveniniercnccrenns
ONEr IMCOIMNE ..uiiiiiiiiie ettt e s b s see i

TOLAl FEVEIUES ..oveiiiieee et eeee s e et s st san s eees s

Expenses:

Losses and loss adjustment expenses (Notes F and M) ........
Policy acquisition costs (Note D) .o
Interest expense and amortization of bond fees (Note G) ....

Total EXPEMNSES ciiviiicririr it ettt e

Earnings before income taxes and minority interest ................
Income taxes (Note K) .ot

Earnings before minority interest ...
Minority interest in net earnings of subsidiary (Note A) .......

NET EARNINGS ..ot

Net earnings per common share (Note I):

BASIC ceorveiivirierite e e rere e ene et esee ettt bs et bk ete s e bt s nesraerans
DIIUEEA oot e ns e e
Cash dividends paid per share .........ccocevivieeeirevvernieeesenee e

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:

BaASIC ottt e et s e sra s
DAIUEEA oottt e e s erree s

2005

2004

2003

$1,709,924  $1,638,833  $1,445,628

123211 115,711 92,183
28,298 28,281 26,908
22,907 23,628 76,103
41 118 —
1,884381 1806571 1,640,822
1,050,186 1,044,840 1,070,147
463,297 439,232 350,250
18,293 18,313 1,120
1,531,776 1,502,385 1421517
352,605 304,186 219,305
107,768 89,003 58,068
244,837 215,183 161,237
(925) (752) (294)

$ 243912 $ 214431 $ 160,943
$ 726 $ 654 $ 503
$ 721 $ 651 $ 499
$ 147 8 131 $ 127
33,585,858 32,802,023 32,000,220
33,847,665 32,952,714 32,254,663

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

74




THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Stockholder’s Equity

For the years ended December 31,

(Thousands of Dollars, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Balance, January 1, 2003 ....................
Net earnings ....c.cccoecevvicrrenvrenrenerens

Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized holding gains
arising during the year, net of
tax of $5,441 .oovoiiiereee
Reclassification adjustment, net
of tax benefit of $(3,380) ..........

Other comprehensive income ........
Comprehensive income ...................
Stockholder dividends .....................
Capital stock issued® ........ccovevnee.
Treasury stock purchased ...............
Balance, December 31, 2003 ...............
Net earnings ...occoeomeceernesereronnis

Other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized holding gains
arising during the year, net of
tax of $7,012 .o
Reclassification adjustment, net
of tax benefit of $(13,843) ........

Other comprehensive loss ..............

Comprehensive income ......c.oceeme
Stockholder dividends
Capital stock issued®
Treasury stock purchased ...............

Balance, December 31, 2004
Net earnings .....ccccveeeernercerrmneneenns

Other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized holding losses arising
during the year, net of tax
benefit of $(7,091) ..cccevvvnvrrnnn
Reclassification adjustment, net
of tax benefit of $(5,391) ..........

Other comprehensive 108S ...,

Comprehensive income ..................
Stockholder dividends .....................
Capital stock issued® ....................
Treasury stock reissued ..................

Balance, December 31, 2005 ...............

Net
Accumulated
Other
Common Paid-In Comprehensive Retained Treasury
Stock Capital Income/(Loss) Earnings Stock Total
$ 19,141 -$ 39,570 $ 25,264 $ 877,308 $(171,231) $ 790,052
160,943 M
10,097 10,097
(6,278) (6,278)
3,819 3,819
164,762
{40,641) (40,641)
174 12,520 12,694
(14,656) (14,656)
19,315 52,090 29,083 997,610 (185,887) 912,211
214,431 M
13,028 13,028
(25,708) (25,708)
(12,680) (12,680)
201,751
(43,032) (43,032)
1,049 82,853 83,902
(38,676) (38,676)
20,364 134,943 16,403 1,169,009  (224,563) 1,116,156
243,912 243,912
(13,201) (13,201)
(10,012) (10,012)
(23,213) (23,213)
220,699
(49,414) (49,414)
94 7,884 7,978
5,303 4,347 9,650
$ 20,458 $148,130 $ (6,810) $1,363,507 $(220,216) $1,305,069

(1) Due to the exercise of 348,037 employee stock options.
(2) Due to the exercise of 1,747,163 employee stock options and 1,500,250 American Commerce

agents’ options (351,888 shares).

(3) Due to the exercise of 54,221 employee stock options and 292,955 American Commerce agents’

options (132,797 shares).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and Reconciliation
of Net Earnings to Cash From Operating Activities
For the years ended December 31,
{Thousands of Dollars}

2005 2004 2003
Operating Activities:
Premiums COIeCted .......ccovvvvviieveriieeeecrncceeiinsee v $ 1,709,573 $ 1,678,313 $ 1,494,514
Net investment income received ........ccccevrimmvvvnvnerrversnrens 121,279 110,643 87,081
Premium finance and service fees received .........ccoecenee. 28,208 28,281 26,908
Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid ...........coeeveeuenne. (1,031,567) (996,493) (957,763)
Policy acquisition costs paid .......ccoceeeverveecc e, (381,923) (375,757) (346,320)
Federal iNCOMEe TaXES ..cccevveveeerierrerereereneeienreiesesesseressnseens (116,354) (102,756) (46,882)
InteresSt PAId ...cccoceveereeeeieece e (17,850) (17,850) —
OtheTr TECEIPLS 1ovvevivrecieiecee e et stn e e 41 118 —
Cash from operating activities .........cccvvieeninienicenens 311,497 324 499 257,538
Investing Activities:
Investment sales, repayments and maturities .................... 2,036,214 2,120,964 1,364,376
Investment PUrChases .......cooccveveerieinre e reeie e (2,412,949)  (2,418402) (1,874,119)
Mortgage loans and collateral notes receipts ..........ceeene.. 3,984 4,087 13,471
Mortgage loans and collateral notes originated ................ (6,978) (2,319) (3,072)
Property and equipment purchases ........ccoveevrcceiierenncen (15,064) (6,540) (7,628)
Other investing activities .......ccoceeveeveevrierec e 4,300 4,161 2,908
Cash for investing activities .....c.c.cccveicrinieneecncenncnae (390,493) (298,049 (593,964)
Financing Activities:
Dividends paid to stockholders ........ccccoiiveeniniininiiccennnn, (49,414) (43,032) (40,641)
Capital stock purchases .......ccoovceiivinciinrcc e — — (8,058)
Capital Stock 1SSUEA ..ocvvieesieeieeceeieccenee e 2,437 22,606 5,586
Proceeds from bond iSSUANCE .......ccccoveevvenirriverecreererererenae — ' — 297,972
BONd iSSUE COSES vviviiiriieiiiiniecireerieeeeieseeseeetesseeresrseeessesanes e (454) (2,317)
Outstanding checks payable ... 2,927 (123) 3,110
Cash (for) from financing activities ..........ccccenencnne (44,050) (21,003) 255,652
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ............... (123,046) 5,447 9,226
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ............... 220,988 215,641 206,315
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ............ccccoeoeeee.. $ 97942 $ 220988 $ 215,541

Reconciliation of net earnings to cash
from operating activities:
NEL EAITUIES .vcveverieiirireririirere st reeeete e rese st s sresnsre e $ 243912 $ 214431 $ 160,943
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash
from operating activities:

Premiums reCeivable ...t e (15,404) (47]746) (64,229)
Deferred policy acquisition costs .......ccovceveecvecnerineenne, (10,770) (10,040) (15,364)
Residual market receivable .......ccocccvevvccniiiinnncneeeeen, 2,309 (874) (28,267)
Due from FeINSUTETS ..c.cocoovecreeeicmrenienririrerenesreneseenenveeeenens (9,595) (15,542) (19,383)
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses ................ (1,064) 32,907 142,217
Unearned Premilins .oveeeceevieneevesieesecre e srseseeseesennes 30,594 92,104 123,314
Current iNCOME TAXES ..icvvvivcrercriniirereresiriereneeererseeneenseenaes 4,486 (9,976) 15,753
Deferred inCoOmMe taxes ......cccoveevvreericcinienirnniereessecressenses (13,072) 3,777) (4,567)
Deferred INCOME .......ccovvieeiiiieee e et (1,149) 1,960 (475)
Accrued agents’ profit sharing .......cccccoeeveriniiiiviiieniennnen, 78,328 71,545 5,337
Net realized investment gains .......ccccovvnnevninvnceienenn, (22,907) (23,628) (76,103)
Stock OPLION €XETCISES ..ovvveveveververerreceicstenrreresre e eens 15,191 22,620 510
Other—Net oot n e eens 10,638 515 17,852

Cash from operating activities .....coveveeeveirernennnn, $ 311497 $ 324499 $ 257,538

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Thousands of Dollars, Except for Per Share Data)

Note A - Organization and Basis of Presentation

We provide personal and commercial property and casualty insurance in Massachusetts and,
to a lesser extent, in other states. In addition, we originate and service residential and commercial
mortgages in Massachusetts and Connecticut. Our primary business is property and casualty insur-
ance in Massachusetts.

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). Our consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of The Commerce Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries, Bay Finance
Company, Inc., Clark-Prout Insurance Agency, Inc. and Commerce Holdings, Inc. (CHI). The
Commerce Insurance Company (Commerce), Commerce West Insurance Company (Commerce West)
and Citation Insurance Company (Citation) are wholly-owned subsidiaries of CHI. American
Commerce Insurance Company (American Commerce) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ACIC Holding
Co., Inc. (AHC). AHC is owned jointly with AAA Southern New England (AAA SNE) with CHI main-
taining a 95% common stock interest and AAA SNE maintaining a 5% common stock interest. All
inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior year
account balances have been reclassified to conform to the 2005 presentations.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make esti-
mates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Note B - Pro Forma Net Earnings
Pro forma net earnings and earnings per share as if we had applied the fair value method of

accounting for our stock-based compensation plans accounted for under the intrinsic value method
for the years ended December 31 follow:

2005 2004 2003

Net earnings, as rePOTrtEA .....c.coccoviviiieiceeirire ettt er e s $243912 $214431 $ 160,943
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense determined

under fair value method for awards granted in 2001, net of taxes — 452 1,807
Pro forma net earnings under fair value accounting .............c..ccoue..... $243,912 $213,979 $ 159,136
Basic earnings per share:
AS TEPOTTEA .vviiiicrirrieieeee ettt st ee et sr s e aeaebens $ 726 $ 654 $ 503
Pro fOITNA ..ocvvveeciecce ettt e e s e b sa et e saesraenseseeen $ 726 3 652 $ 497
Diluted earnings per share:
AS TEPOITEA oovvivvreveeeee ettt ettt aeees $ 721 $ 651 % 499

$ 649 § 493

PLO FOITIA oottt e erees ettt e en v s sebe s n et enbeeneaanas $ 7.21

All stock option based awards accounted for under the intrinsic value method were earned
as of the first quarter of 2004; therefore, no additional expense was required after that date.
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Thousands of Dollars, Except for Per Share Data)

Note C - Investments

All investment transactions have credit exposure to the extent that a counter party may
default on an obligation. Credit risk is a consequence of carrying investiment positions. We manage
credit risk by focusing on higher quality fixed-income securities and preferred stocks, reviewing the
credit strength of all companies in which we invest, limiting cur exposure in any one investment
category and monitoring the portfolio quality, taking inte account credit ratings assigned by recog-
nized statistical rating organizations.

Carrying values of investments in fixed maturities, which include taxable and non-taxable
bonds and investments in common and preferred stocks, are derived from market prices supplied by
our investment custodian, or in the few cases where no price is provided by the custodian, we obtain
a third party valuation.

We account for venture capital fund investments, which is included in cother investments, in
which we own more than a 5% interest on the equity method. The operating results of these venture
capital fund investments have been reflected in realized gains and losses.

All of our investments in fixed maturity and equity securities at December 31, 2005 and 2004
were classified as available-for-sale. Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities were
determined by using the specific identification method. We have not invested more than 5% of fixed
maturities in any one state or political subdivision.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include short-term, liquid investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and so near their maturity that they present insignificant risk of changes in value
because of changes in interest rates.

The cash and cash equivalent balances at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are grossed up by
$42,283 and $39,356, respectively, which represents outstanding checks for which there was no right
of offset. These amounts are included in other liabilities and accrued expenses for the respective
years.

Fized Maturity Securities

Fair market value and amortized cost of our fixed maturity securities at December 31 follow:

2005 2004
Fair Fair

Market Ameortized Market Ameortized

Value Cost Value Cost
U.S. government and agency ..........ccveerevemrverniverenns $ 273820 $ 27638 $ 52817 $ 53,060
State and political subdivision ..........ccecvvvevviernrecnne. 732,617 725,656 720,575 705,272
COIPOTALE ..oveeeeeieverie et s e s ba e eees 550,654 558,191 333,166 327,871
Mortgage-backed ... 472,082 476,994 585,965 588,646
Total fixed maturity securities .........ccceceeveneee. $2,029,173 $2,037,127 $1,692523 $1,674,849
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Note C - Investments (continued)

The fair market value and amortized cost of fixed maturities, by contractual maturity, at
December 31 follow:

2005 2004
Fair Fair

Market Amortized Market Amortized

Value Cost Value Cost
Due in one year or 1€SS .......covvveevveeeeereeieeneeeeeenns $ 19521 $ 19719 § 9,843 $ 9,843
Due after one year through five years ............... 394,358 400,456 131,624 130,276
Due after five years through ten years .........c........ 275,194 278,937 233,996 233,682
Due after ten Years ......oivecneeeeseeeeeesnnns 868,018 861,021 731,095 712,402
1,557,091 1,560,133 1,106,558 1,086,203
Mortgage-backed .....c.cccoooeviiiinieivireceeenctire e 472,082 476,994 585,965 588,646
Total fixed MAtUTItIES .c.oeoveiicieree e $2,029,173 $2,037,127 $1,692,523 $ 1,674,849

Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers may have the
right to call or prepay obligations. The carrying value of fixed maturities on deposit for state regu-
lating authorities at December 31, 2005 was $8,026.

Closed-end Preferred Stock Mutual Funds

We record our equity in the change in net assets of closed-end preferred stock mutual funds
for which our ownership is greater than 20% as a component of realized gains and losses. These
investments are valued at original cost plus the cumulative undistributed equity in earnings and
losses of the fund.

Our closed-end preferred stock mutual fund holdings at December 31, 2005 and 2004
accounted for under the equity method follow:

Fund Carrying Quoted
Shares % of Value Market
Held Ownership at Equity _ Cost Value
December 31, 2005
PDTO vt 6,075,000 40.4% $ 72,232 $ 66,553 $ 61,661
PGDW e e 1,768,200 21.2% 24,100 22,306 21,219

$ 96332  $ 88859 $ 82880

December 31, 2004
PDTD et st 5,043,400 33.5% $ 61,429 $ 54,653 $ 58,050

(1) John Hancock Patriot Premium Dividend II Fund (PDT) and John Hancock Patriot Global Divi-
dend Fund (PGD). The quoted market values of these investments are less than carrying value at
year end 2005 and 2004. The carrying value is the net asset value of the underlying securities,
which would be the value we would receive if the fund liquidates. We intend to hold these invest-
ments to recovery.
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Note C - Investments (continued)
Morigage Loans on Real Estate and Collateral Notes Receivable

We originate and heold real estate mortgage loans on properties located in Massachusetts and
Connecticut. Mortgage loans are collateralized by the related real estate. Agency loans are generally
collateralized by the assets of the agency. We conirol credit risk through credit approvals, credit
limits and monitoring procedures. We perform in-depth credit evaluations on all new mortgage
customers. We have not incurred any bad debt expense on mortgage loans during the three years
ended 2005.

Our exposure is generally 80% or less of the appraised value of any collateralized real prop-
erty at the time of the loan origination. The ability and willingness of residential and commercial
borrowers to honor their repayment commitments is generally dependent upon the level of overall
economic activity and real estate values. During the three years ended 2005, we did not acquire any
property through foreclosure of mortgages.

Mortgage loans on real estate and collateral notes receivable are stated at the amount of
unpaid principal, less an allowance for possible loan losses. The adequacy of the allowance for
possible loan losses is evaluated on a regular basis. Loan losses are charged against the allowance
when management believes the collectibility of the principal is unlikely and recoveries are credited
to the allowance when received.

Interest on mortgage loans is included in income as earned based upon rates applied to prin-
cipal amounts cutstanding. Accrual of interest on mortgage loans is discontinued either when reason-
able doubt exists as to the full, timely coliection of interest or principal, or when a loan becomes
contractually past due more than 30 days. When a loan is placed on non-accrual status, all unpaid
interest previously accrued is reversed against current period earnings.

Mortgage loans on real estate and collateral notes receivable at December 31 follows:

2005 2004
Residential (158 MOTEEAZES) ..ooviiiieieierceieerieeeeeereieeetete s esenetetesesesest et esssaseressssssesssesnses $10995 $ 7456
Residential (20% MOTTZAZES) .oocoveoeciirireriineieiesesres e seeseasseestessasteesessessensasessessasessenes 106 117
Commercial (150 MOTEZABES) ..viciveereriririiiiieet e esesseessss et besessbese e sbesasaesanesssecasens 4,888 5,453
15,989 13,026
Collateral NOLES FECEIVADIE ... ciiiienieci e ssartecaeeesanaeseessresaesesstarassesseseareseensen 1,812 2,081
17,801 15,107
Allowance for possible 10an 10SSES ..cocoviiiciiii e e (55) (372)
Mortgage loans on real estate and collateral notes receivable ..o, $17,746  $14735

Fair value of our mortgage loans on real estate and collateral notes receivable is estimated
by discounting the future cash flows using the current rates at which similar loans would be made to
borrowers with similar credit and for the same remaining maturities. The future cash flows associ-
ated with certain non-performing loans are estimated based on expected payments from borrowers
either through work out arrangements or the disposition of collateral. The estimated fair value of
mortgage loans on real estate and collateral notes receivable at December 31, 2005 and 2004, prior to
the allowance for possible loan losses, was $19,029 and $16,044, respectively.
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Note C - Investments (continued)

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, mortgage loans on norn-accrual status totaled $149 and
$357, respectively. Allowances of $13 and $37 were established in 2005 and 2004, respectively, for
these non-accrual status loans. The reduction in interest income associated with non-accrual loans
was $8, $15 and $36 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Changes in the allowance for possible loan losses for the years ended December 31 follows:

2005 2004 2003

Balance, Deginning of YEAr ........cccoceieevieneeeeesiee oo s seenenens $372  $379 3418
Decrease in allowance for possible loan losses credited

T0 EATTHITZS ..oriiiviieecrirer ettt e b e (317) (7) (39)
Balance, end OF YEAL ....ovvcviveeriiicinsiet e cirvesese et ssrsseesetseesesans $ 556  $372  $379

Mortgage principal and collateral notes receivable balances at December 31 follow:

2005 2004
Fixed rate mortgages and collateral notes maturing:
One year or less ............. e et s r st er et $ 18 8§ 36
More than one year to five Years .....c.ccerneeienvriecnncnnennn, 810 924
More than five years f0 teN YearS .......cccvvevvrirvieenievnecrvessnnenns 679 763
OVET T8I YEATS .eivvirieriierieieeterretesesttsre et et ssaeresasrsseseesasseeresanssaness 9,750 6,329
Total fixed MOTTZAZES .oovvveeirirrierircie e 11,257 8,052
Adjustable rate mortgages and collateral notes maturing:
ONe Jear OT 1E€SS ..c.occiiiiiiiiciinierte ettt s e 2 —
More than one year to five Years .....ccocevcevvveveeeve e seeiiennan. 723 352
More than five years t0 teN YEarS ....ccoovevveenreeene s e 435 1,506
OVEL tEIL YRATS covviviivierierteetrereetrereesneeveetsesteebassessssnssbesssestsarsennens 5,384 5,197
Total adjustable MOItZAZES ......ccovveireeeereireee e 6,644 7,055
Total MOTEZAZES .vevvevrieeeiece ittt s senes e $17,801  $15107
Past due over 90 days .....ccocoeeovriniereneeeeeeniee e $ 149 $ 357
Mortgages in foreclosure, included in past due
OVEL G0 dAYS oottt 3 — % 105
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Net Investment Income

The components of net investment income for the years ended December 31 follow:

2005 2004 2003

Interest on fixed MALUTIEIES ...covevivieveieeiiceeeecee ettt et $ 87409 $ 82,052 $ 49,809
Dividends on common and preferred StOCKS .......covcvvievieeveniviecirnnias 26,387 25,278 23,393
Dividends on preferred stock mutual funds ......cccccoeevvveiiicvcceenne. 8,187 8,342 18,199
Interest on cash and cash equivalents .......ccoocervvicinviniscceeeeeens 2,611 1,510 1,563
Interest 0N MOTEZAZE LGNS ...eiiiiiiiririiieieneiieeeesannsssaseasessssssesesssseonns 1,306 1,386 1,767
OTNET oottt sttt re et sa e et se st et e st sss st e e ate s et et s ssearennanas 512 126 640

Total investment INCOME .....c..ocerviiieieneciie e 126,312 118,694 95471
TNVESLMENE EXPEIISES ..evirerririiireriirireieieecsiiire e reetste st rseserearesensse e naasmaesens 3,101 2,983 3,288

Net investment INCOME .....cccviirrerriireieniere e seres $123211 $115711 § 92,183

The carrying value of our fixed maturity investments which have not produced any income
during 2005 was $118 at December 31, 2005.

Net Realized Invesiment Gains

Net realized investment gains for the years ended December 31 follow:

2005 2004 2003

Transaction gains (losses):
Fixed maturity SECUTItIES GAINS ....cccovvereeeriveriiereresen s enssnreecese s e, $ 31,6562 $ 40308 $ 28,701
Fixed maturity seCurities loSSES .....c.ocvvveerveiece e (10617)  (27,678) (5,901
Equity SeCurities aiNS .....ccovvoririrerreriencniereste et csbaeteens s e svesee s 9,320 23,134 49,485
EQuity Securities 10SSES ......ccoovccriieiviiriireee et eine e eaa e reens (4,856) (4,049)  (15,960)
Venture capital fund gains ........ccccceivveciiiinreincncecerereier e 1,013 3,668 428
Venture capital fUnNd LIOSSES .....cccoiiiiciiniieraciinnniemmasiesesscessessssssassans (176) _— (396)
Other INVeStMENtS GAINS .....cocveveerierierreeeereee s ee s erae e esee e e sesareesees 740 8 76
Other INVEStMENTS IOSSES ..cvvoveeiieeeeiireiesi e eere e et seetb e ete e eanns (113) (213) (409)

Net transaction SAINS ......ccocciviiriivcieercieer v 27,063 35,281 56,024
Impairment losses:
Fixed Maturity SECUFITIES ...ccoiveriviviieeiiie e ieeie et errsb et ere e (305) (14,189 (9,566)
EQUity SECUTTEIES «.ooeeeeriiieriireciee et ra e e v st eas e e sa e s (4,647) (760) (8,060)

Total IMPaIrent I0SSES .......vcvevveirvrreei ettt e (4,852) (14,949) (17,616)
Equity in earnings of closed-end preferred stock mutual funds ....... 696 3,296 37,605

Net realized investment gains included in net earnings ............. $ 22907 $ 23,628 § 76,103

82




THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

{Thousands of Dollars, Except for Per Share Data)
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Proceeds from investment sales, calls, maturities and paydowns for the years ended

December 31 follow:

2005 2004 2003
Sales:
Closed-end preferred stock mutual funds ........ccceeevevvrecnene $ 244 — % 172,378
EqQUity SECUTTLIES ..iiieiieeieeec et 457,496 267,624 345,535
Fixed maturity SECUItIES ........cccceovererieriieireee st st 1,239,329 1,231,136 488,750
TOAl SALES .....ocevviieieeeiete sttt 1,697,069 1,498,760 1,006,663
Calls, maturities and paydowns:
Fixed maturity SeCurities .......ccccvevveiriveienrieiive e ceeeae s 282,581 581,246 291,460
EQUILY SECUTILIES ...ooooviveiierereece et ee et en st 46,533 38,895 62,817
Total calls, maturities and paydowns .......c.ccccovevcvnurinnee 329,114 620,141 354,277
Other:
Venture capital fund investments ..........cccoeovnrnenenceineaneeene 10,031 2,063 3,436
Mortgage loans and collateral NOtes ........ccvceecevvnrnievcreennn. 3,984 4,087 13,471
TOtAl OLNET ..ottt ctete et ecre e 14,015 6,150 16,907
Proceeds from sales, calls, maturities and paydowus ... $2,040,198 $2125,051 $ 1,377,847

Unrealized fnvestment Gains (Losses)

Gross and net unrealized investment gains and losses, excluding minority interest, from fixed

maturity and equity securities at December 31 follow:

2005 2004
Gains Losses Gains Losses
Fixed maturity securities: .
U.S. government and agency .........cooeromreereennensesnnas $ 155 % (272D % 46 $ (289)
State and potlitical subdivision ..........ccceovivivcniinienennen. 12,618 (5,657) 17,069 (1,766)
COTPOTALE +evoereeeoeeeeeeeesoeeeeeeesesesseeeseseseseee oo eseseeeee oo eenes 1,634 (9,17D) 6,734  (1,439)
Mortgage-backed ....occoovveiiiiicieiercectece e 1,079 (5,991) 1,682 (4,363)
Fixed maturity securities unrealized gains (losses) ... $ 15486 $(23,440) $25531 $(7,857)
Equity securities unrealized gains (16S8€S) ......ccoeveeevevnnnne. $ 5029 $ (7575) $14,148 $(6,483)
Net unrealized gains (10SSES) ..ocvvveeeremrererrerensncreenenen. $(10,5600) $ 25,339
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Note C - Investments (continued)

We review all security holdings on a quarterly basis for potential cther-than-temporary
declines in market value in accordance with GAAP. In general, unrealized losses resulting from an
increase in interest rates will not necessarily lead to an other-than-temporary impairment write-down.
As part of this process, we consider any significant market declines in the context of the overall
market and also in relation to the outlook for the specific issuer of the security and the issuer’s
industry. Each quarter, we review all securities whose market values have declined below bock price.
From a quantitative standpoint, we view all securities that have declined more than 20% below book
price and have remained so for two quarters as potentially in need of a write-down. Any other secu-
rity that we view as impaired for a significant period of time is also a candidate for a write-down,
even if the percentage decline is less than 20%. In addition, we perform the following quarterly
review of our portfolio:

e We review all holdings with an unrealized loss of over $250, or a fair market value that is
more than 20% below cost.

= We review all holdings with unrealized losses over $100, or a fair market value that is
more than 10% below cost, for securities at a continuous loss position period of 12 to 38
months.

°  We review all securities that have been at a continuous less position for 36 months or
more.

»  We review both issue specific data and general market data for all perpetual preferred
stocks that have been at a continuous loss position for over 12 months.

¢ Generally, we consider all AAA/AA rated U.S. Government securities with market values
less than cost as temporarily impaired due to our intent and ability to hold these securi-
ties to recovery.

°  We consider market activity between our quarter-end dafe and earnings release date in
our evaluation.

If a security is deemed other-than-temporarily impaired, we adjust the security’s cost basis to
market value through realized loss based on publicly available prices or, in the absence of such infor-
mation, on a price supplied by a broker. During 2005, our other-than-temporary impairment charge
for our bond and preferred and common stock holdings was $4,852.
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Gross unrealized losses on our fixed maturity and equity securities at December 31, 2005 by
duration of unrealized loss and by credit quality (for fixed maturity securities) follow:

0-6 7-12 13-24 Over 24
Total Months Months Months Months
Total equity and fixed maturity
securities:
Number of positions .......c.ccceevevrnenens 408 198 135 70 5
Total fair market value .......cccccevveeenn. $ 1,605,321 $846,646  $ 522,189 $ 230,542 % 6,044
Total amortized COSt .......ccvovevvevvrrrenenen. 1,636,336 860,721 532,839 236,592 6,184
Unrealized 10SS ...cooovivvcrevrvninccvninnnns $ (3L015) $(14,175) $ (10,650) $ (6,050) $ (140)
Unrealized loss percentage to fair v
market value .........ccvccinencnnninen 1.9% 1.7% 2.0% 2.6% 2.3%
Equity securities: :
Number of positions ........c.ccccceemnneeen. 59 41 14 3 1
Total fair market value ...........cocoen..... $ 228828 5182722 $ 41689 $ 3568 $ 849
Total amortized cost .......ccoeiveerireens 236,403 189,088 42,823 3,617 875
Unrealized 10SS ..ccoovveeeeiircneneieriveeens $ (7575) % (6,366) $ (L,134) § 49 % @6
Unrealized loss percentage to fair
market value ... 3.3% 3.5% 2.7% 1.4% 3.1%
Total fixed maturity securities:
Number of positions ..........c.cccvceevvens 349 157 121 67 4
Total fair market value ..o $1,376,493  $663,824  $480,500 $226974 $ 5,195
Total amortized cost ...ococvveecceenene 1,399,933 671,633 490,016 232,975 5,309
Unrealized 10SS ....cococovvevenriecnreeiiienns $ (23440) $ (7809) $ (9516) $ (6001 $ (1149
Unrealized loss percentage to fair
market value ..o 1.7% 1.2% 2.0% 2.6% 2.2%
Investment grade fixed maturity
securities:
Number of positions .........ccceveeveviinenne 327 142 115 66 4
Total fair market value .........c.ccoe...e. o $1,290,285  $599,150 $ 461,041 $224,899 $ 5,195
Total amortized COSt ..cocoovevrevveeecrnneee 1,311,280 605,920 469,268 230,783 5,309
Unrealized 10SS ....cccovvveeiveiccrieeienn. $ (20995) $ (B770) % (8227) $ (5884 $ (1149
Unrealized loss percentage to fair
market value ..........ccoviemnniniienenn, 1.6% 1.1% 1.8% 2.6% 2.2%
Below investment grade fixed
maturity securities:
Number of positions ...........ccccceveveernee 22 15 6 1 —
Total fair market value ........c..ceueuen.ee. $ 86,208 $ 64674 $ 19459 $ 207 § —
Total amortized COSt ...cccvvveeervevrennnnen, 88,653 65,713 20,748 2,192 —
Unrealized 108S ....ccovcveeniiiieeiiinnn, $ (2445 $ (1039 $ (1289 $ U1 8 —
Unrealized loss percentage to fair
market value .......ccceovvivcvnnrinvinnnnns 2.8% 1.6% 6.6% 5.6% —
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Our unrealized losses from below investment grade fixed maturity securities at December 31,
2005 were from corporate securities with a credit quality of BB.

We reviewed our investment holdings at December 31, 2005 for other-than-temporary declines
in market value, in accordance with our previously stated accounting policy. Based on this analysis,
we determined that the impairments represented in the above gross unrealized loss table are tempo-
rary. These temporary impairments are primarily due to interest rates and general market conditions.
We have the intent and ability tc hold to recovery or maturity our temporarily impaired equity or
fixed maturity securities, respectively.

In November 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position (FSP) 115-1 and 124-1, The Meaning of
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments. This FSP addresses
the determination as to when an investment is impaired, whether that impairment is other-than-
temporary, and the measurement of an impairment loss. The guidance in this FSP shall be applied to
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005; however, early application is permitted. We will
adopt this FSP during the first quarter of 2006. We believe the application of the provisions of this
FSP will not have a material impact on our financial statements.

Gross unrealized losses on our equity and fixed maturity securities at December 31, 2004, by
duration of unrealized loss, follow:

0-6 7-12 13-24 Over 24
Total Months Months Months Months
Total equity and fixed maturity
securities:
Number of positions ........c.cccevvcnenne 231 141 66 20 4
Total fair market value .......c..ccceeeeenee. $1,007,625  $584,494  $345,751 $ 74,509 $ 2871
Total amortized COSt ...coceoiiviecnrirncerns 1,021,965 588,678 353,367 77,028 2,892
Unrealized 10SS .oovvccevevvircrirree $ (143400 $ (4,184 $ (7616) $(2519) & (2D
Unrealized loss percentage to fair
market value ... 1.4% 0.7% 2.2% 3.4% 0.7%
Equity securities:
Number of positions ........cvcevnienieennnne 57 26 23 6 2
Total fair market value ......c..ccovveeeeenrene $ 220,106 $115395 % 86,234 $16290 $ 2,187
Total amortized COSt .ocvveevvrrecivrcrenennen, 226,589 116,732 90,285 17,368 2,204
Unrealized 10SS .woecveeenieieoriresreninveererennes $ (6483 $ (1,337) $ (405D $(1,0789) $ (4D
Unrealized loss percentage to fair
market value ....c.cooveimveeenr e 2.9% 1.2% 4.7% 6.6% 0.8%
Fixed maturity securities:
Number of positions ......coceccecreivcnncn. 174 115 43 14 2
Total fair market value ........coccccoeeee. $ 787,519 $ 469,099 $ 259,517 $58,219 § 684
Total amortized COSE .cvcvverrecevecennnees 795,376 471,946 263,082 59,660 688
Unrealized 10SS oivevvoievvri e $ (7857) % (2,847) $ (3566) $(1,441) 3 (€Y
Unrealized loss percentage to fair
market value ..........cocoeeiiiinieies 1.0% 0.6% 1.4% 2.5% 0.6%
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0-6 7-12 13-24 Over 24
Total Months Months Months Months
Investment grade fixed maturity
securities:
Number of positions ........ccccccoevevviennnne. 171 113 42 14 2
Total fair market value ...........oecounvnnee. $ 770,033  $461,363  $249,767 $58219 $ 684
Total amortized COSt ....cccecveevvveeereennnnn. 777,647 464,117 253,082 59,660 688
Unirealized 10SS .ooveveveevvieieicneneriennns $§ (7514 $ (274 $ (3315 $(144D $ (WD
Unrealized loss percentage to fair
market value ........ccoovvveevveeniniecesnennn, 1.0% . 0.6% 1.3% 2.5% 0.6%
Below investment grade fixed
maturity securities:
Number of positions .........cceceevvevreernee. 3 2 1 — —
Total fair market value ..........cococeeeeec.. $ 1748 $ 7736 % 9750 § — % —
Total amortized COSt ..occovvvevvveeiririrnnnn, 17,829 7,829 10,000 — —
Unrealized 10SS ....cocoovvcevvvreeeieererreeennes 3 (343) $ @3 $ (2500 $ — 8 =
Unrealized loss percentage to fair
market value .....cccocvevinvcinnieiiinenien e 2.0% 1.2% 2.6% — —

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss), less applicable income tax expense, for the years ended
December 31 follow:

2005 2004 2003
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Fixed Maturities ... e ersenesenes $(25,629) $ (1,321) $ 2,093
Preferred StOCKS ...ttt rccisn e (2,514) (14,673) 11,854
COMINON SEOCKS .iiviiiiioriiieeiti ettt esr e te e st eseesestesransasseneas (7,696) (3,543) (8,104)
Impact of MINOTILY INEETEST ...ecvevivveiieire et 144 26 37
TOLAL oeviciereici ettt skt neenn e (35,695) (19,511) 5,880
Tax benefit (EXPENSE) ..vcciiiiicciie ettt e rerasae e esaesrnennens 12,532 6,840 (2,048)
Tax impact of MINOrity INTErest .......ccocveviiiieeie e e B0 €))] (13)
Total tax benefit (EXPense) .....ccccevvrrercerreenenneiinicieniccniconen 12,482 6,831 (2,061)
Total other comprehensive (loss) income ........coovvvveeenene. . $(23213) $(12,680) 3 3,819

Net Accumaulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Unrealized investment gains and losses on common and preferred stocks and fixed maturi-
ties, to the extent that there is no other-than-temporary impairment of value, are credited or charged,
net of any tax effect, to a separate component of stockholders’ equity, known as “net accumulated
other comprehensive (loss) income,” until realized.
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Net accumulated other comprehensive inceme (less) on stocks and fixed maturity invest-
ments follows:

2005 2004 2003
Accumulated other comprehensive iNCOME ..v...vveeeeeeecvcveerrissaennns $ 20,615  $ 39,679 $ 59,876
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SSeS .....cccccvveviccienincenceennne (31,015) (14,340) (15,000)
Impact of MINOTItY INTETESE ...cevoverieeeeirecree e ene e 41 {103) (129)
Net accumulated other comprehensive income (10s8) ............ (10,459) 25,236 44,747
Tax benefit (EXPENSE) iiiiiieeree et erenrebesae e eressesbesreseenenrs 3,663 (8,869) (15,709)
Tax impact of MINoIity INtErest .....cococeevviriceeincecee e (14} 36 45
Net tax benefit (EXPEeNSE) ..cvvirrriieienerrreresnes et seesieese e 3,649 (8,833) (15,664)
TOLAL ooveceiiiieieietetet ettt s et ettt b bbbt s bbb $ (6,810) $ 16403 $ 29,083

Note D - Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Policy acquisition costs are calculated by line of business as a percentage of unearned
premiums by multiplying the sum of current commission rates plus current premium tax rates plus
an estimate of the percentage of other underwriting expenses incurred at policy issuance. These
costs are deferred and amortized over the period in which the related premiums are earned, the
amount being reduced by any potential premium deficiency. If any potential premium deficiency
exists, it represents future estimated losses, loss adjustment expenses and amortization of deferred
acquisition costs in excess of the related unearned premiums. There was no premium deficiency in
2005, 2004 and 2003. In determining whether a premium deficiency exists, we consider anticipated
investment income on the unearned premium reserve.

Policy acquisition costs incurred and amortized to income follow:

2005 2004 2003
Balance, JANUATY 1 .cooooovieiieieiiceceeeeeeese st $ 163,645  $ 153,605  $ 138,241
Costs deferred during the Year ........cceonminenicviennsee e 474 067 449272 366,614
Amortization charged t0 eXPEeNSE ..cvcveeiieeceiieereere e rreeeerreiees (463,297) (439,232) (350,250)
Balance, December 31 .....cooovoveeevieeeereceeeeicieeec e eneve e senerennenas $ 174415  $ 163,645  $ 153,605

In September 2005, the AICPA issued a new accounting prenouncement, Statement of Posi-
tion (SOP) 05-01, Accounting by Insurance Enterprises for Deferred Acquisition Costs in Connection
with Modifications or Exchanges of Insurance Contracts. This SOP provides guidance on accounting
for deferred acquisition costs on internal replacements of insurance and investment contracts other
than those specifically described in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 97.
Internal replacements are modifications in product benefits, features, rights, or coverages that occur
by the exchange of a contract for a new contract, or by amendment, endorsement, or rider to a
contract, or by the election of a feature or coverage within a contract. The provisions of this SOP are
effective for internal replacements occurring in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. We
will adopt this SOP during the first quarter of 2007. Financial statement application of this SOP is
prospective and initial application would generally occur as of the beginning of the fiscal year. We
believe the adoption of this SOP will not have a material impact on our future financial statements.
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Note E - Property and Equipment

Qur property and equipment at December 31 follows:

2005 2004
BUildings ..covivveeeeinvr et n e avens $ 56,133 $ 55,701
EDP equipment and COPIETS ....ccccvveeeniiiiivneniiiennne 34,247 33,5684
Equipment and office furniture .............ccceeeveeeeenne 13,481 13,337
SOFEWATE .cviiiiricrecic ettt et etaens 9,085 —
AUtomOobiles ..o 1,781 1,589
Building improvements .........cccooveeciiiinnieniciennnnen. 1,080 1,019
115,807 105,230
Less accumulated depreciation ...........cccoevenene. (69,473) (55,358)
56,334 49,872
LaNd oottt st e 5,291 3,385

$ 61,6256 $ 53,757

Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated on the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the following rates and lives:

Percent Per Useful Life
Annum (Years)
BUILAINES -ovvevviirieieeeeerecieitiiier st es e eeete st svasae s st s sressessas e e sssasaessassssessessaseesees 2.5 40
Building improvements (prior t0 1992) ... 2.5 40
Building improvements (1992 and subsequent) .........cccoccevnecevcnieninnnnn, 5.0 20
Equipment and office fUrniture .......ccccoceecieeiciiiieeee e e 10.0 10
EDP equipment and CODIELS ...cccvceevcviiiereceiceieeeennes e esesereessessessesnssrssnnes 20.0 5
AULOMNODIIES ..ottt et se b e 20.0 5
SOFEWATE .iiiviiieiiieireete st e r e ers e et eesre s e s s ebeesabesabesaneesabestsesnsaesesestneannensnns 33.3 3

Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations; betterments are capitalized. The cost of
property sold or otherwise disposed and the accumulated depreciation thereon is eliminated from the
related property and accumulated depreciation accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited or
charged to income. We capitalize tangible property and equipment having an economic life of more
than one year with a dollar value of $2.5 or greater.

The cost of computer software developed or obtained for internal use in excess of $150 is
capitalized in accordance with SOP 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed
or Obtained for Internal Use. Amounts below the $150 threshold are expensed in the period the costs
are incurred. Capitalized costs are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over a three-year
period, unless another rational basis is more representative of the software’s use.

Depreciation expense was $6,091, $5,975 and $5,893 for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Depreciation expense is allocated evenly between loss adjustment
expenses and- policy acquisition costs.
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Note F - Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (LAE)

The lability for unpaid losses and LAE represents our best estimate of the ultimate net cost
of all losses and LAFE incurred through the balance sheet date. This estimate includes the adjusted
case estimates for losses, incurred but not reported losses, salvage and subrogation recoverable and
a reserve for LAE. In arriving at our best estimate, we begin with the aggregate of individual case
reserves and then make adjustments to these amounts on a line of business basis. These adjustments
to the aggregate case reserves by line of business are made based on our analysis as further
described below. The entire liability for unpaid losses and LAE is also independently reviewed quar-
terly and annually by our Actuarial Department. Liability estimates are continually analyzed and
updated, and therefore, the ultimate liability may be more or less than the current estimate. The
effects of changes in the estimates are included in the results of operations in the period in which
the estimates are revised.

Significant time can elapse between the occurrence of an insured loss, the reporting of the
loss to the insurer and the insurer’s payment of that loss. We recognize liabilities for unpaid losses by
establishing reserves as balance sheet liabilities representing estimates of amounts needed to pay
reported and unreported losses and LAE. We review these reserves quarterly. Regulations of the Divi-
sions of Insurance require us to obtain a certification anmually from either a qualified actuary or an
approved loss reserve specialist that our loss and LAE reserves are reasonable.

When a claim is reported to us, we establish a “case reserve” for the estimated amount of
our ultimate exposure. The amount of the reserve is primarily based upon an evaluation of the type
of claim involved, the circumstances surrcunding the claim and the policy provisions relating to the
loss. This estimate reflects our informed judgment based on general insurance reserving practices
and on our experience and knowledge. During the loss adjustment period, these estimates are
revised as deemed necessary based on subsequent developments and periodic reviews of the cases.

In accordance with industry practice, we also maintain reserves for estimated incurred but
not reported (IBNR) and LAE net of salvage and subrogation recoverable. These reserves are deter
mained based on historical information and experience. Adjustments to these reserves are made peri-
odically to take into account changes in the volume of business written, claims frequency and
severity, the mix of business, claims processing and other items that can be expected to affect our
liability for losses and LAE.

When reviewing the liability for unpaid losses and LAE, we analyze historical data and esti-
mate the impact of varicus factors, including:

° payment trends;

° 10Ss expense per exXposure;

o our historical loss experience and that of the industry;
= frequency and severity trends;

* legislative enactments, judicial decisions, legal developments in the imposition of
damages; and

» changes and trends in general economic conditions, including the effects of inflation and
recession.
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Note F - Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (LAE) (continued)

This process assumes that past experience, adjusted for the effects of current developments and
anticipated trends, is an appropriate basis for predicting future events. There is no precise method,
however, for subsequently evaluating the impact of any specific factor on the adequacy of reserves,
because the eventual development of reserves is affected by many factors.

By using both individual estimates of reported claims and generally accepted actuarial
reserving techniques, we estimate the ultimate net liability for losses and LAE. After taking into
account all relevant factors, we believe that, based on existing information, the provision for losses
and LAE at December 31, 2005 is adequate to cover the ultimate net cost of losses and claims
incurred as of that date. The ultimate liability, however, may be greater or lower than established
reserves. If the ultimate exposure is greater than (or less than) our estimated liability for losses and
LAE, we will incur additional expense (income) which may have a material impact on our consoli-
dated financial position. We do not discount to present value that portion of our loss reserves
expected to be paid in future periods.

Liabilities for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses for environmental related claims
such as oil spills, mold and lead paint are included in the loss reserve methodologies described
above. Reserves have been established to cover these claims for known losses. Because of our
limited exposure to these types of claims, we believe they will not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial position in the future. Loss reserves on environmental related claims amounted
to $7,772 and $6,646 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Liabilities for unpaid losses and LAE at December 31 follow:

2005 2004
Net voluntary unpaid loss and LAE reserves .......oeeeeneeenneeoneereeveeenans $ 806,552  $ 783,159
Voluntary salvage and subrogation recoverable ..........cccooevenninnivcni e (102,878) (97,218)
Assumed unpaid loss and LAE reserves from Commonwealth Automobile
ReINSUIers (CAR) ..ottt besve et saesss e ve st vesvesrnesrens 152,506 167,502

Assumed salvage and subrogation recoverable from CAR ... (21,481) (23,317)

Total voluntary and assumed unpaid loss and LAE reserves ................... 834,699 830,126
Adjustment for ceded unpaid loss and LAE reserves ......cccciienveniienneeenns 163,497 169,134
Adjustment for ceded salvage and subrogation recoverable .............ccccenae. (9,000) (9,000)

Total unpaid 10ss and LAE I€SEIVES .......cccccccvrveeeviiveceecesseneee oo eeseeessenns $ 989,196  $ 990,260
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Note F — Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (LAE) (continued)

The change in reserves for unpaid losses and LAE, net of reinsurance deductions from all
reinsurers, including CAR, for the years ended December 31 foellow:

2005 2004 2003
Incurred losses and LAE:
Provision for insured events of the current year .......c.......... $1,111,683 $1,101,871 $1,095,371
Decrease in provision for insured events of prior years ....... (61,397) (67,031 (25,224)
Total incurred losses and LAE i 1,050,186 1,044,840 1,070,147
Payments:
Losses and LAE attributable to insured events of the
CUTTETIE FOAL 1evievereirereiriceeirressisenesessesnrsesessseessssssessstesasssssstassssosens 672,894 637,373 625,303
Losses and LAE attributabie to insured events of
PUIOT FEATS 1ecviivvervieeetieieernereeestrreeieesaasesssessessesseesssssasssesensasssanses 372,719 369,684 330,349
TOL2L PAYINENES cvevveeveeierrrereereiereeeeerasessseieenssessasntsssssssessessereneas 1,045,613 1,007,057 956,152
Change in loss and LAE reserves during the year ..., 4,573 37,783 113,995
Loss and LAE reserves prior to the effect of ceded
reinsurance recoverable, beginning of year .......c.cccccvvveecnnnenn 830,126 792,343 678,348
Loss and LAE reserves prior to the effect of ceded
reinsurance recoverable, end of year ........cccveinercnncnnnnen 834,699 830,126 792,343
Ceded reinsurance recoverable ..o 154,497 160,134 165,010
Loss and LAE reserves, end of Year ......ccccoeveviivneerciieeierervnneen $ 089,196 $ 090,260 $ 957,353

As a result of changes in estimates of insured events in prior years, the provision for loss
and LAE decreased $61,397 for the year ended 2005 and $57,031 for the year ended 2004. The favor-
able development is due primarily to lower than anticipated losses related to the personal automobile
liability, the automobile physical damage and the commercial multiple peril lines of business. Condi-
tions and trends that have affected development in the past may not necessarily occcur in the future.
Accordingly, it may not be appropriate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies based upon
these developments. The amounts we will ultimately incur from loss and loss adjustment expenses
could differ materially in the near term from the amounts recorded.

Approximately $54,370 in personal automobile liability redundancies developed for the year
ended 2005, with 92% of this amount coming from the 2004, 2003 and 2002 accident years. The
primary reason for the redundancies in this area is that claim severity came in better than we antici-
pated, coupled with significant redundancies from CAR. Automobile physical damage had approxi-
mately $7,447 in redundancies chiefly related to the 2004 accident year, approximately 60% of which
related to CAR. In 2005, we also experienced redundancies of $1,733 for the commercial multiple
peril line of business, 62% of which related to the 2004 accident year. Partially offsetting these redun-
dancies was a $3,467 deficiency in commercial automobile business, primarily related to CAR for the
2004 accident year. Various redundancies and deficiencies for the other lines of business and acci-
dent years combined for the remaining approximately $1,314 net redundancy.
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Note F - Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses (LAE) (continued)

As a result of changes in estimates of insured events in prior years, the prevision for loss
and LAE decreased $57,031 for the year ended 2004 and $25,224 for the year ended 2003. The favor-
able development is due primarily to lower than anticipated losses related to the personal automobile
liability, the automobile physical damage and the commercial multiple peril lines of business. Condi-
tions and trends that have affected development in the past may not necessarily occur in the future.
Accordingly, it may not be appropriate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies based upon
these developments. The amounts we will ultimately incur from loss and loss adjustment expenses
could differ materially in the near term from the amounts recorded.

Approximately $51,027 in personal automobile liability redundancies developed for the year
ended 2004, with 98% of this amount coming from the 2003, 2002 and 2001 accident years. The
primary reason for the redundancies in this area is that claim severity came in better than we antici-
pated. The redundancy for personal automobile liability that related to CAR accounted for approxi-
mately 2.5% of the total. Automobile physical damage had approximately $2,334 in redundancies
related to the 2003 accident year approximately 98% of which was related to CAR. In 2004, we also
experienced redundancies of $2,222 for the commercial multiple peril line of business, half of which
related to the 1996 accident year. Various redundancies and deficiencies for the other lines of busi-
ness and accident years combined for the remaining approximately $1,448 net redundancy.

Our aggregate actuarial estimate for the loss and LAE reserves, on a consolidated basis and
net of reinsurance recoverable, ranges from a low of $764,600 to a high of $877,900, as of December
31, 2005. Our financial statement loss and LAE reserves net of reinsurance, based on our best esti-
mate, was established at $834,699 for that date. We calculate our estimate independently from those
amounts as calculated by our actuaries and, therefore, the final results are most often not the same.
We estimate amounts primarily by reviewing historical loss and LAE data, focusing mainly on
payment data. We also review and compare most recent loss frequency, severity and payment data to
historical trends in an attempt to determine if patterns are remaining consistent or not. We attempt
to establish our reserve estimate as close to the amount required for the ultimate future payments
necessary to settle all losses. The accuracy of this estimate is reflected by the line noted in the above
table entitled “decrease in provision for insured events of prior years.”

Our loss and LAE reserves reflect our share of the aggregate loss from CAR and our LAE
reserves and the other writers of automobile insurance in Massachusetts that participate in CAR
{Servicing Carriers).

Note G — Bonds Payabie

On December 9, 2003, we issued $300,000 face value of senior unsecured and unsubordinated
debt (the Senior Notes) which matures December 9, 2013. The Senior Notes were issued at 99.3% to
yield 6.04% and bear a coupon interest rate of 5.95%, payable semi-annually on June 9 and December
9. Proceeds from the issuance were $298,000. Costs related to the issuance of the Senior Notes have
been deferred and recorded in other assets on the balance sheet. The deferred costs and the original
issue discount will be amortized into interest expense over the life of the Senior Notes. The fair
market value of the Senior Notes at December 31, 2005 was estimated at $303,900.
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Note H - Commitments

In 2000, Commerce entered intc a Limited Partnership Agreement with Conning Partners VI,
L.P, a Delaware Limited Partnership. This partnership agreement required cur comunitment to invest
up to $50,000 into the partnership. In 2005, we received $1,245 of our principal from the partnership.
In 2004 and 2003, we invested $10,688 and $5,250, respectively, into the partnership. As of December
31, 2005, we have invested $34,309 into the partnership, leaving a commitment balance to the part-
nership of $15,691. The partnership was formed to operate as an investment fund principally for the
purpose of making investments primarily in equity, equity-related and other securities issued in
expansion financing, start-ups, buy-outs and recapitalization transactions. The fund targets companies
in the areas of insurance, financial services, e-commerce, healthcare, and related businesses,
including, without limitation, service and technology enterprises supporting such businesses, in order
to realize long-term capital returns, all as determined and managed by the General Partner for the
benefit of the Partners.

Also in 2000, Commerce entered into a Limited Partnership Agreement with Distribution Part-
ners Investment Capital, L.P. a Delaware Limited Partnership. This partnership agreement required
our cominitinent to invest up to $3,500 into the partnership. We have not invested in the partnership
since 2002. As of December 31, 2005, we have invested $2,555 into the partnership leaving a balance
of $945 for funds still committed. The partnership was formed to operate as an investment fund prin-
cipally for the purpose of making investiments primarily in equity and equity-related securities of
companies operating in the area of insurance distribution and distribution related activities, all as
determined and managed by the General Partner for the benefit of the Partners.

In addition to state mandated minimum and other commissions on policies written, we pay
certain of our agencies compensation in the form of profit sharing. This is based primarily on the
underwriting profits of an individual agents’ business written with us. The arrangement for Massachu-
setts and New Hampshire business utilizes a three-year rolling plan, with one third of the agents’
profit or loss for each of the current and the two prior years’ calculations summed to a single
amount. This amount, if positive, is multiplied by the profit sharing commission rate and paid to the
agent. Outside of Massachusetts and New Hampshire, Commerce West and American Commerce each
have profit sharing plans tailored to their specific markets.

Note I — Stockholders’ Equity
The amount of consolidated retained earnings at December 31, 2005 represented by undistri-

buted earnings of 50% or less owned investments that are accounted for using the equity method
follows:

Undistributed

Carrying Earnings
Value Cost (Loss)
Preferred stock mutual fund ..o, $ 96,332 $ 88,859 $ 7,473
Other investments in venture capital partnerships ............... 28,111 28,976 (865)
$124,443 $117,835 6,608

Income tax benefit (at 35%) ...occecmrieceenineeeee e, (2,313)

Undistributed equity method earnings included in
consolidated retained earnings ........ccooeeeceeveeecvireceerersniens $ 4,295
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Note I -~ Stockholders’ Equity (continued)
Book Value Awards, Incentive Awards and Stock Ovtion Programs

The Incentive Compensation FPlan. During 2002, our stockholders approved the Incentive
Compensation Plan (the Plan) which provides for the award of incentive stock options, non-gualified
stock options, book value awards (BVAs), stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and performance
stock units. Up to 5,000,000 shares of common stock {(subject to increase for anti-dilution adjust-
ments) may be issued under the Plan, including awards of restricted stock or upon the exercise of
common stock equivalent awards such as stock options and stock appreciation rights payable in the
form of common stock (not in the form of cash). At the discretion of the Compensation Committee,
all of our directors, officers and other senior management employees, including those of our subsid-
iaries, are eligible to participate in the Plan.

In May 2005, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors authorized, under the
2002 Incentive Compensation Plan, the grant of Incentive Awards (IAs) to officers and directors in
lieu of BVAs which were granted in the past. [As entitle officers and directors to cash payments at a
specified settlement date, subject to certain specified conditions. The 2005 Incentive Award Agree-
ment is substantially the same as the previously granted Book Value Award Agreement. The cash
payment is based on cumulative net earnings per basic share of common stock over a three-year
period, except for certain early retirement and change in control circumstances.

IAs issued relating to the Plan totaled 1,208,631 in 2005. BVAs issued related to the Plan
totaled 1,489,111 in 2004 and 1,408,675 in 2003. Expenses relating to BVAs and IAs were $29,043,
$18,904 and $11,162 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The outstanding BVAs entitle the holders to
cash payments based upon the extent to which, if at all, the per share book value exceeds certain
thresholds set at the time the award was granted.

Employee stock options (options) granted from 1999 through 2001 relating to a previously
approved plan totaled 2,529,042, including the issuance of options previously terminated. No
employee stock options were granted after 2001 under the Plan. The outstanding options entitle the
recipient to purchase our common stock based upon the extent to which, if at all, the per share
market value of the common stock exceeds certain thresholds set at the time the option was
granted. Unexercised options terminate not later than eight years after the date of grant. The average
contractual life of the remaining 11,288 options outstanding at December 31, 2005 was 3.3 years.

The market price for our common stock and our financial results directly affect our expense
related to stock options, BVAs and IAs, respectively. Our stock option expense represents options
granted to both employees and American Commerce agents. An increase in the market value of our
stock will increase the expense we recognize for options subject to variable accounting. Similarly, an
increase in our net income will increase the value of, and therefore the expense we recognize for,
outstanding BVAs and IAs. :
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Note I - Stockholders’ Eguity (continued)

We record our expenses related to stock options, BVAs and IAs in three separate line items
on our income statement — losses and loss adjustment expenses, policy acquisition costs and net
investment income. The stock option, BVA and IA expenses recorded in each line item for the years
ended December 31 follow:

2005 2004 2003
Losses and loss adjustment expenses — BVATA ...oovvvvvnvriccvcnniinenn, $ 15,528 $ 10,086 $ 5,858
Policy acquisition costs — BVA/TA ... ve v 13,328 8,652 5,125
Net investiment income — BVAMA e 187 166 79
Total BVA/TA EXDEINSE .eccevvvvireieeienrieereeierieereressesessessarsesessessasses 29,043 18,904 11,162
Losses and loss adjustment expenses — employee options ............... 8 1,888 1,382
Policy acquisition costs ~ employee options ..........cceececvnnenievinc v 7 1,627 1,175
Net investment income — employee OPHONS ...cccovveveeiereeeeceerierenenene — 19 13
Total employee OPHON €XBENSE .c..cvveevievieriverninrrcrecee e 15 3,634 2,570
Losses and loss adjustment expenses — agents’ options .............. 767 8,410 4,966
Policy acquisition costs — agents’ OpLIoNS .........cccvveniviecrierereneiniecvnnns 528 6,881 4,064
Total agents’ OpLioNS EXPENSES ..coivceveevevieceeieiseee e ere s 1,395 15,291 9,030
Total stock option BVA and [A eXpenses .........occocvverrererennans $30,453 $37,729 $22,762

Liabilities for the BVAs, IAs and employee stock option programs were $48,193 and $29,654
at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Plan activity, related to employee options, for the three
years ended 2005 follows:

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Shares Price

Options outstanding at January 1, 2003 ... essnens 2,160,709 $31.35
EIXETCISEU .oivviieeieeiceiiiiee e et e et s et e e et e sse e s s e tareeeanesbssrasssesaaessesanesteenrerseaneerecs (348,037) 3179
Options outstanding at December 31, 2003 ..., 1,812,672 31.27
EXEICISEA oooviiiitieirt ettt ettt et e ese e e eresta e b e b aren e ta et st aaneeais (1,747,163) 31.28
Options outstanding at December 31, 2004 ..o 65,509 30.98
EXEICISE ..ottt ettt bt e e sh e e e a st b et s (54,221) 31.01
Options outstanding at December 31, 2005 ..o 11,288 30.80
Options exercisable at December 31, 2003 ..o, 628,329 32.15
Options exercisable at December 31, 2004 .....cooccvivvivrviiirrecee e 65,609 30.98
Options exercisable at December 31, 2005 ...cccovvvnirvciiieniene e 11,288 30.80

At December 31, 2005, 2,557,664 shares of common stock may be awarded in the future
under the Plan. Cur Compensation Committee has not granted stock options to employees under the
plan since 2001. We follow variable accounting treatment for options granted in 1999 and 2000 in
accordance with APB Opinion 25 and related interpretations.

The American Comunerce Agents’ Plan. Additionally, we grant options to certain agents

(ACIC agents’ options) of American Commerce (the ACIC Plan). The right of the recipient to exercise
these ACIC agents’ options is contingent upon the average volume of other-than-Massachusetts
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Note I - Stockholders’ Equity (continued)

private passenger automobile and homeowners direct written premiums placed and maintained with
American Commerce for a five year period specified in the ACIC agents’ option agreement. If quali-
fied, the recipient may purchase our common stock at the exercise price for a peried of five years
beginning five years after the date of the grant (the confirmation date). Unexercised ACIC agents’
options terminate not later than ten years after the date of the grant (the expiration date). In
conjunction with meeting specified premium growth levels over the term of the ACIC agents’ options,
we provided “put rights” to the holders of the ACIC agents’ options granted in 1999. These put rights
permit the agents’ option holders to require us to purchase the ACIC agents’ options at the difference
between $40.00 less the exercise price, at any time from and after the confirmation date through and
including the expiration date. Approximately 150,000 options remain outstanding from the 1999 grant.
Options cannot be exercised using cash. Options can only be exercised using a net share purchase
such that the dollar value that the option is in the money is divided by the fair market value of the
stock at the date of exercise to arrive at the number of shares received by the option holder. We
record our expenses associated with the ACIC Plan over each award’s vesting period, based on cur
estimate of the fair value of each award. Expenses related to these options were $1,395 in 2005,
$15,291 in 2004 and $9,030 in 2003. The ACIC Plan has not been, and is not required to be, approved
by our stockholders.

The ACIC Plan activity for the three years ended 2005 follows:

Weighted

Average

Exercise

Shares Price

Agents’ options outstanding at January 1, 2003 ... 2,697,380 $39.24
GTANLEA .eoiviiveeieiicerie et es e e e ste s e st e besae e e e sraesseabessaessessstareseesssasbesrersansnsessans 1,100,000 46.27
Agents’ options outstanding at December 31, 2003 ......cccooevvvieirecnvenveeciennns 3,797,380 41.28
GIANEEA vttt e et eae et e et et ere et e e et et ssse et e e e bes s estes e rseebs st easennesbaaaes 625,000 58.63
EXEICISEA ..oioveiieieici ettt et e e svae e stae e e e besa s sresressanteebn e aaanteane (1,500,250) 36.32
Agents’ options outstanding at December 31, 2004 ..o 2,922,130 4754
GIANEEA o.eiiviecieiec et te st e estestaesa e ense s e aaseseeseeasaesre st eranereaaee 475,000 72.53
EXETCISEA ..ecvieeeeeieeceeetee ettt ee et tene s s s s st esaseratea s s eemensasane (292,955) 35.74
FOTTEILEA ooviieiiiieiice ettt et s e st e s nebaeraeb et smaesnaes (700,000) 49.82
Agents’ options outstanding at December 31, 2005 ..o, 2,404,175 53.25

There were 154,175 and 372,130 exercisable ACIC agents’ options at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively. None were exercisable at December 31, 2003. The weighted average remaining
contractual life of ACIC agents’ options outstanding at December 31, 2005 was 7.4 years.

On February 10, 2005, 700,000 of the ACIC agents’ options that were outstanding at
December 31, 2004 were forfeited as a result of AAA Arizona terminating its relationship with Amer-
ican Commerce. None of these options were exercisable at the end of 2004. Accrued expenses for
these options were $3,487 at December 31, 2004. This amount was taken into income during the first
quarter of 2005,
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The fair value of each of the ACIC agents’ options granted under the ACIC Plan was esti-
mated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, with the following weighted average
assumptions:

2005 2004 2003
Bividend yield ..o et 2.66% 2.38% 3.20%
Expected vOlatIILY .cocooiiiieeieir ettt err et et eae e 19.80% 21.50% 22.40%
RiSK-free INTETESt TALE ......ccecvevriieerirreniire e erersee st cnene e etnannenes 4.40% 3.64% 3.04%
Expected option life in Years ......cocecvveivriineniiicsceeeene et 5-9.5 5-9.5 5-9.5

The exercise prices for ACIC agents’ options granted in 2005, 2004, and 2003 were $72.53,
$58.63 and $46.27, respectively. The estimated weighted average fair values per share of the ACIC
agents’ options were $13.80, $17.39 and $6.82 for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The ACIC agents’
option liability at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $17,398 and $19,835, respectively.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued in December 2004 revised rules for
accounting for stock options and other equity-based remuneration, SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based
Payment. SFAS No. 123R is applicable for employee options and not for non-employee options, such
as ACIC agents’ options. We will adopt these revised rules in the first quarter of 2006 when they
become effective. This change will not impact our results of operations and financial condition for
the stock options we awarded through 2001 under the Plan because application of the revised rules
is on a prospective basis. The revised rules will not change our accounting for BVAs, 1As and the
stock options we award under the ACIC Plan.

Treasury Stock

Effective July 1, 2004, Massachusetts corporate law eliminated the distinction between
treasury shares and authorized but unissued shares, by providing that common shares that we
acquire autornatically are restored to the status of authorized but unissued shares. We have
continued to reflect treasury shares on our balance sheet and in our notes to the financial statements
in part because the concept of treasury shares continues to be relevant under the New York Stock
Exchange Rules. Also effective July 1, 2004 Massachusetts corporate law eliminated the concept of
par value. The effect of that change was to supersede the historic prohibition against issuing par
value stock for less than par. There is no minimum price at which we may issue shares. We have
continued to show on our balance sheet the most recent par value per share of our common stock
($0.50), as well as the aggregate amount of par value for which the shares of our common stock now
cutstanding were issued, because we believe that presentation facilitates an understanding of the
stockholders’ equity section of our consolidated balance sheet.

In 2005, we issued 143,395 shares of our common stock from treasury to fund the Company’s
contribution to the Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP). We did not acquire any of our common
stock under our authorized buy-back program during 2005. At December 31, 2005, we had authority
to purchase a total of 858,300 additional shares of our common stock under our buy-back program.
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Note I - Stockholders’ Equity (continued)
Net Earnings Per Common Share (FFS)

Basic EPS is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding. Diluted EPS is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding adjusted by the number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding
had the potentially dilutive common shares been issued and reduced by the number of common
shares we could have repurchased from the proceeds of the potentially dilutive shares. Our only dilu-
tive instruments are stock options outstanding. Basic and diluted EPS are calculated for the years
ended December 31, as follows:

2005 2004 2003

Net earnings for basic and diluted EPS ... $ 243912 $§ 214431 $ 160,943
Common share information:

Average shares outstanding for basic EPS ..................... 33,685,858 32,802,023 32,000,220

Dilutive effect of stock OptioNSs .....cccccvvivciiivieccn i, 261,807 150,691 254,443

Average shares outstanding for dilutive EPS ................... 33,847,665 32,952,714 32,254,663
Basic EPS ..ottt $ 726 $ 654 § 5.03
Diluted EPS ..oooiriiiieree ettt e v v e et eaa s $ 721 % 651 & 4.99

The computation of diluted EPS did not include stock options that were anti-dilutive, as their
exercise price was greater than the average market price of our common stock during the year. The
number of such options was 400,000, 1,100,000 and 1,850,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

Payments of Dividends

Under Massachusetts law, an insurer may pay cash dividends only from earnings and statu-
tory surplus, and the insurer’s remaining surplus must be both reasonable in relation to its
outstanding liabilities and adequate to its financial needs. Following the declaration and payment of
such dividends, the insurer must file a report with the Commissioner. A Massachusetts insurance
company may not pay an extraordinary dividend or distribution unless the insurer gives the Commis-
sioner at least 30 days prior notice of the declaration and the Commissioner does not disapprove of
the plan of payment prior to the date of such payment. An extraordinary dividend or distribution
includes any dividend or distribution whose fair market value together with other dividends or distri-
butions made within the preceding 12 months exceeds the greater of 10% of surplus, or net income
for the 12 month period ending the 31 day of December. California and Ohio have laws similar to
those in Massachusetts regulating the payment of dividends by insurance companies.

The aggregate amount of dividends calculated in accordance with regulations in Massachu-
setts, California and Ohio that could have been paid in 2005 from all of our insurance subsidiaries
without prior regulatory approval was approximately $241,062, of which $68,410 was declared and
paid as of December 31, 2005.

Our Board of Directors voted to declare four quarterly dividends to stockholders of record
totaling $1.47 per share and $1.31 per share in 2005 and 2004, respectively. On May 20, 2005, the
board voted to increase the quarterly stockholder dividend from $0.33 to $0.38 per share to stock-
holders of record as of May 31, 2005. Prior to that declaration, we paid quarterly dividends of $0.33
per share dating back to May 21, 2004 when the board voted to increase the dividend from $0.32 to
$0.33 per share.
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Note J - Premiums

Insurance premiums are recognized as income ratably over the terms of the policies.
Unearned premiums are determined by prorating written premiums on a daily basis over the terms of
the policies.

Approximately 82.8% of our direct premiurns written for the year ended December 31, 2005
were generated from personal automobile insurance policies. Approximately 87.3% of our direct
premiums written for the year ended December 31, 2005 were generated in Massachusetts.

A significant portion of ocur Massachusetts premiums written is derived through the American
Automobile Association Clubs of Massachusetts (AAA Clubs) affinity group marketing program.
Direct premiums written by the AAA affinity group marketing program in Massachusetts were
$727,206 or 38.8% of our total direct premiums written in 2005, $725,579 or 39.5% in 2004 and
$691,694 or 41.7% in 2003. Insurance agencies owned by the AAA Clubs wrote 15.2% and our network
of independent agents wrote 84.8% of total AAA affinity direct written premium in 2005. During 2004,
AAA Club-owned agencies wrote 14.5% and our network wrote 85.5%.

Note K - Income Taxes

As a member of a consolidated group for tax purposes, The Commerce Group, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (Affiliated Group) elect to file a consolidated federal income tax return. As such, they
are jointly and severally liable for federal income taxes of the Affiliated Group. We have entered into
an agreement establishing an allocation of tax liability and for compensation of the respective
members of the Affiliated Group for use of their tax losses and credits.

The method of allocation calls for current taxes to be allocated among all affiliated compa-
nies based on a written tax-sharing agreement. Under this agreement, allocation is made primarily on
a separate return basis with current payment for losses and other tax items utilized in the consoli-
dated return.

We use an asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our
financial statements or tax returns. In estimating future tax consequences, we consider all expected
future events other than changes in the tax law or rates, unless enacted. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

Our federal income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31 follows:

2005 2004 2003
CUITEIME wvvvvevererersereeeseseeseosmeeesees e esseesesesssssesssseeseeresesessssseseeseesessessessrees e $120,781 $92298  $63,852
DEFEITEA vvereveeeeeseeveeereeeeseeeeesesesesesessesesesesseseseseesesesesseseseseeessesereseseseseee o (13,013)  (3,295)  (5,784)
TICOTIE TAXES .erreveveeeeeeeereeseeeereeeseeseseseseeesesesesseeeseesseeeeesssesessesseene $107,768 $89,003  $58,068

Realization of a deferred tax asset is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income in
future years. Although realization is not assured, we believe it is more likely than not that all of the
deferred tax assets will be realized. GAAP requires a valuation allowance to be recorded when it is
more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We did not have
a valuation allowance for deferred taxes at December 31, 2005 and 2004.
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Note K - Income Taxes (continued}

Deferred tax liabilities (assets) at December 31 follow:

2005 2004

UNearned PLEIMIUINS .......ccocevovereteiieerereeeeeeteteeseseesetsataenssesesetasesesesesesessenesassenasransas $ (55,804) $ (53,965)
DiSCOUNting Of 10SS TESEIVES .....ccvcvvirririerieiariririireeesrcrestesnssessesesssseasiesaasesssassasesses (22,460) (27,145
Deferred profit Sharing ......cccoooveriiciieiiiie ettt (18,925) —
Deferred INCOME .....oooiiiiiiiiicc ettt ettt e e ee (13,317) (12,853)
Book value and incentive awards eXPense ......c..c.ccveceeereinieienernneenetie e (8,566) (6,782)
Investment WITtE-AOWIS .....c.cooeeviiiiiiiriei ettt et sr e e (7,944) (8,381)
Agents’ StOCK OPLION EXPENSE ..ccvviiieriiiiiiiiniecceten ettt (6,089) (7,026)
Net accumulated comprehensive 10SS ..o e (3,675) —
Directors’ retirement compensation eXPeNSE ......cccveveeeeveererrrieesveerereersneereenes (1,393) (1,082)
OTRET ettt sttt eb et b e skt s etttk e s eaeenete st be b e naateabas (4,236) (3,660)

Deferred taAX ASSEES ..vovvreverirriresiieciesisrestisssesssessitssssssissssss s tesssssssessssssresssnsnts (142,409) (120,794
Deferred policy acquiSItiON COSES ....cvviviiiiiiiiecciniiie ittt s eaae s 61,045 57,275
Preferred stock mutual fUndS ........cccooeveoiiiiiiieencte e et 4,602 4,367
Tax depreciation in excess of book depreciation ...........ccocecevvevneeveerininnene 3,400 3,642
Salvage and SUDrogation reCOVerable .............ccocoiiivereeessomrieseneiesiessses s 2,360 2,120
Net accumulated comprehensive iNCOME ........cccvvvviiiivienieciitirresecen e e — 8,841
OBNET ettt ettt ettt ettt s a st st e b et eb et eaes b b est et e e er et e st s es e ntere e 2,076 1,177

Deferred tax HabilitieS ......c..ccceviereiiiiiiniie ettt ceve b 73,483 77,422

Net deferTed TAX ASSEE ..vivveiiieeeereiei et ene et eses st s e s s sesens $ (68,926) $ (43,372)

Federal income tax is less than the amount computed by applying the statutory rate of 35%

for the years ended December 31 for the following reasons:

2005 2004 2003

Tax at statutory rate ...........c.ccveeeenene, $123,412 35.0%  $106,467 35.0%  $76,757 35.0%
Tax exempt INGETest ..ocvevvecreecevcniiiereerene (10,052) (2.9) (10,239) (34) (4,933) (2.2)
Dividends received deduction ................. (6,429) (1.5) (5,306) (1.7) (7,942) (3.6)
Dividends paid to ESOP participants .... (1,510) (0.4 (1,342) (04) (1,211) (0.6)
Valuation allowance ..........cccceovneiencnene — — — — (3,936) (1.8)
Tax contingency reserve ... 266 0.1 (1,038) (0.3) — -—

Other .o 1,081 0.3 461 0.1 (667) (0.3)
Tax and effective rate .......ccoevenneciennn $107,768 30.6% $ 89,003 293% $58068 26.5%

During 2004, our 2001 and 2002 federal income tax returns were audited by the IRS; there

were no material findings.
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Note L - Insolvency Fund Assessments
Protection Against Insurer Insolvency — Massachusetts

All of the insurers writing the types of insurance covered by the Massachusetts Insurers
Insolvency Fund (MIIF) are MIIF members. MIIF is obligated to pay any unpaid claim, up to $300,
against an insclvent insurer if the claims existed prior to the declaration of insclvency or arose
within 60 days thereafter. MIIF assesses members the amounts it deems necessary to pay both its
obligations and the expenses of handling covered claims. Subject to certain limitations, assessments
are made in the proportion that each member’s net written premiums for the preceding calendar year
for all property and casualty lines of business to the corresponding net written premiums for all
members for the same period. The statute that established MIF also provides for the recoupment by
insurers of amounts paid to MIIF. Historically, the Commissioner has allowed insurers to recoup the
amounts they paid MIIF through rate adjustments.

It is anticipated that there will be additicnal assessments from time to time relating to
various insolvencies. By statute, no insurer may be assessed in any year an amount greater than two
percent of that insurer’s direct written premiums for the calendar year preceding the assessment.
MIIF assessed Commerce and Citation $128, $6,304, and $8,106 for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. These amounts are net of credits for prior year assessments cn
numerous insurer insolvencies.

Protection Against nsurer Insolvency — Other States

All companies are also covered by similar associations in the states where they do business.
These associations operate similarly to the MIIF. Commerce West, domiciled in California, is covered
by the California Insurance Guarantee Association, as well as associations in Arizona and Oregon.
American Commerce, domiciled in Chig, is covered by the Chio Guarantee Association, as well as
associations in the other states in which they do business. Payments made by American Commerce,
Commerce West and Commerce (for New Hampshire only) to the associations that they are covered
under were $76 in 2005, $126 in 2004 and $190 in 2003. These amounts are net of credits for prior
year assessments.

Note M - Reinsurance

We reinsure with other insurance companies on a claims incurred basis a portion of our
potential exposure under the policies we have written. The objective of this reinsurance is to miti-
gate the adverse financial consequences of a severe loss under individual policies, or catastrophic
occurrences where a number of claims can produce an extraordinary aggregate loss. Reinsurance
does not legally discharge us from our primary liability to the insured for the full amount of the poli-
cies, but it does make the reinsurer liable to us to the extent of the reinsured portion of any loss
ultimately suffered. We seek to utilize reinsurers that we consider adequately capitalized and finan-
cially able to meet their obligations under reinsurance agreements with us. We use a variety of rein-
surance mechanisms to protect against loss.

Quota Share Reinsurance

On June 30, 2005, our 70% one-year quota share reinsurance program expired. This program
covered all non-automobile property and liability business, except umbrella policies. This program
was extended ancther year, effective July 1, 2005, with the primary change in terms being an
increase in the quota share rate to 75%. Quota share reinsurance refers to a form of pro rata reinsur-
ance arrangement pursuant to which the reinsurer participates in a specified percentage of the
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Note M - Reinsurance {continued)

premiums and losses on every risk that comes within the scope of the reinsurance agreement. The
current program is split among American Re-Insurance Corporation, rated “A Excellent” by A.M. Best
(its third highest rating), Swiss Re America Corporation, rated “A+ Superior” by A.M. Best (its
second highest rating), and Transatlantic Insurance Company, rated “A+ Superior” by A.M. Best. The
maximum per occurrence dollar recovery is equal to 225% of the annual net premiums ceded to the
quota share arrangement in the contract year. The maximum aggregate per year dollar recovery
under the quota share contract is equal to 325% of the annual net premium ceded to the quota share
arrangement in the contract year. A sliding scale commission, based on loss ratio, is utilized under
this program. This program provides us with sufficient protection for catastrophe coverage to enable
us to forego pure catastrophe reinsurance coverage.

The table below provides information depicting the approximate recovery under the quota
share contract at various loss scenarios, if a single catastrophe were to strike through June 30, 2006:

Net Loss
Total Reinsurance Retained by
Loss Recovery Commerce
$ 50,000 $ 37,500 $ 12500
100,000 75,000 25,000
150,000 112,500 37,500
200,000 150,000 50,000
250,000 187,500 62,500
300,000 225,000 75,000
350,000 262,500 87,500
400,000 300,000 100,000
450,000 337,500 112,500

Under the above scenario and based on the twelve month projected premiums to be ceded
under the program, we have no reinsurance recoveries for a single event catastrophe in excess of a
total loss of approximately $484,000. The level of reinsurance protection increases (decreases) when
we cede more (less) premium to the reinsurers.

It is customary for property and casualty companies to evaluate their exposure to a weather-
related catastrophe by estimating the losses that would be incurred if a storm equivalent to the most
destructive storm that has occurred during a given period were to occur during a current fiscal year
or reinsurance policy period. If the estimate focuses on hurricanes during the past 100 years, for
example, the most destructive hurricane during that period is referred to as a “100-year hurricane.”
Our estimated total loss, before reinsurance, on our other-than-automobile business for 100 and 250-
vear hurricanes is approximately $340,000 and $640,000, respectively. Our estimates were derived
through the services of Holborn Corporation on our December 31, 2005 otherthan-automobile poli-
cies, which utilized the RMS (Risk Management Solutions) risk assessment system. We believe that
most property and casualty insurance companies establish their catastrophe reinsurance programs
between the 100-year and 250-year storm estimates.

Written premiums ceded in 2005, 2004 and 2003 under the current and prior guota share
programs combined were $150,461, $133,562 and $107,313, respectively. The 12.7% increase in written
premiums ceded in 2005 versus 2004 in this program was primarily the result of a $14,908, or 12.3%
increase in Massachusetts homeowner direct written premium. In addition, the increase on the quota
share participation rate from 70% to 75% on July 1, 2005 contributed to the increased cessions.
Ceding commission income is calculated on a ceded earned premium basis.
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Note M - Reinsurance (continued)
FAIR Plan

Our insurance subsidiaries are reguired to participate in various Property Insurance Under-
writing Associations, the most significant of which is the Fair Access to Insurance Regquirements Plan
(FAIR Plan) in Massachusetts. The federal government reinsures those insurers participating in FAIR
Plans against losses sustained from riots and civil disorders. The Massachusetts FAIR Plan has
coastal policies which cculd result in losses which could be material to the FAIR Plan and partici-
pating insurance companies. The Massachusetts FAIR Plan does not purchase catastrophe reinsur-
ance; consequently, we have exposure for our proportionate share of catastrophic events cccuring in
the FAIR Plan.

Effective July 1, 2005, we purchased a one-year Catastrophe Treaty for our exposure to FAIR
Plan losses in excess of $100,000 up to a total FAIR Plan loss of $1,000,000. We purchased 6% of this
treaty, which will afford us a recovery of $54,000 excess of a $6,000 retention if the FAIR Pian should
suffer a $1,000,000 or greater loss. The estimated 250-year probable maximum loss for the FAIR Plan
is approximately $1,000,000. This loss estimate is the average of the two catastrophe models utilized
by the FAIR Plan.

Casualty Reinsurance

Casualty reinsurance, excluding umbrella policies, is written on an excess of loss basis for
any one event or occurrence with a maximum recovery of $8,000 over a net retention of $2,000. This
coverage is placed with Swiss Re America Corporation.

Personal and Commercial Umbrella

Personal and commercial liability umbrella policies are reinsured on a 95% quota share basis
in regard to limits up to $1,000 and 100% quota share basis for limits in excess of $1,000 but not
exceeding $5,000 for policies with underlying automobile coverage of $250/$500 or more. We also
have personal liability umbrella reinsurance coverage for policies with underlying automobile
coverage of $100/$300 on a 65% quota share basis for limits up to $1,000 and 100% quota share basis
for limits in excess of $1,0600 but not exceeding $3,000. These coverages were placed with Employers
Reinsurance Corporation, rated “A” by A.M. Best (its third highest rating), through July 31, 2005.
Effective August 1, 2005, this program was placed with Swiss Re America Corporation.

Eamed premiums and losses and loss adjustment expenses are stated in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements after deductions for reinsurance. Those deductions for reinsurance,
other than CAR, follow for the years ended December 31:

2005 2004 2003

Income Statement:

WEIELET! DIEIMUINS .v.vvivetveeeveeeesee et eeeeeseeeseses e eesesseresesasereessenenas $ 156,154 $138,084 $111,119

Earned PrEMHUINS ..vooivirieieeereree et eestes oo eesee s se s sanesseseseenens 147,578 124,975 108,249

Losses and loss adjustment eXpenses ....c.ovevevieeeneceennvererecnnes 65,595 57,199 68,139
Balance Sheet:

Unpaid losses and loss adjustment eXpenses ........ccccvvveevreeanns 60,560 58,608 58,074

Unearned PreIMiUIMS ...c.c.cciververriiesreiriernueeeresncsesensrerossasirssssessssssaens 81,275 72,699 59,712
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Note M ~ Reinsurance (continued)

We, as primary insurer, would be required to pay losses in their entirety in the event that the
reinsurers were unable to discharge their obligations under the reinsurance agreements.

Commornwealth Automobile Retnsurers

CAR, a state-mandated reinsurance mechanism, enables us and other servicing carriers to
reinsure any automobile risk that the insurer perceives to be under-priced at the premium level
permitted by the Commissioner of Insurance. Servicing carriers, which are responsible for over 99.0%
of total direct premiums written for personal automobile insurance in Massachusetts, are required to
offer automobile insurance coverage to all eligible applicants pursuant to “take-all-comers” regula-
tions, but may reinsure business with CAR.

Since its inception, CAR has annually generated multi-hundred million dollar underwriting
losses, primarily in the personal automobile pool. We are required to share in the underwriting
results of CAR business for our respective product lines. Under current regulations, our share of the
CAR personal or commercial deficit is based upon our market share of automobile risks for the
particular pool, adjusted by a “utilization” concept, such that, in general, we are disproportionately
and adversely affected if our relative use of CAR reinsurance exceeds that of the industry, and favor-
ably affected if our relative use of CAR reinsurance is less than that of the industry. For personal
automobile writers, companies can reduce their participation ratio by writing credit eligible business
voluntarily. Companies are provided credits against their participation ratio for writing those classes
and territories of business that are purposefully under-priced in the Massachusetts rate setting
process. Companies are also penalized for ceding certain business to CAR. Our strategy has been to
maintain above average voluntary retention levels, as well as to retain private passenger automobile
business voluntarily that receives credits. This favorably affects our participation ratio compared to
our market share, but adversely impacts our voluntary loss ratio. Through 2004, the CAR utilization-
based participation ratic had remained the same for the personal automobile market. In 2005 and
continuing into 2006, CAR began using a credit matrix which had the effect of moving our participa-
tion ratios closer to our market share. During 2005, 2004 and 2003, our net participation in the CAR
personal automobile pool approximated 26.2%, 23.2% and 20.2%, respectively, as estimated by us for
20056 and as reported by CAR for 2004 and 2003. This is as compared to our estimated market share
in those years of 29.9%, 29.1% and 27.7%, respectively. During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the amount of
personal automobile exposure we reinsured through CAR approximated 4.7%, 5.2%, and 5.1%, respec-
tively, as compared to industry averages of 6.2%, 6.8% and 7.0%, respectively. A CAR reform proposal
approved by the Commissioner on December 31, 2004 would, if implemented, substantially change
the existing CAR utilization allocation. See Note R for additional information.

Reinsurance activity with CAR for fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003 follows:

2005 2004 2003
Ceded Assumed Ceded Assumed Ceded Assumed
Income Statement:
Written premiums .................... $113,984 $132,098 $115766 $128152 $104,898 $112547
Earned premiums ...........c....... 118,307 125,982 110,833 121,379 96,150 104,297
Losses and LAE incurred ....... 105,409 104,459 105,405 137,822 119,128 144,252
Underwriting expenses ........... — 40,401 — 42,763 — 35,474
Balance Sheet:
Unpaid losses and LAE .......... 93,418 131,026 99,990 144,184 106,936 133,175
Unearned premiums ................ 54,142 68,5613 58,465 62,397 53,632 55,624
105
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Note M - Reinsurance (continued)

We pay 1o CAR all of the premiums generated by the policies we have ceded and CAR reim-
burses us for all losses incurred on ceded policies. In addition, we receive a fee for servicing ceded
policies based on the expense structure established by CAR. For the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, these servicing fees amounted to $24,102, $21,160 and $18,938, respectively.

We present assets and liabilities gross of reinsurance. The residual market receivable repre-
sents the gross amount of reinsurance reccverable from CAR, including unpaid losses, unearned
premiums, paid losses recoverable and unpaid ceded and assumed premiums.

Our two largest reinsurance components, quota share and CAR, settle on a quarterly basis.
Quota share settles 45 days after the end of each quarter and CAR settles 90 days after the end of
each quarter. There were no balances in dispute for the years ended 2005 and 2004 for either
component.

Income consisting of expense reimbursements, which include servicing carrier fees from CAR
on policies written for CAR, is deferred and amortized over the term of the related insurance
policies.

Note N - Employee Stock Ownership Plan

We offer an ESOP for the benefit of substantially all employees, including those of our
subsidiaries. The ESOP is noncontributory on the part of participants and contributions are made at
the discretion of the Board of Directors. We are under no obligation to make contributions or main-
tain the ESOP for any lengih of time and may completely discontinue or terminate the ESOP at any
time without liability. Contribution expense for the ESOP for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 were $10,371, $9,651 and $8,850, respectively. In 2006 and 2005, the 2005 and 2004
contributions, respectively, were funded entirely with 191,497 and 143,395 treasury stock shares,
respectively. ESOP contributions in previous years were made in cash. The increase in the contribu-
tion in 2005 over 2004 and in 2004 over 2003 was primarily due to an increase in employees and
wages paid to them. The ESOP held 2,871,257 and 2,819,951 shares of our common stock at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Contributions are allocated among the participants’ accounts in the ratic of each participant’s
eligible Form W-2 compensation to the total of all participants’ covered compensation for the year.
Dividends on ESOP shares are fully earned, and participants can elect to either receive cash or apply
the dividend to their ESOP account. ESOP shares are treated as outstandmg shares for the purpose
of our earnings per share calculations.

ESOP participants who are current employees and who are 100% vested in their ESOP
accounts can annually elect to transfer out of the ESOP up to 100% of their allocated Company stock
in the form of an eligible rollover distribution into another eligible retirement plan, such as a quali-
fied individual retirement arrangement. Approximately 2,177,000 shares owned by participants in the
ESOP at December 31, 2005 are allocated to the ESOP accounts of these individuals. ESOP accounts
vest at a rate of 20% per service year beginning with a participant’s third year of service.

ESOP participants who are former employees of the Company may generally elect to with-
draw from the ESOP the total amount of shares allocated to their accounts at any time. Approxi-
mately 534,000 shares held by the ESOP at December 31, 2005 are allocated to the ESOP accounts of
these individuals.
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Note N - Employee Stock Ownership Plan (continued)

The remaining approximately 160,000 shares held by the ESOP at December 31, 2005 are
allocated to the ESOP accounts of participants who have not yet reached 100% vesting in their
account balances. The fair value of the ESOP shares held by participants that are less than 100%
vested at December 31, 2005 was approximately $9,200. Disposition of these unvested shares is
restricted under the ESOP. We pay for administration of the ESOP.

In 2003, our 401(k) Plan was merged into the ESOP. The ESOP is administered by Fidelity
Investments. The 401(k) component of the ESOP enables eligible employees to contribute up to 60%
of eligible compensation on a pre-tax basis up to the annual maximum limits under federal tax law.
We incur no expenses in the form of matching contributions but we pay for administration of the
plan.

Note O - Directors’ Retirement Compensation Plan

During 2000, our directors approved a Directors’ Retirement Compensation Plan (the Retire-
ment Plan). The Retirement Plan becomes effective for each director upon terminating service from
our Board of Directors (the Board) providing that such termination was not made under conditions
adverse to our interest. Effective with the annual meeting wherein the director is not reappointed to
the Board, and provided benefits are not paid until such time as the director has attained the age of
65, we will pay an annual retirement benefit equal to 50% of the average annual total compensation
of the director for the highest three full years (the three year average compensation). The annual
retirement benefit of 50% of the three year average compensation vests at the rate of 4.0% for each
year of Board service up to a maximum of 100% vesting through termination of service. Payments
continue for a maximum of ten years over the remaining life of the terminated director, or his or her
then spouse, if the director pre-deceases the spouse. No payments are to be made after the death of
the director and spouse. Expenses related to the Retirement Plan in 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $887,
$273 and $286, respectively. We paid $78, $565 and $36 under the Retirement Plan in 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. The liability for the Retirement Plan, as calculated based on a discounted cash
flow basis, was $3,980 and $3,093 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Note P - Segment Information

We have four reportable segments: (1) property and casualty insurance — Massachusetts; (2)
property and casualty insurance -~ other than Massachusetts; (3) real estate and commercial lending;
and, (4) corporate and other. Gur property and casualty insurance operations are written through
Commerce, Citation, Commerce West, and American Commerce and are marketed to affinity groups,
individuals, families and businesses through our relationships with professionat independent insur-
ance agencies. Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Bay Finance Company, Inc., originates and services resi-
dential and commercial mortgages in Massachusetts and Connecticut. The corporate and other
segment represents the remainder of our activities, including those of the parent company.

We evaluate performance and allocate resources based primarily on the property and casu-
alty insurance segments, which represents over 99% of our total revenue for the past three years. The
accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in these notes to
consolidated financial statements.
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Note P — Segment Information {continued)

Selected segment information for 2005, 2004 and 2003 fellows. Earnings are before income
taxes and change in accounting principle and include minority interest.

Revenue Earnings Assets
2005:
Property and casualty insurance
MASSACHUSEILS ..voociirieiererrieicre s csessrese e s e sesasseasr s aaees $1,654,217 $ 361,273 $3,512,861
Other than Massachusetts ....cccvvveveemviverccinrern e 230,121 32,886 368,843
Real estate and commercial lending ..........ccooveeeviniinenninenn 454 454 17,963
Corporate and Other .....cicccerinenererieeeeece e e (411) (42,933) 27,343
Consolidated ...oooovivveree it e $1,884,381 $ 351,680 $ 3,927,010
2004:
Property and casualty insurance
MasSSACHUSELES ....ccccovviiievireciiee et re s $1,565,990 $ 318,594  $3,218,090
Other than MassachuSetts ....ccovevereiereeirrereeec e 240,338 36,322 359,813
Real estate and commercial lending ........c.ococecvecnenenceiinnene 731 731 15,207
Corporate and Other ......cecvveveveneicece e ene s (488) (52,213) 28,133
ConsolAated .......ooocoeevivivieree e $ 1,806,571 $ 303434 $3,612,243
2003:
Property and casualty insurance
MASSACHUSELES ....oevvvevveceeee et ettt ee et st e bese s $1,413.074 $ 224,092  $ 2,829,257
Other than MassachuSetts ......ccccivrienicrnnienrerieneeneeee 226,978 16,182 334,933
Real estate and commercial lending ............cocovevieniirnccnnn 1,233 1,233 16,924
Corporate and Other .........ccocvvivviecnvn e eees (463) (22,496) 30,172
CONSOHAALEA ....voveeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt $1,640,822 $ 219,011 $3,211,286
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Note P - Segment Information (continued)

Direct premiums written and earned for the years ended 2005, 2004 and 2003 follow:

2005 2004 2003
Massachusetts Direct Premiums Written:
Personal automobile ...t $1,365,887 $1,327375  $1,191,123
Commercial automobile ......ccccovviiieiiniiiee e 94,963 96,646 89,862
HOMEOWNETS ..ot 136,130 121,222 102,951
Other HNES ..oovviiceeeciee ettt sen et sre b saens 38,971 39,421 35,468
Massachusetts Direct Premiums Written .........cccecue. 1,635,951 1,584,664 1,419,404
Other Than Massachusetts Direct Premiums Written:
Personal automobile ........c..ccccovviiiniicrinic e 184,573 200,700 194,409
Commercial automobile .......cccovviviieviiiiie vt 9,974 9,131 8,067
HOIMEOWTIEIS ..vviiveceieiiiee ettt st cn et s vesare s seaeenne 42,483 42 561 36,098
Other HIES ...cvovivieiee ettt e 1,250 1,185 991
Other Than Massachusetts Direct Premiums
WIIEEEIU ooovviveeiere ettt s ne ettt re s e st ese st b st ereers 238,280 253,677 239,565
Total Direct Premiums WItten ........ccooevvvevercvncnnenenn, $1874,231 $1,838241 $ 1,658,969
2005 2004 2003
Massachusetts Direct Earned Premiums:
Personal automobile ..........cccccoeevierieveinceeec e $1,343,247  $1,260,307 $1,111,551
Commercial automobile ........cccoovccveiieeniiee s 95,197 93,994 82,382
HOMEOWTIIELS .eviiciiiiiei et ceee ettt et a e s e sate e earaes 128,495 111,365 92,459
Other INES ..ottt r e e 38,891 37,717 31,887
Massachusetts Direct Earned Premiums ..........c......... 1,605,830 1,503,373 1,318,279
Other Than Massachusetts Direct Earned Premiums:
Personal automobile ..........cccccivieieeiiiinieece e 190,123 200,715 186,123
Commercial automobile ........cccoviiviieeciricieneee e 9,697 8,536 6,992
HOMEOWNEIS vttt sae e 43,032 39,558 31,777
OtRET HNES vt et stee st r v sr st b e e ennaan, 1,245 1,079 888
Other Than Massachusetts Direct Earned
Premiums ..ot ane 243,997 249,888 225,780
Total Direct Earned Premiums .........ccccceveveveviereererennn. $1,849827 $1,753,261  $1,544,059

Note Q — Related-Party Transactions

We have made loans to insurance agencies with which Commerce transacts business on a
regular basis. At December 31, 2005, five loans with an aggregate outstanding principal balance of
$1,812 were collateralized by the assets of the agencies. At December 31, 2004, six loans with an
aggregate outstanding balance of $2,081 were collateralized by the assets of the agencies. There were
no loans to insurance agencies collateralized solely by real estate in 2005 and 2004. At December 31,
2003, ten loans with an aggregate outstanding balance of $2,537 were collateralized by the assets of
the agencies and one loan with an outstanding balance of $281 was collateralized by real estate as
the primary collateral and the assets of the agency as second collateral.
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Note Q - Related-Party Transactions {continued)

The immediate family of Raymond J. Lauring, a director of the Company, owns more than a
10% equity interest in Lauring Construction Company. Mr. Lauring has no ownership interest in the
construction company. During 2003, the construction company provided construction and construc-
tion management services in connection with a contract for the estimated $13,000 renovation of a
130,000 square foot building we purchased. Terms of the contract provided for a fixed fee of $650 for
supervision of management of the project. Total payments on the supervision and management serv-
ices portion of the contract in 2003 were $375. Payments to the construction company in 2003 for
actual materials used and construction work performed on this project were $335, and payments for
other work unrelated to the project were $222 in 2005, $285 in 2004, and $45 in 2003. No payments
were made to the construction company in 2004 or 2005 for the renovation project as the project
was completed in 2003.

Note R - Contingencies

As is common with property and casualty insurance companies, we are a defendant in
various legal actions arising from the normal course of our business, including claims based on the
Massachusetts Unfair Claims Settlement Practices Act, or Chapter 176D and the Massachusetts
Consumer Protection Act, or Chapter 93A. Similar provisions exist in other states where we do busi-
ness. These proceedings are considered ordinary to operations or without foundation in fact. We are
of the opinion that these actions will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
position.

Polential Liability for CAR Obligation

Member companies of CAR have joint and several liabilities for the obligations of CAR, the
Massachusetts-mandated perseonal automobile reinsurance mechanism that enables us and other
participating insurers to reinsure in CAR any risk. If one member of CAR fails to pay its assessments,
the remaining members of CAR will be required to pay the pro-rata share of the member who fails to
pay its obligations. As of December 31, 2005, we were not aware of any CAR member company
which has failed to meet its obligations.

CAR Regulatory Reform

On January 5, 2005, we filed an action against the Insurance Commissioner in Massachusetts
Superior Court appealing a December 31, 2004 order by the Commissioner adopting new regulations
that, among other things, would replace the current loss-pooling residual market entity, CAR, with an
assigned risk plan. We contend that the Commissioner’s new regulations are inconsistent with
existing Massachusetts insurance laws. Following a hearing on May 2, 2005, the Superior Court ruled,
on June 20, 2005, that the Commissioner did not have the statutory authority to implement an
assigned risk plan. The court’s ruling annulled the Commissioner’s order and vacated the new regula-
tions adopted pursuant to the order. The Commissioner appealed the Superior Court’s decision to the
Massachusetts Appeals Court. We and the Commissioner both petitioned for direct appellate review
by the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court (the SJC). The SJC agreed on October 26, 2005 to hear
the appeal directly. The parties have submitted briefs to the SJIC and the SJC is expected to hear oral
arguments in April or May, 2006. We cannot predict how the SJC will rule on the appeal, nor can we
predict when this matter will be resolved. However, we believe that even if the Commissioner’s
appeal is upheld by the SJC, it is unlikely that the new rules in the Commissioner’s order will be
implemented retroactive to January 1, 2005.
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Note S - Statutory Financial Information

The insurance subsidiaries, Commerce, Citation, Commerce West and American Commerce,
prepare statutory financial statements in accordance with accounting practices prescribed or
permitted by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and the Division of Insurance of
The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the State of California, and the State of Ohio. Statutory
accounting principles differ in some respects from GAAP.

Our consolidated net income on a statutory basis for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 was $238,122, $241,062 and $136,438, respectively. Our statutory policyholders’ surplus
as reported to various state insurance departments at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $1,477,307
and $1,290,075, respectively.
Note T - Quarterly Results of Operations (unaudited)

An unaudited summary of our 2005 and 2004 quarterly performance follows:

First Second Third Fourth
2005 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
TOLA] TEVEIUES ...ttt st st $467,809 $478,369 $465,732 $472,471
Net @aIMINGS .coicoiviciiie e sreveas 58,038 62,5662 59,830 63,482
Comprehensive INCOME .....coccovveereeieerineerenrvenic e 32,970~ 84,352 45,029 58,348
Net earnings per common share:
BaSIC covviiiiviiiii et 1.73 1.86 1.78 1.89
DIIUted oot e e 1.72 1.85 1.77 1.87
Cash dividends paid per share ...........cocecvreceevcciennenne 0.33 0.38 0.38 0.38
First Second Third Fourth
2004 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
TOLAL TEVEIUES ..vvvrevirvieiveieeeeeeteeeee e e eveieevesa s etasse st rsessanes $ 450,886 $430,937 $448,839 $475,909
Net €arNINGS ..ovvcvevieeiieiiiecieiereereee s ese e senesrseeesravens 51,040 37,390 54,314 71,687
Comprehensive income (10SS) ...ooveerenererercnenenierennnan, 58,441 (20,915) 87,923 76,302
Net earnings per common share:
BaSIC i e e 1.58 1.14 1.65 2.16
DIIUted oo e 1.56 1.14 1.64 2.14
Cash dividends paid per Share .......ccccvvvvcrvercnccnnnnnnn, 0.32 0.33 0.33 0.33
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December 31,

(Thousands of Dollars, Unaudited )

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
ASSETS
Cash and short-term investments ............oveiiierenens $ 97445 $ 220,245 $ 213,033 $ 205907 $ 180,930
Bonds, at market (at amortized cost prior to 1993) ..... 2,029,065 1,692,364 1,497,016 683,811 626,482
Preferred stocks, at market (at amortized cost prior
B0 1993) oot 393,681 422,344 298,721 305,057 248,101
Common stocks, at market 102,344 81,433 105,523 99,818 107,458
Preferred stock mutual funds (at equity) ......ccocoreennene 96,332 61,429 54,274 270,616 309,282
Mortgage loans on real estate .........ccecevcrncinrnniceneninne 7,396 10,636 10,996 17,693 26,237
Other investments 28,111 34,281 22,914 21,068 18,743
Premium balances receivable ........coccecivcieviniiievniecnne 474971 459,660 410,713 341,858 246,095
Investment income receivable .......ccoceviiviecivcniecenennee 22,218 18,611 19,271 13,903 15,460
Residual market receivable 191,309 193,618 192,743 164,476 131,670
Reinsurance receivable .....cocvviveeeeiiieeeenn, 142923 133,328 117,786 98,403 74,359
Deferred acquisition CoSts ......coeeerivivnieennnn, 174,415 163,645 153,605 138,241 116,557
Current INCOME TAXES ...ovvvvveverririecreirnieisreieenesesensessesenne — — — — —
Deferred inCOME tAXES ..oocvivevireeee et cveereeceeeseerecaeeeneas 47,780 22,781 14,238 24,380 16,550
Non-compete agreement .........coceeevenenene e — — 2,129 2,479
Real estate, furniture and equipment 61,378 54,168 53,511 50,182 38,764
Receivable for investments sold ......cccccoceeeevciviieiieccennnn. 10 10 6,871 — —_
Total insurance COMPANY ASSELS ...ovvveiriiirieirrenrivrrsersone 3,869,868 3,568,453 3,171,215 2,438,042 2,159,167
Total non-insurance COMPANY aSSELS vvovvervvreeerrvrereoreenss 57,142 43,790 42,029 25,419 27,976
Total combined assets ............cocoooviieeeiiiiveieeeee e $3,927,010 $3,612243 $3213244 $2463461 $2,187,143
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Unpaid losses and 108S €XPenses ....oovceevveeecveneecnnenns $ 948,622 $ 958578 $ 933,645 $ 804,968 $ 685,725
Unearned Premiums ..ooocveviceneeeeeeeereceseeeneereseenssreseseesnes 933,160 902,566 810,462 (687,148 563,456
Excess of book value of subsidiary interest over cost — — — — 5,719
Deferred iNCOME ....ocoveviiviceiieeeee e eraseesens 8,466 9,798 7,684 8,421 7,015
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities ........... 278,910 172,194 122,721 75,361 75,151
Current iNCOME LAXES ..ovevvieeieerirniiriereneesveeerrecneaeseeseeseens 26,433 29,135 10,886 769 3,817
Deferred incorne taxes .......ccocovveeee — — — —_ —_
Payable for securities purchased 8,019 11,871 13,610 — —
Advance premium and commissions payable .............. 50,123 50,190 49,013 44 388 —
Outstanding checks payable ..o 42,283 39,356 39,479 36,369 32,512
Total insurance company Labilities ......ccoovvvieinivierennns 2,206,016 2,173,688 1,987,500 1,657,424 1,373,395
Total non-insurance company liabilities .......c.cocoviveeen. 319,968 317,273 309,143 11,879 4,315
Total combined liabilities 2,615,984 2,490,961 2296643 1,669303 1,377,710
Minority interest® .......cooeeieeenenns 5,957 5,126 4,390 4,106 —_
Capital StOCK .o 10,159 9,621 9,621 3,600 3,600
Paid-in capital ... 260,966 260,966 260,966 45,050 45,050
Retained earnings:
Balance, January 1 .......ooiioecnieeeeecnes 1,124,178 913,128 796,447 737,122 708,272
Net earnings ....cccoceevvveervrenn 270,366 247,402 174,456 49433 94,358
ONEE oottt ebe ettt eret e (538) — 7,774 — —
Other comprehensive income (10SS) ....ccoocveurvrverricernnne (23,369) (12,462) 603 12,871 560
Dividends paid ....cccoevieeriieece et (68,410) (23,890) (66,152) (71,564) (66,068)
Balance, December 31 ... sesrcnes 1,302,727 1,124,178 913,128 727,862 737,122
Total insurance company equity 1,573,852 1,394,765 1,183,715 776,512 785,772
Total non-insurance company equity® .........ccevvens (268,783) (278,609) (271,504) 13,540 23,661
Total combined stockholders’ equify .....cooceverrrnecrvcnn 1,305,069 1,116,156 912,211 790,052 809,433
Total combined liabilities, minority interest and
stockholders’ @qUItY .......cvvierecnnenviennesreeneseenns $3,927,010 $3,612,243 $3,213,244 $2,463,461 $2,187,143

(1) Due to the internal reorganization in 2003, minority interest is ne longer part of our insurance
operation. Minority interest is included since then for comparative purposes and to reconcile to our

consolidated balance sheet.

(2) Since 2003, non-insurance company equity reflects the issuance of the $300 million senior debt

offering offset by equity of the non-insurance subsidiaries.
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2000 1899 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1591
ASSETS

$ 95217 $ 42971 § 94921 $ 254,894 $ 154,817 $ 62,209 $ 16248 $ 22858 $ 35938 $ 6,843
669,935 647,338 619,267 590,697 716,702 815277 745010 649491 505565 329,935

200,083 211,049 197,425 148,499 147,680 111,220 856,574 80,059 2,261 869
115,827 77,348 111,482 58,652 63,156 40,359 9,656 47,462 43,545 30,055
337,733 251,135 177,079 123,246 22,727 — — — — —

35,340 42,479 46,573 57,425 45,398 31,404 35,715 42,042 60,697 66,122

96,802 14,139 7,825 3,783 127 — — — — —
230,450 195,047 162,704 169,311 157,673 126090 101529 94333 67876 55,510
18,118 14531 13544 12,103 12,655 14440 13285 10,205 9,710 6,063
134,141 140,620 147854 169267 188943 193,625 207,003 208,156 258416 260,409
65319  BL532 38984 19899 21,120 23254 18,198 12,868 365 —
111,305 98500 88750 85264 82,968 67,160 59,066 53647 55442 33,981
— — 2,773 — — — — — — —
10,901 37,612 — — — 2,100 38,180 — — 883
2,829 3,179 —

33,498 27,321 27,885 29,060 26,011 24,642 25,246 22,371 23,183 24,163
2,087,498 1,863,801 1,737,075 1,722,000 1,639,977 1,511,780 1,354,710 1,243,492 1,062,998 814,833
12,941 34,779 29,774 33,771 38,062 42,865 34,358 b6,764 43,681  (245,337)

$2,100439 $1,898580 $1,766,849 $1,755,771 $1,678,039 $1,554,645 $1,389,068 $1,300,256 $1,106,579 $ 569496

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

$ 680,502 $ 670,446 $ 589,105 $ 627,201 $ 653,045 $ 613,649 $ 585864 $ 555641 $ 479,790 $ 422,764
519,885 457,095 391,424 379,599 367,991 330,454 314,719 283526 264,567 192,785
8431 10,758 — — — — — — —
7,703 7,464 6,048 7,271 7,974 8954 10,451 7,351 8384 12,918
72,333 48505 70558 60,332 41,368 34,351 43433 16564 20,863 7,677
15829 11,821 — 9,635 2,726 1,596 10,254 4,867 9,249 5811

— — 4,955 9,218 2,071 — — 13,669 4,400 —

24,825 20,561 19,266 16,209 14,715 9,901 11,688 10,243 10,129 (4,347)
1,329,508 1,226,660 1,082,266 1,109,655 1,089,800 998,905 976,409 891,861 797,382 637,608

(12,018) 2561  (26,259)  (6,608) L174 16,026 (930) 25047 27264 (249,586)
1,317490 1229211 1,055,997 1,102,947 1,091,064 1,014,931 975479 916908 824,646 388,022
1,068 1,364 — — — _ — — — —
3,600 3,600 3,620 3,600 3,600 3,450 3,450 3450 3,450 3,450

45,050 45,050 45,050 45,050 45,0560 23,700 23,700 8,700 8,700 8,700

587,137 606,149 563,795 501,437 485,725 351,151 339,481 253,466 165,075 112,016
136,425 85,242 95,661 106,718 74,543 110,450 113,892 79,837 91,980 55,214

36,490 - (47,948)  (1,669) 2,055 6,399 58919  (77,622) 21,928 9,811 2,545
(51,780)  (56,306) (51,638) (46415) (65230) (34,795) (24,600) (15,750) (13,400)  (4,700)

708272 587,137 606,149 563,795 501,437 485726 351,151 339,481 253466 165,075

756,922 635,787  6b4,819 612,445 550,087 512,875 378,301 351,631 265,616 177,225
24,959 32,218 56,033 40,379 36,888 26,839 35,288 31,717 16,317 4,249

781,881 668,005 710,852 652,824 586975 539,714 413580 383,348 281,933 181,474

$2,100,439 $1,898,580 $1,766,849 81,755,771 $1,678,039 $1,554,645 $1,389,068 $1,300,256 $1,106,579 $ 569,496
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS OF INSURANCE OPERATIONS AND
RECONCILIATION TO CCNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31,
{Thousands of Dollars, Unaudited)

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Underwriting:
Direct premiums WIER ..ocovvvrrerrrnrieerennrsereeccnns $1,874,231 $1,838,241 $1,658,969 $1,406,856 $1,152,407
Assumed PremilImS .....cooccvereiieerrrivereeieecresrsreeseeeeesseenns 132,098 128,152 112,547 96,269 79,360
Ceded Premiums ......co..covccnnninnienennc e nrecenes (270,138) (253,850) (216,017) (190,111) (152,800)
Net premiums WETEEN ......ccccoviviirceerninrieereenseneessenenens 1,736,191 1,712,543 1,555,499 1,313,014 1,078,967
Increase (decrease) in unearned premiums ............... 26,267 73,710 109,871 102,974 35,315
Earned premiums ..o 1,709,924 1,638,833 1445628 1,210,040 1,043,652
Expenses:
Losses and 1085 XPENSES ...oovvveerenvivnniiiencviesnenerieerenns 1,039,518 1,029,806 1,060,935 908,227 777,828
Underwriting eXpenses ...ccccoereerecrsansevrosseescoresareesene 462,633 434,486 356,579 314,150 264,800
(Increase) decrease in deferred acquisition costs .... (10,770) (10,037) (15,364) (21,684) (5,252}
Total EXPENSES .ovvervrirrereere e 1,491,381 1,454,255 1,402,150 1,200,693 1,037,376
Underwriting income .....c..ococveecreriene 218,543 184,578 43,478 9,347 6,276
Net investment income 124,983 118,210 94,857 99,611 100,384
Premium finance fees ........coovvviciininnineincceneece e 28,294 28,275 26,902 21,492 17,814
Amortization of excess of book value of subsidiary
INLEIESt OVEL COSL ..vvvvvevietieieieeeeeeectesreeereervesae st ereae e — — — — 3,389
Net realized investment gains (10SS€S) .......occceerverecccnene. 22,781 24,293 76,418 (82,505) (10,738)
Earnings before other items and federal
INCOME LAXES .vvveicrirririeiensreeceeeereriniceeserenennereaees 394,601 356,356 241,655 47,945 117,125
Other income:
Other INCOME oottt 10 118 — 9,500 —
Withdrawing companies’ settlements .........cceen — — — — —
Earnings before other items and federal
INCOME LAXES ovverreecrireriieiiercriesie et st ene e 394,611 355,474 241,655 57,445 117,125
Federal INCOME tAXES ..oocviviecerieeerrenrresne e 123,745 108,072 67,199 19,804 23,630
Earnings before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle and minority interest 270,866 247,402 174,456 37,641 93,495
Changes in accounting principle .........ccoevcennne. — — —_ 11,237 —
Minority interest in net losses of subsidiary™® ............ — — — 555 863
Net earnings for insurance cOmMpanies ... 270,866 247,402 174,456 49,433 94,358
Net (losses) earnings for non-insurance companies ... (26,954) (32,971) (13,513) (2,678) (4,105)
NET COMBINED EARNINGS .....cc.coovvvurenenrcnnnn 243912 $ 214431 $ 160,943 $ 46,755 $ 90,253
Statutory Financial Ratios (Unaudited)
Losses and loss expenses to premiums earned ........ 60.8% 62.8% 73.4% 75.1% 74.5%
Underwriting expenses to net premiums written ... 26.5 24.9 22.9 23.6 24.2
Combined ratio .....occoveeiieeiccieeereree e 87.3% 87.7% 96.3% 98.7% 98.7%
Underwriting profit .......occcocevmreceeinnmnnnniecenns 12.7% 12.3% 3.7% 1.3% 1.3%

(1) Due to the internal reorganization in 2003, minority interest is not included in our insurance
operations, but instead is included in net earnings for non-insurance companies.
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2000

1999

1998

1997

1996

1995

1994

1993

1992

1991

$1,071,649 $ 948,149 $ 796,858 $ 768,649 $ 731,823 $ 626,666 $ 625023 $ 601,289 $ 525495 $ 429,780

81,659 87,241 74644 76,531 93,703 92249 93785 66417 83268 33,581
(144,397)  (123,397) (126,454) (103,679) (113,956) (115494) (129611) (104,290) (99,916) (152,362)
1,008911 911993 745048 741,501 711,570 603,421 589,197 563416 508,847 310,999

54428 40,163 (572) 11,004 42854 10831 17,144 14856 98,353 30,103
954,483 871,830 745620 730,497 668,716 592,590 572,053 548560 410,494 280,806
682,805 628,087 533,523 521,775 474,173 367,258 369,764 373,243 271,848 173,901
251,607 238458 200,525 185146 194,873 171,892 162,446 147,200 138,669 85,655
(12,805)  (3,374)  (3495)  (2,296) (15809) (5,723)  (5,420) 1,796 (21462)  (6,708)
921,697 863,171 730,553 704,625 653,237 533427 526,790 522,329 389,055 252,848

32,786 8659 15067 25872 15479 59,163 45263 26231 21439 27,958

96,739 90,028 86,664 81,396 76,867  TL007T 63,119 52,868 39,685 32,661

15221 14,768 13426 7,056 9,666 19246 18315 16486  13,73¢ 11,165

3,390 3,019 — — — — _ — _ _

29380  (16,325) 7,026 80,102 (7,752) 720 32,025 13,040 12,368 7,529
177516 100,149 122,183 144,426 94260 150,136 158,722 108,625 87,226 79,313

— — — — — — — — 43,168 —

177,516 100,149 122,183 144426 94260 150,136 158,722 108,625 130,394 79,313

41411 15966 26522 37,708 19717 39686 44830 28788 38414 24,099
136,105 84,183 95661 106,718 74,543 110,450 113,892 79,837 91,980 55214

320 1,059 — — — — — — — —
136,425 85242 95661 106,718 74543 110,450 113,892 79837 91980 55214
(4,345) 3434 2,604  (5,314) (468) (249) 8691  (4521)  (7675)  (2,800)

$ 132,080 $ 88,676 $ 98,265 $ 101404 $ 74,075 $ 110201 $ 122583 $ 75316 $ 84,305 $ 52414

71.7% 72.0% 71.6% 71.4% 70.9% 62.0% 64.6% 68.0% 66.29% 61.9%

25.1 26.5 26.5 25.1 27.1 29.0 27.1 25.7 28.1 30.0

96.8% 98.5% 98.1% 96.5% 98.0% 91.0% 91.7% 93.7% 94.3% 91.9%

3.2% 1.5% 1.9% 3.5% 2.0% 9.0% 8.3% 6.3% 5.7% 8.1%
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM SA. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of the design and opera-
tion of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act) as of the end of the periocd covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that cur disclosure controls and proce-
dures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the
Company files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summa-
rized and reported, within the time pericds specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s
rules and forms.

(b) Management’s report on internal controls over financial reporting

Management’s report on internal controls over financial reporting and our independent regis-
tered public accountant’s attestation report on management’s assessiment of our internal controls is
included at the beginning of Item 8§ of this report.

(c) Changes in internal controls

There have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that have
occurred during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect
materially, our internal controls over financial reporting.

ITEM 2B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information called for by this Item and not provided herein will be contained in the
Company’s Proxy Statement, which the Company intends to file within 120 days after the end of the
Company'’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, and such information is incorporated herein by
reference.

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and posted it on its website
(http://www.commerceinsurance.com,).

Our executive officers are:

Name Age Primary Position with Company

Arthur J. Remillard, Jr. 75 President, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman
of the Board and Director

Gerald Fels 63 Executive Vice President and Director

Arthur J. Remillard, III 50 Senior Vice President—Policyholder Benefits,
Assistant Clerk and Director

Randall V. Becker 45 Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Senior
Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Director

David H. Cochrane 52 Senior Vice President-Underwriting of

Commerce and Citation

Peter J. Dignan 64 Senior Vice President-Marketing and
Premium Accounting of Commerce and
Citation

James A. Ermilio 43 Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Bebra A. Mann 46 Senior Vice President-Management Informa-

tion Systems of Commerce
Cathleen M. Moynihan 50 Vice President—-Human Resources

Arthur J. Remillard, Jr. has been the President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of the Company since 1976. Mr. Remillard, Jr. has been Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
of the Board of Commerce since 1972 and President of Commerce from 1972 to November 2001. Mr.
Remillard, Jr. is also a member of the Governing Committee, Actuarial Committee, Governing
Committee Review Panel, Budget Committee and Personnel Committee of the Commonwealth Auto-
mobile Reinsurers (CAR). Mr. Remillard, Jr. is also Chairman of the Governing Committee and a
member of the Budget Committee, Executive Committee, Nominating Committee and Personnel
Committee of the Automobile Insurers Bureau of Massachusetts (AIB). Mr. Remillard, Jr. has
announced his intention to retire effective July 28, 2006.

Gerald Fels, a Certified Public Accountant, was appointed President and Chief Operating
Officer of Commerce Insurance in November 2001, and Executive Vice President of Commerce Group
in November 1989. From 1981 to November 1989, Mr. Fels was Senior Vice President of Commerce
Group. Mr. Fels was the Treasurer of Commerce Group from 1976 to 1994 and of Commerce Insur-
ance from 1975 to 1994. Mr. Fels was Chief Financial Officer of Commerce Group since 1976 and of
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Commerce Insurance since 1975 until February 2006. Mr. Fels became the Chief Executive Officer
and President of American Commerce and Commerce West effective November 2003. Additionally,
Mr. Fels is a director of American Nuclear Insurers. Mr. Fels has been appointed President, Chief

Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board effective upon Mr. Remillard, Jr.'s retirement.

Arthur J. Remillard, III was appointed Senior Vice President of Policyhclder Benefits in 1988
and has been Assistant Clerk of Commerce Group since 1982. In August 2001, Mr. Remillard, Il
became responsible for the claim operations of American Commerce. From 1981 to 1988, Mr. Remil-
lard, TIf had been Vice President-Mortgage Operations. In addition, Mr. Remillard, I was elected
Vice Chairman of the Board of Governors of the Insurance Fraud Bureau of the AIB in 2002 and he
has served on that Board since 1991. Mr. Remillard, TII has also served on the CAR Claims Advisory
Committee since 1990 and the AIB Claims Committee since 1991.

Randall V. Becker, a Certified Public Accountant, was appointed Chief Financial Officer and
Senior Vice President of Commerce Group in February 2006 and has been Treasurer and Chief
Accounting Officer of Commerce Group since 1894. From 1990 to 1994, Mr. Becker was Assistant
Treasurer and Comptroller of Commerce Group. From 1986 to 1990, Mr. Becker was the Director of
Internal Audit for Commerce Group.

David H. Cochrane has been the Senior Vice President of Underwriting for Commerce Insur-
ance and Citation since 1988. For approximately four years prior to that, Mr. Cochrane was the Vice
President of Financial Services of CAR. Mr. Cochrane has also served on the CAR Market Review
Committee since 1988 and became Chairman of this committee in January 2005. Mr. Cochrane serves
on the CAR ERP Subscripticn Methodology Committee and was appointed to the CAR Actuarial
Committee in January 2006.

Peter J. Dignan was appointed the Senior Vice President of Marketing and Premium
Accounting for Commerce Insurance and Citation in 1997. From 1989 to 1997, Mr. Dignan was Vice
President of Premium Accounting for Commerce Insurance and Citation. From 1987 to 1989, Mr.
Dignan was Assistant Vice President of Premium Accounting for Commerce and Citation.

James A. Ermilic was appointed as Senior Vice President for Commerce Group in May 2001.
Mr. Ermilioc was alsc appointed General Counsel of Commerce Group in February 2000 and was a
Vice President of Commerce Group from November 1998 to May 2001. Mr. Ermilio is also General
Counsel and Secretary of American Commerce and Secretary of ACIC Holding and Commerce West.
Mr. Ermilic had been the Associate General Counsel of Commerce Group since September 1998. Mr.
Ermilio was Counsel for Glaxo Wellcome, Inc. (currently known as GlaxoSmithKline, Inc.) from 1993
to September 1998. Prior to 1993, Mr. Ermilioc was an Assocciate with the law firm currently known as
Bingham McCutchen. Mr. Ermilio is a member of the Massachusetts and District of Columbia Bars.

Debra A. Mann was appointed Senior Vice President of Management Information Systems for
Comimerce Insurance in February 2006. From 2002 until February 2006, Ms. Mann was Assistant Vice
President of Management Information Systems at Commerce Insurance. From 1995 to 2002, Ms.
Mann was Information Systems and Services Manager at Commerce Insurance. Ms. Mann has been
employed in varicus positions at Commerce Insurance since 1984.

Cathleen M. Moynihan joined Commerce Group as Vice President of Human Resources in
June 2005. Prior te joining Cormmerce, Ms. Moynihan was employed by EquiServe, Inc. as the Chief
Human Resource Officer from October 2000 to June 2005. Ms. Moynihan had previously held execu-
tive level human resource positions at CGU Insurance (now known as One Beacon), Baystate Health
Systems and the St. Paul Companies.

The only family relationship among the executive officers is that Arthur J. Remillard, IIT is
the son of Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information called for by this Item will be contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement,
which the Company intends to file within 120 days after the end of the Company'’s fiscal year ended
December 31, 2005 and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information called for by this Item and not provided herein will be contained in the
Company’s Proxy Statement, which the Company intends to file within 120 days after the end of the
Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 and such information is incorporated herein by
reference.

A summary of the total number of shares of our common stock to be issued upon exercise
of outstanding stock options, the weighted-average exercise price of these outstanding stock options
and the number of shares of our common stock remaining available for future issuance under equity
compensation plans at December 31, 2005 follows. This information is presented for equity compen-
sation plans that have and have not been approved by our stockholders.

Securities Remaining
Securities to be Issued  Weighted Average Available for Future

Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Issuance Under Equity
Plan Category Outstanding Options  Outstanding Options Compensation Plans
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders® ........c.c.ccoeene. 11,288 $30.80 2,557,664
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders® ......... 2,404,175 $53.25 N/A
Total ...cooovrieieecir e 2,415,463 $53.15 N/A

(1) During 2002, our stockholders approved the Incentive Compensation Plan, which provides for the
award of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, book value awards, stock apprecia-
tion rights, restricted stock and performance stock units. At the discretion of the Compensation
Committee our directors, officers and other senior management employees, including our subsid-
iaries, are eligible to participate in this plan.

(2) On January 29, 1999, we granted stock options (the Initial Options) to insurance agents (the
Agents) of American Commerce to purchase 1,872,380 shares of common stock. The exercise
price of the Initial Options is $36.32 per share. The Initial Options expire 10 years after the grant
date. Each Initial Option vested and became exercisable on January 29, 2004, based on the
average annual volume of other-than-Massachusetts private passenger automobile and
homeowners direct written premiums (Qualifying Business) that the Agent placed with American
Commerce during the five-year period ended December 31, 2003 (the Five-Year Average). The
holders of the Initial Options alsc have the right to require us to purchase the Initial Options at a
purchase price per share equal to the difference between $40.00 less the price of $36.32, after the
Initial Option is vested, if the Five Year Average is equal to or greater than a specified goal.

We granted additional options (the Growth Options) to Agents who increase the volume of Quali-
fying Business during the 12-month period ending on June 30 in each year. Pursuant to these
agreements, on July 31 in each year, we will grant one Growth Option covering 25,000 shares of
common stock for each $1,000,000 increment of additional Qualifying Business. The exercise
price of the Growth Options will be equal to 125% of the average of the daily averages of the
high and low sale price per share of the common stock for the month of June in that year. The
Growth Options expire ten years after the grant date. Each Growth Option vests and becomes
exercisable five years after the grant date if, and only if, the Qualifying Business that the Agent

(footnotes continued on following page)
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places with American Commerce during the five-year period ending on the fifth anniversary of
the grant date is not less than the threshold of Qualifying Business that triggered the grant of
that Growth Option. We may terminate our obligation to grant future Growth Options under the
agreement by giving the Agent written notice at least 90 days prior to the effective date of such
termination. Through December 31, 2005, we have granted Growth Options covering 3,025,000
shares of common stock. On February 10, 2005, 700,000 of the Growth Options were forfeited by
AAA Arizona.

Options cannot be exercised using cash. Options can only be exercised using a net share
purchase, such that the dollar value that the option is in the money is divided by the fair market
value of the stock at the date of exercise to arrive at the number of shares received by the
option holder. During 2005, 217,955 Initial Options were exercised resulting in the issuance of
99,987 shares.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information called for by this Item will be contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement,
which the Company intends to file within 120 days after the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended
December 31, 2005 and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information called for by this Item will be contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement,
which the Company intends to file within 120 days after the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended
December 31, 2005 and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

A. (1) The financial statements and notes to financial statements are filed as part of this
report in Part I, Item 8.

(2) The financial statement schedules are listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial
Statement Schedules.

(3) The exhibits are listed in the Index to Exhibits.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

Dated: March 15, 2006
THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC.

By: /s/ ARTHUR J. REMILLARD, JR.
(Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.)
(President, Chief Frecutive Officer,
Chairman of the Board and Director)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been
signed by the following persons, dated March 15, 2006, on behalf of the registrant and in the capaci-
ties indicated.

Signature Title
/s/ ARTHUR J. REMILLARD, JR. President, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the
(Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.) Board and Director
/s/ GERALD FELS Executive Vice President and Director

(Gerald Fels)

/s/ ARTHUR J. REMILLARD, 111 Senior Vice President-Policyholder Benefits,
{Arthur J. Remillard, III) Assistant Clerk and Director
/s/ RaNDALL V. BECKER Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer, Senior Vice
(Randall V. Becker) President, Chief Accounting Officer and Director
/s/ JOHN W. SPILLANE Clerk and Director

(John W. Spillane)

/s/ JOSEPH A. BORSKI, JR. Director
(Joseph A. Borski, Jr.)

/s/ ErRIC G. BUTLER Director
(Eric G. Butler)

/s/ HENRY J. CAMOSSE Director
(Henry J. Camosse)

/s/ Davib R. GRENON Director
(David R. Grenon)

/s/ ROBERT W. HARRIS Director
(Robert W. Harris)

/s/ JOHN J. KUNKEL Director
(John J. Kunkel)

121




Signature

Title

/s/ RAYMOND J. LAURING
(Raymend J. Lauring)

/s/ NORMAND R. MAROIS
(Normand R. Marois)

/s/ SURYAKANT M. PATEL
(Suryakant M. Patel)

/s/ REGAN P. REMILLARD
(Regan P. Remiliard)

/s/ GURBACHAN SINGH
(Gurbachan Singh)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES*

Schedules Page

i Condensed Financial Information of the Registrant as of and for the

years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 ........ccoeeieiieeciveerienniereeeens 124
I Supplementary Insurance Information for the years ended

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 .......ccccoviievriieiieceee e 129
v Reinsurance for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 ............ 130
v Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 .....c.ooovoveieiieriee et 131
VI Supplemental Information Concerning Property-Casualty Insurance

Operations for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 .............. 132

*  Financial statement schedules other than those listed are omitted because they are not required,
not applicable or the required information has been included elsewhere.
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE IT
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC.
(Parent Company Only)
BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

(Thousands of Dollars)

2005 2604
ASSETS
Investments:
Investment in Commerce Holdings, INC. ..oovveveicecvineccceecee $1,572,702  $ 1,395,117
Investment in Bay Finance Company, INC. .....cccvivevriivinecrenviccecieeeeenens 11,395 11,180
Investment in the Clark-Prout Insurance Agency, INC. ....c..ccoveveccinvinnne 703 671
Total INVESEIMENTS ..cvicviiericiee ettt s er e e e seseseeans 1,584,800 1,406,968
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENES ... et sresenseeee st sesnsesensasssasnnns 88 318
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation ........ccccocvvueeen. 1,028 1,076
CUITENT INCOTNE TAXES 1viivieeriiiireeeereere vt st ettt e b ere e sr s e etbeetesnseteseresssennsere 16,958 23,868
Deferred INCOME LAXES .iiiiiiiiieriiericciieeirierecreeeresrresaesessbeesraesteesresesbssrneesene 12,697 11,991
Receivable from affiliatesS ..ooooovveviieeee ettt vt s e 66,790 30,967
OENEE ASSELS .evvereerirrereetieristeeeietcrerrrsissaresssasessessereaseasetsreestetestasseseessessensentarsessares 2,244 2,618
TOLAL ASSELS oviviiieeeieitieereeeec ettt et eeee et eeaese e stes s neseaennsnenesetes $ 1,684,605  §1,477,706
LIABILITIiES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued eXPenses .......cvivereeeeieeienneeesnieenrnee s $ 79,942 $ 62,238
Bonds payable ($300,000 face less discount) (Note E) oooevieeeveecviennnnna, 298,388 298,186
Other HabIlIEIES ..vevviieiieiceis ettt et e bt sare e s st s e e eaneesien s 1,206 1,126
Total HADIHEIES .oioeeieiiicceereceeeeeve sttt st et a e et et s eereaeen 379,536 361,550
Stockholders’ equity:
Capital stock:

COMIMON SEOCK .ruvivieiiiic ettt ettt e et eses e o be e b s e ne 20,458 20,364
Paid-int CAPILAL ..vivieieieevieiriie et rests e st ses e rs e et eseeteeneeaeseeaeeeaestnanennens 148,130 134,943
Net accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net of income

taxes (benefit) of $(3,649) and $8,833 .......ccvvereiireeeee e (6,810) 16,403
Retained @arningS ..occecvviiieicieierieeee e it sbe s st b st es s saentene e 1,363,507 1,169,009
Total stockholders’ equity before treasury Stock ....ccecvvvvevvevvnnenn 1,525,285 1,340,719
Treasury stock, 7,262,571 and 7,405,996 Shares .......ccccccevrivveneecviverereenne, (220,216) (224,563)
Total stockholders’ qUILY ....occoevveivenceiierrer et 1,305,069 1,116,156
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ....c.ccecceeeivninerreveecinrrerereens $1,684,6056  $1477,706

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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Revenues:

Dividends received from subsidiaries (Note A)

Rent income

Expenses:

THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE 11
(continued)

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC.
(Parent Company Only)
STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
Years ended December 31,

(Thousands of Dollars)

Depreciation

Interest expense and amortization of bond fees

Administrative expenses

Total expenses

Earnings (losses) before income tax benefits and equity in

undistributed earnings of subsidiaries

Income tax benefits

Earnings (losses) before equity in undistributed earnings of

subsidiaries

Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries

Net earnings

2005 2004 2003
$ 68040 $ 23625 $ 66,150
510 516 510
1 47 34
63,551 24,188 66,694
286 267 273
18,293 18,313 1,120
22,972 31,553 20,752
41,551 50,133 22,145
27,000  (25945) 44,549
(15867)  (18,691)  (8,758)
42,867 (7.254) 53,307
201,045 221,685 107,636
$243912  $214431  $160,943

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE I
{continued)
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC.

(Parent Company Only)
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31,
(Thousands of Dollars)

2005 2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net BATTINES ...vicieeiireieereere ettt resa et et et eees $ 243,912  $ 214,431  $ 160,943
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries ............... (201,045)  (221,685)  (107,636)
Depreciation and amortization ..........c.ccevvierivnienreeneonennnns 766 745 285
Other assets, other liabilities and accrued expenses ....... 39,175 16,738 20,211
Balances with affiliates ........ccccoevivrrncnicninneeccnircee e, (35,823) 9,022 (324,119)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities .... 46,985 19,251 (250,316)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment for company use ....... (283) (181) (326)
OREE vttt et s sttt ra s e rae e e 45 57 90
Net cash used in investing activities .........cocveveenl, (238) (134) (236)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Dividends paid to stocKhOIders ..........cooveeeinviiiricvenie e, (49,414) (43,032) (40,641)
Purchase of capital StoCK .coovvevveecriciireeev e, — — (8,058)
Proceeds from bond iSSUANCE ...cccovveevveeeivriecinciee e, — — 297,972
Bond iSSUE COSES .viviiiiieiieeetsrsie et ree e strete e reve e — (454) (2,317)
Capital StocK iSSUEA ....ovvecieiriieeeicr e 2,487 22,606 5,586
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities ..... (46,977) (20,880) 252,542
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ................ (230) (1,763) 1,990
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year .............coo...... 318 2,081 91
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year .....ccccoceevevverecreennnnn. $ 88 % 318 $ 2,081

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE 11
(continued)
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC.
(Parent Company Only)
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Thousands of Dollars)

The accompanying condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto in this annual report.

These condensed financial statements are presented on a “parent company only” basis. The
equity of each of the Company’s subsidiaries is reflected on each “investment in” line of the balance
sheet. The combined net earnings of the Company’s subsidiaries is reflected net of dividends received
by the Company from those subsidiaries on the “equity in net earnings of subsidiaries over (under)
amounts distributed” lines in the statements of earnings. Since the condensed financial statements
are presented on a “parent company only” basis, intercompany balances that are eliminated in the
consolidated financial statements are reflected in those financial statements.

Note A - Dividends

Cash dividends paid to The Commerce Group, Inc. (parent only) follow:

2005 2004 2003

Consolidated insurance subSidiaries .......ccceiveoviieineieenronennenns $68,040 $23,625 $66,150

See Note [ to the consolidated financial statements in the annual report for a description of
dividend restrictions applicable to the Company’s subsidiaries.

Note B - Federal Income Tax Allocation

As a member of a consolidated group for tax purposes, the Company and its subsidiaries
(Affiliated Group) are jointly and severally liable for federal income taxes of the Affiliated Group. The
Company and its subsidiaries have entered into an agreement establishing an allocation of tax
liability and for compensation of the respective members of the Affiliated Group for use of their tax
losses and credits.

The method of allocation calls for current taxes to be allocated among all affiliated
companies based on a written tax-sharing agreement. Under this agreement, allocation is made
primarily on a separate return basis with current payment for losses and other tax items utilized in
the consolidated return. However, to the extent that a payer member of the group has future net
operating losses, which it cannot absorb in the year incurred, other members within the group will
refund payments to the payer.
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II
{continued)
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC.
(Parent Company Only)
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Thousands of Dollars)

Note C - Consolidated Financial Statements

In preparing the censolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, the
following amounts have been eliminated:

Years Ended December 31,

Balance Sheet 2005 2004
Investment in SUBSIAATIES ...cooviviviieeee et e $1,584,800 $1,406,968
Receivable from affiHates ....c.occccoirvveiincciine e et sraes 66,790 30,867
Years Ended December 31,
Statement of Earnings 2005 2004 2008
Dividends from SUDSIGIATIES .....ovvcveveererei e ss s s $68,040 $23,625 $66,150
RENTE INCOIIE ovevvieveitriricreete et ettt tte et e e s st ebs st e sae st sneensean 510 516 510

Note D - Reclassification of Prior Year Balances
Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the 2005 presentations.
Note E - Bonds Payable

On December 9, 2003, we issued $300,000 face value of senior unsecured and unsubordinated
debt (the Senior Notes) which matures December 9, 2013. The Senior Notes were issued at 99.3% to
yield 6.04% and bear a coupon interest rate of 5.95%, payable semi-annually on June 9 and December 9.
Proceeds from the issuance were $297,972. Costs related to the issuance of the Senior Notes have
been deferred and recorded in other assets on the balance sheet. The deferred costs and the original
issue discount will be amortized into interest expense over the life of the Senior Notes. The fair
market value of the Senior Notes at December 31, 2005 was estimated at $303,300.
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE IV
REINSURANCE
Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Thousands of Dollars)

Assumed Percentage
Ceded to From of Amount
Gross Other ] Other Net Assumed
Insurance Premiums Earned Amount Companies Companies Amount te Net
2005:
Property and casualty insurance ..... $1,849,827 $ 265885 $ 125082 $1,709924 7.4%
2004:
Property and casualty insurance ..... $1,753262 $ 235808 $ 121,379 $1,638,833 7.4%
2003:
Property and casualty insurance ..... $1545730 $ 204,399 $ 104297 $1,445628 7.2%
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE V
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
(Thousands of Dollars)

Net
Addition
Balance (Beduction) Balance
Beginning Recorded te at End
of Year Expenses  Deductions® of Year
2005:
Allowance for losses on mortgage loans and
collateral notes receivable .........cccoeeirerivereenenennn, $ 372 $ (317 $ o~ $ 55
Allowance for doubtful premium receivables ......... $ 2,254 $ 2,280 $ (2,280) $2,254
2004:
Allowance for losses on mortgage loans and
collateral notes receivable ......ooooveveinrevivonens $ 379 $ ) $ — $ 372
Allowance for doubtful premium receivables ......... $ 2,254 $ 2,129 $ (2,129 $2,254
2003:
Allowance for losses on morigage loans and
collateral notes receivable ..........evecieiernnn. $ 418 $ (39 $  — $ 379
Allowance for doubtful premium receivables ......... $ 1,661 $ 2,922 $(2,329) $ 2,254
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance .................. $ 3,936 $ (3,936) $ - $ -

(1) Deductions represent net write-offs of amounts determined to be uncollectible.
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE VI

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION CONCERNING

PROPERTY-CASUALTY INSURANCE OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

{Thousands of Dollars)

Claims and Clajim Paid
Adjustment Expenses Claims
Incurred Related to and Claim
Current Pricr Adjustment
Affiliation With Registrant Year Years Expenses
2005:
Consolidated property-casualty entities .......ococcovvvvieiccennen $1,111,683 $(61,397) $ 1,045,613
2004:
Consolidated property-casualty entities .......ccooeeeveeeiririennnes $1,101,871  $(57,031) $ 1,007,057
2003:
Consolidated property-casualty entities ..........cceeveeveerirena, $1,095371  $(25224) $ 056,152
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

INDEX TO EXHIBITS &

Exhibit
Number Title

3.1 Articles of Organization, as amended ®
32 By-Laws ®
4.1 Stock Certificate ™

4.2 Form of Indenture between the Registrant and Wachovia Bank @
4.3 Form of Officers’ Certificate (includes form of Notes) ©
10.1°% 1994 Management Incentive Plan as amended

10.2% Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement @

10.3% Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement ™

10.4% Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement @

10.5% Form of Stock Option Agreement ™

10.6%* Form of Book Value Award Agreement &

10.7 Reinsurance Agreement with Employers Reinsurance Corporation @
10.8* 2002 Amended & Restated Incentive Compensation Plan

10.9 ACIC Agent Growth Option Agreement ©®

10.10 Initial ACIC Agent Option Agreement |

10.11 Form of AAA Marketing Agreement &

10.12 Form of AAA Service Agreement @

10.13 Massachusetts Insurance Processing Service Agreement ®

10.14 Letter Agreement Regarding Growth Options ™

10.31 Multiple Line Quota Share Reinsurance Agreement @

10.32 Form of Director Indemnification Agreement filed herewith @™

10.33 Combined Property and Liability Quota Share Reinsurance Agreement ™
10.34* 2004 Book Value Award Agreement ™ |

10.36*  Form of 2005 Incentive Award Agreement ©

10.37 Addendum Ne. 1 to Combined Property and Liability Quota Share Reinsurance Agreement
(Exhibit 10.33) ®

10.38 Property and Catastrophe (1% through 3) Excess of Loss Reinsurance Contract ®

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP filed herewith

31 Statements under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 filed herewith
32 Statements under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 filed herewith

(See footnotes on following page)
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(M)

N)
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P

Exhibits other than those listed are omitted because they are not required or are not applicable.
Copies of exhibits are available without charge by writing to the Assistant to the President at
211 Main Street, Webster, MA 01570.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-18
(No. 33-12533-B).

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 1997.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1999.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,
2002.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2002.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31,
2003.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form S-3/A (File No. 333-109255), filed on
November 3, 2003.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant's Form 10-K/A for the year ended December
31, 2002, filed on September 29, 2003.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-K/A for the year ended December
31, 2002, filed on November 25, 2003.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2003.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’'s Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,
2004.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2004.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,
2005.

Incorporated herein by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the period ended
September 30, 2005.

* Denotes management contract or compensation plan or arrangement.
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ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC.
A Massachusetts Corporation

|

1

BAY FINANGE COMPANY, INC.
A Massachusetts Corporation
A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary

COMMERCE HOLDINGS, INC.
A Massachusetts Corporation
A Wholly-Owned Insurance

CLARK-PROUT INSURANCE AGENCY, INC.
A Massachusetts Corporation
A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary

Holding Company

[

1

THE COMMERCE INSURANCE COMPANY
A Massachusetts Corporation
A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary

CITATION INSURANCE COMPANY
A Massachusetts Corporation
A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary

]

|

ACIC HOLDING GO., INC.
A Rhode Island Corporation
A 95% Owned Holding Company

COMMERCE WEST INSURANGE COMPANY
A California Corporation
A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary

AMERICAN COMMERCE INSURANGE
COMPANY
An Ohio Corporation
A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3
(Registration No. 333-109255 and Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-62367) of The Commerce Group,
Inc. of our report dated March 14, 2006 relating to the consoclidated financial statements, manage-
ment’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and the effective-
ness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in the Form 10-K. We also consent to
the incorporation by reference of cur report dated March 14, 2006 relating to the financial statement
schedules, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 14, 2006
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SECTICON 302 CERTIFICATION

I, Arthur J. Remillard, Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Comimerce Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circum-
stances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information
included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of opera-
tions and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 132-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls
and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material informa-
tion relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2006 - /s/ ARTHUR J. REMILLARD, JR.

Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
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SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

I, Randall V. Becker, certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Commerce Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circum-
stances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and cther financial information
included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of opera-
tions and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@)

®)

©

(@

Designed such disclosure controis and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls

and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material informa-

tion relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reascnable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

Disclesed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

@

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 15, 2006 ~/s/ RANDALL V. BECKER

Randall V. Becker
Chief Financial Officer
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SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION

The undersigned officer of The Commerce Group, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies that,
as of the date of this statement, the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2005.

The purpose of this statement is solely to comply with Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of
the United States Code, as amended by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Date: March 15, 2006 /S/ ARTHUR J. REMILLARD, JR.

Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION

) The undersigned officer of The Commerce Group, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies that,
as of the date of this statement, the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004 (the “Report™) fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2005.

The purpose of this statement is solely to comply with Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of
the United States Code, as amended by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Date: March 15, 2006 /s/ RANDALL V. BECKER

Randall V. Becker
Chief Financial Officer
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC.

DIRECTORS
Randall V. Becker ....ccoovverivveeninnecinnens Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Chief Accounting Officer
Joseph A, Borski, JI. oo, Self-employed Certified Public Accountant
- Eric G. Butler . Retired Vice President and General Claims Manager of

Commerce and Citation

Henry J. Camosse ...coovevevreenieerenerinen Retired President, Henry Camosse & Sons Co., Inc,, a
building and masonry supplies company

Gerald Fels .o Executive Vice President

David R. Grenon .....cccevvevvvrnenrecenienes Retired founding CEO and President of The Protector Group
Insurance Agency, Inc.; President, E-C Realty Corporation
and E-C Realty LLC; Chairman of Massachusetts Biomedical
Initiatives; Board member of the Massachusetts Turnpike
Authority Employees’ Retirement System; Advisory Board
member of the Massachusetts College of Pharmacy Health

Sciences
Robert W. Harris .......cccoevinevieiiinnen Retired Treasurer, H.C. Bartlett Insurance Agency, Inc.
John J. Kunkel .......cccovvvvvevecviecvreencinnnn, Retired President and Treasurer, Kunkel Buick and GMC

Truck; Retired Treasurer, Kunkel Bus Company
Raymond J. Lauring .....cccevvivcennnnnne Retired President, Lauring Construction Company

Normand R. Marois ......oeoeeeeerennne Retired Chairman of the Board, Marcis Bros., Inc., a
contracting firm

Suryakant M. Patel .....c.ccccccoeurirevecnrinnnne Retired physician who specialized in internal medicine

Arthur J. Remillard, Jr. .ccocoooonivcenenenene President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of Commerce Group

Arthur J. Remillard, II ..........ccooveenees Senior Vice President and Assistant Clerk

Regan P. Remillard ......ccovevvrvciinninnee Former Senior Vice President of Commerce Group
Gurbachan Singh ......cccevvereviineceenne, Retired physician who specialized in general surgery
John W, Spillane ... Clerk and practicing attorney
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DIRECTORS OF

COMMERCE HOLDINGS, INC.
The Commerce Insurance Company
Commerce West Insurance Company
Citation Insurance Company

Avthur J. Remillard, Jt. .o,

Gerald Fels .o,

Arthur J. Remillard, III™ ......................

Regan P. Remillard .......cccooninccnnnnne.

James A. Ermilio™ ......c.cccovviieinneiennnn.

David R. Grenon™ ..... et s

John M. Nelson™ .......ooovveviiieiieeee

Suryakant M. Patel® ...........coooevvveeinns

Williamn G. Pike™ ..o

H. Thomas Rowles® .....ccocvvevvirvvecirinnnn

Mark A. Shaw® ...

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
President of Commerce Holdings; Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer of Commerce and Citation; Chairman
of the Board of Commerce West

President and Chief Operating Officer of Commerce and
Citation; Executive Vice President, Commerce Holdings, Inc.;
President of Commerce West,

Senior Vice President of Commerce and Citation in charge of
Policyholder Benefits; Clerk of Commerce Holdings;
Secretary of Commerce and Citation

Former Senior Vice President of Commerce and Citation and
former President of Commerce West

Senior Vice President and General Counsel of Commerce
Holdings, Commerce and Citation; Secretary of Commerce
Waest,

Retired founding CEO and President of The Protector Group
Insurance Agency, Inc.; President, E-C Realty Corporation
and E-C Realty LLC; Chairman of Massachusetts Biomedical
Initiatives; Board member of Massachusetts Turnpike
Authority Employees’ Retirement System; Advisory Board
member of the Massachusetts College of Pharmacy Health
Sciences

Retired Chairman of Commonwealth National Bank and
TJX, Inc.

Retired physician who specialized in internal medicine

Retired Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Granite State Bankshares, Inc. and Granite Bank

Chairman of the Board of ACIC Holding and American
Commerce; Director of AAA Southern New England; Member
of Board of Trustees Care New England

Director and Treasurer of ACIC Holding; Director of
American Commerce; President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director of AAA Southern New England; Director of AAA,
Inc. and AAA-National, Inc.; Director of AAA Traffic Safety
Foundation

(1) Commerce Holdings, Inc., The Commerce Insurance Company and Citation Insurance Company

only.
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DIRECTORS OF
ACIC HOLDING CO., INC.®
American Commerce Insurance Company

H. Thomas Rowles ....cccccevvnrireviiininnnnn,

Regan P. Remillard .......ccccoceeeivivnnncnennne

Mark A. ShaWw ..o

Gerald Fels ..o

Patrick W. Doherty® ...

Terry R. Farias® .......cccoveveeeivievreeienes

A. Karl Halbedl® ..o

Richard S. Hamilton® .....ccceovvvivvninnne
Charles B. Liekweg® ...ccccoovcvinvinreen.
John D. Porter™ .......coocecvviviivirniiriinnnns

O. Timothy Wright® ........cccccceorinnnrcens

Chairman of the Beard of ACIC Holding and American
Commerce; Director of AAA Southern New England

Former President of ACIC Helding Co., Inc. and American
Commerce

Treasuer of ACIC Holding; President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director of AAA Southern New England; Director of
AAA, Inc. and AAA-National, Inc.

President of ACIC Holding; President, Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Vice Chairman of the
Board of American Commerce

President and Chief Executive Officer of AAA Oklahoma

President and Chief Executive Officer of AAA Hoosier Motor
Club

President and Chief Executive Officer of AAA Northwest
Ohio

President and Chief Executive Officer of AAA East Central
President and Chief Executive Officer of AAA Washington
President and Chief Executive Officer of AAA Oregon/Idaho

President and Chief Executive Officer of East Tennessee
Automobile Club, Inc.

(1) Incorporated in November 1998. 95% owned by Commerce Holdings, Inc. and 5% owned by AAA

Southern New England.

(2) American Commerce Insurance Company only.
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Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.

Gerald Fels ....oeerennenne

John W. Spillane ........

Arthur J. Remillard, III

Regan P. Remillard ......

Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.

Gerald Fels ..o

John W. Spillane ..........

Arthur J. Remillard, III

Elizabeth M. Edwards

DIRECTORS OF
BAY FINANCE COMPANY, INC.

......................... President and Chief Executive Officer

.......................... Executive Vice President

.......................... Former Senior Vice President of Bay Finance Company, Inc.

DIRECTORS OF
CLARK-PROUT INSURANCE AGENCY, INC.

......................... President and Chief Executive Officer
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THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC.

Commerce Hoidings, Inc.
The Commerce Insurance Company
Commerce West Insurance Company
ACIC Holding Co., Inc.®

American Commerce Insurance Company

Citation Insurance Company

Bay Finance Company, Inc.

Clark-Prout Insurance Agency, Inc.,

OFFICERS OF THE COMMERCE GROUP, INC.

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board ...............

Executive Vice President

Senior Vice President and Assistant CIerk .......cccvviiiiiicoiriinescvesee s

Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.
Gerald Fels
Arthur J. Remillard, IIT

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and

Chief Accounting Officer

Randall V. Becker

Senior Vice President and General COUNSE! .....oooovvvovevivivecii e, James A. Ermilio

Vice President and Corporate Compliance Officer .......cooeovvecevieccciinennn,
Vice President ......ccccooeviivnennee

.......................................................................... John W. Spillane

Robert E. McKenna
Cathleen M. Moynihan
Louise M. McCarthy

.......................................................................... John M. Meciak

OFFICERS OF MASSACHUSETTS SUBSIDIARIES®

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board .......ccccocevieeieiicrienens Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.
President and Chief Operating Officer ......ccovivvmeneicininecceneecniinrinnns Gerald Fels
Senior Vice President and SECTELAry ....ccocvvverveieicierreinreiie e ssvenes Arthur J. Remillard, 11

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and

Chief Accounting Officer

Senior Vice President and General COURSEL .......oovveivviiereei i
Senior Vice Presidents ............

Vice President and Chief Investment Officer ....coocoevvievveviiiioreeeeien v,

Randall V. Becker

James A. Ermilio
.................. David H. Cochrane Debra A. Mann
Peter J. Dignan
John W, Hawie

Vice Presidents .....ccccvvieeveniesceenvinesenonns Raymond J. DeSantis
Elizabeth M. Edwards
Karen A. Lussier

Donald G. MacLean

Assistant Vice President and Senior Counsel .......occcoveevineivcvvenincvievenenns

David P. Antocci
Robert M. Blackmer
Thomas L. Boyer II
Stephen R. Clark
Warren S. Ehrlich
John Georgevits
Richard W. Goodus

Assistant Vice Presidents .........cooeeevenee.

ASSISEANT TICASULET ....uvvevireieeerreeeieeeeree et eeeste st eectteesiresesiesesssseesnessessaesens

Robert E. McKenna
Cathleen M. Moynihan
Michael J. Richards
Angelos Spetseris

Louise M. McCarthy

James E. Gow
Susan A. Horan
John V. Kelly
Patrick J. McDonald
Robert L. Mooney
Emile E. Riendeau
C. Karen Stopford

John M. Meciak

(1) Incorporated in November 1998, the common stock of which is 95% owned by Commerce

Holdings, Inc. and 5% owned by AAA Southern New England.

(2) Massachusetts subsidiaries include Commerce Holdings, Inc., The Commerce Insurance Company,
Citation Insurance Company, Bay Finance Company, Inc. and Clark-Prout Insurance Agency.
Officers often hold positions with several operating subsidiaries. The titles listed represent their

primary office as of March 1, 2006.
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OFFICERS OF ACIC HOLDING CO., INC,

Chairman of the Board ...ttt vttt H. Thomas Rowles
PIESIAENT . oocveiiiis ettt vt e e et a e s s b bt es e bt sresa s e se e naaees Gerald Fels
TLEASUTET .oveevieeriretee e et et et rs et e s s teesae et saee s e se st s et enseensassneaneeseansesresssesnnes Mark A. Shaw
SECTELALY 1.uveeeeeeieieesiesieeerrstercatsaerraessssassaestasreaseesseaseasesasaesnssreessenrasasansesseernasens James A. Ermilio

OFFICERS OF AMERICAN COMMERCE INSURANCE COMPANY

Chairman of the Board .........ccccoovioieoieciiiiecierete e sn s ressessnseresns H. Thomas Rowles
President, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and
Vice Chairman of the Board ... neneeieese o ereseese s Gerald Fels

Chief Financial Officer and TreaSUTET ......cc.cccoveirceriiicrrnnrire s sceneerrennes Randall V. Becker

General Counsel and SECTELATY ....c.ccovvviieirrieeieeeier e ceretesine e srre e eseesseaeenees James A. Ermilio

Vice President and Chief Investment OffiCer .......ccooommeriaimricinviernenneenee John W. Hawie

Vice Presidents ........ccoccovvvmvinvcnennnine e Jeffrey B. Alexander Raymond J. DeSantis
Gregory S. Clark Bradley Hauser

Vice President and AssiStant SECTeLary ........c.cevcniicninnnncciicninencnenenns Thomas D. Jungeberg

Senior Counsel and Assistant SECTELATY .......cccvvrcvrreirereciveivereeescren e Louise M. McCarthy

ASSISEANT TTEASUTET ....cveerrieierieeiiierese e rtst et esen e seeebeeresesaensesre beesveneensnenane John M. Meciak

OFFICERS OF COMMERCE WEST INSURANCE COMPANY

Chairman of the Board ...ttt s e Arthur J. Remillard, Jr.
PrESIAENT ..oceivrcie ettt et e e rra et aeens Gerald Fels

SECTELATY 1evevreteriiieriecriarisbetersiaete st snnesbe st easesessaessasrateavesbesseasasraseessasnsteasrasensases James A. Ermilio
Chief Financial Officer and TreaSUIET ........cccvvevveereererinreeresseesereenesreseanns Michael V. Vrban

Vice President and Chief Investment Officer ........ccocomvvivmrcnecvniierrecenenins John W. Hawie

Vice Presidents ........ccceeveicvienineiinennnennne. Michael J. Berryessa Albert R. Harris
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STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of stockholders will be held at 9:00 a.m. on May 19, 2006 at the
Company’s Policy Services Building, 16 Sutton Road, Webster, MA.

Transfer Agent

The Commerce Group, Inc.

c/o Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
P.O. Box 43023

Providence, RI 02940-3023

(877) 282-1168
http://www.computershare.com/gateway

Executive Offices
211 Main Street
Webster, MA 01570
(508) 943-9000

Company Websites

The Commerce Insurance Company http://www.commerceinsurance.com
American Commerce Insurance Company http://www.acilink.com

Commerce West Insurance Company http://www.commercewest.net

Bay Finance Company, Inc, http://www.bayfinance.com
Clark-Prout Insurance Agency, Inc. http://www.clark-prout.com

Trading of Common Stock

The Company’s Common Stock trades on the NYSE under the symbol “CGL”
Independent Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

125 High Street

Boston, MA 02110
http://www.pwce.com
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